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Always learning

Pearson is the world’s leading
learning company. We have 48,000
people in more than 70 countries,
helping people of all ages to make
progress in their lives through

all kinds of learning.

WE HAVE THREE WORLD LEADING BUSINESSES

PEARSON Graphic removed Graphic removed
Education Censumer publishing Business information
We provide learring matenais, Penguin pubhshes thousands of fiction and The FT Group provides news data,
technologies assessments and services non-ficion books each year — on paper, on comment and analysis to the mternational
to teachers and students of all ages and screens and in audio formats — for readers business community It s known around
inmore than 70 countries of all ages tis one of the world’s leading the world for its independent and
consumer publishing businesses and an authontatsve information
tconic global brand

VISIT OUR ONLINE REFORTING CENTRE

Learn
more
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Financial highlights

In financial terms, Pearson’s goal is to achieve
sustainable growth on three key financial goals

— earnings, cash and return on invested capital,
and reliable cash returns to our investors through
healthy and growing dividends. Over the past

five years, we have produced consistent and
considerable growth on all measures. [n 2012,
though we performed well competitively In tough
market conditions, headline earnings and cash
were fower than the previous year Our return
on invested capital was level at 9.1% and we are
proposing a 7% dividend increase

Yo Tim ‘Growrn crowmn - GRowTk
Business performance®
Sales 6,112 5,862 4% 5% (1Y%
Adjusted operating profit 936 942 (1% 1% ()%
Adjusted earnings
per share 842p 865p 3%
Operaung cash flow 788 983 (20)%
Free cash flow 657 772 {15)%

Free cash flow pershare 817p 965p {15y%
Return on invested capital 1% 91% -

Net debt (218) (499) (BH)%

Seatutory results

Sales 5,059 4.817 5%
Operating profit 515 L8 (59)%
Profit before tax 434 1,047 59%

Basic earmings per share

Cash generated from
operations 916 1,093 {i6)%

405p 1196p  (66)%

Dradend per share 450p 420p 7%

*Total business {Includes Penguin which s discontinued in cur statutory accounts )

Note
Pearson s 2011 satutery resuitsindude a L4i2m profit on the sale of our 50% stake i FTSE
Imernational The 2012 stawtory results inciude £113m in cfosure costs related to Pearson in Pracuce

Throughout tus document

2} Growth rates are stated on a constant exchange rate (CER) bass unless otherwise stated
Where quoted underlyng prowthrates excude both corrency movements angd porifoho changes
Sales and operaung profit are stated on a conunuing basis unless otherwsse stated

b) The business performance measures are non GAAP measuset and reconalizoons to the equivalent

statutory heading under [FRS are included in notes 2 B and 34 to the annual report.

2012 SALES

£6.1bn
%

1012 ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT

£936m
+19%

QUR FIVE YEAR RECORD

Average annual growth in
headline terms 2007-2012

Adjusted earnings per share

+13%

Operaung cash flow

+3%

Dividend

+/%
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Chairman’s introduction

Graphic removed

‘Watch aninterview with Glen Morenc,
Chairman of Pearson

ar2012 pearson com

The basic direction of

our strategy is unchanged,
and we are travelling faster
in our transformation.

~

~

v

Dear shareholders,

2012 was a year of significant leadership transition at
Pearson Marjorie Scardino retired on 31 December,
after a remarkable 16-year tenure as chief executve,
and John Fallon assumed the role on | January of
this year

Marjorie's contribution to Pearson has been definmg

she led the transformation of a tradittonal family
holding company into a modern global enterprise,

she established a cfear company purpose to help
people mprove their lives through learning,

she developed a company culture — 1o be brave,
Imaginative and decent — which will be a lasting legacy,

» and she leaves behind a thriving company which

~

b

H

nas benefited customers, staff and shareholders

We all are hugely grateful for her efforts and
accomplishments

CEQ succession

CEO succession 1s a very mportant board responsibility,
and one that we have been working on for several
years [n 2012, the nomination commuittee spent a
great deal of ume evaluating candidates and planning
for a seamless handover of duties

We are confident that John Failon is the right person
to lead Pearson in its next phase of development, and
his leadership over the past few months has reinforced
that confidence

We are now focused on the future development of
our board, which | address in the Gavernance section
of this report

Pearson’s transformation so far

Over the past decade or so, Pearson has focused
on three fundamental transformations

from a media hoiding company to an integrated
education company;

from a targely Anglo-American company to a truly
global enterprise,

from an analogue print publisher to a digital content
and services company




Graphs removed

Graphs removed

Section | Overview 05

The driving forces behind these transformatons are
bulding They include the recognised need for more
effective and affordable education, especally from
the growing middle class across the globe, and the
inexcrable tide of "disruptive” technologies which
are transforming education models

These forces prowvide Pearson with huge opportuniues,
but also challenges

A challenging 2012

As CFO Robin Freestone outlines in his report on our
financial performance, 2012 was a challenging year for
many of our businesses, offset by encouraging growth
N our newer global and digital mnitratives

These challenges were reflected in our share price
performance, which underperformed curindices

On alonger-term basts, our share price and total
shareholder return continue to reflect outperformance
(See charts opposite )

Transformation and acceleration

As John explains in lis CEQ report, the basic direction
of Pearson's strategy will not change Indeed, our
efforts to transform the company will accelerate

Significant restructuring (Including the Penguin
Random House merger), accelerated technology
ivestment and increased operating efficiency will
enable us to reach our strategic goals more rapidly

As a shareholder, | am very confident about
Pearson’s future

All great businesses are based on fundamental
customer demand, and the globat demand for
affordable, effective education is huge and growing

WWe believe that Pearson, as the world's leading
education company, Is uniquely positioned to help
meet that demand — and we are rapidly transforming
the company to do so effectively and profitably

We are determined to succeed, and our efforts will
be of great benefit to both our customers and our
shareholders

Stgnature removed

Glen Mareno Chawrman

M3IIAYIAC

IDNYHYO443d N0

ALHIQS NO LOVekI ¥NO

IDNVYNYIAODD

SINIWILYLS IVIDONYNIS ’



06 Pearson plc Annual epon and accounts 2002

Pearson’s strategy: john Falion, Chief executive

Graphic removed

u Watch aninterview with ohn Fallen
Chief executive of Pearson

ar2012 pearson com

As the world’s leading
learning company,

Pearson has a once-in-a-

generation opportunity.
To seize it, we must
transform the company
again. Our strategy is
settled and sound; we
are now accelerating its
implementation.

Dear shareholders,

| really do consider it to be a great privilege to be
writing to you for the first time as Pearson’s chief
executive | had the good fortune to join the company
16 years ago, since then Fve worked for Pearson i
London, New Yark and Harlow and travelled to all
corners of the world as we've built our education
busmess |'ve learned many things in that tme, but
above all that this 1s a very special company, with

a great sense of purpose and many tafented and
dedicated people

In the months since my appaintment was announced,
I've spent a good deal of ume talking to a wide range
of stakeholders - customers, shareholders, colleagues
and partners — about the company

Faster into digital, services and emerging markets

My conclusion — based on what I've heard in recent
months and learned first hand over the past 16 years —
is very straightforward The Pearson strategy 1s
settled and sound, and we need to accelerate s
implementation We need to move faster m our
digrtal transformation, our move into services and

the building of our presence in emerging markets

OUR STRATEGY

I Four global businesses

We are focusing on school, lugher education, English
language learning and business education We are
taking anincreasingly global view of educational needs
and trends

Four types of geographic market

We will carefully evaluate when we offer globai
products and services when we customise for local
needs and when we require a true local approach
We will focus our investment on markets with the
biggest growth opportunities

3 Four business models

We will channel our investment into four proven
business models direct to-consumer Pearscn
Inside (our shorthand far institutional sernices
to schools and universities), assessment, and
learning systems




1 want to use this letter to explain why we need
to accelerate, and how we will do it

If you've read Marjorie’s letters over the years, you'll
be famubar with the key tenets of our strategy and the
progress that Pearson has already made Under her
leadership, Pearson set out to become a world-leading
education company, and that is a privilege and
responsfaiity we now enjoy We wanted to make a
radical shift from tradittonal print products to digital
and services busmesses, and, for the first tme n
Pearson's history, those now account far half of our
revenues Ve aimed to become a significant player

in the wortd’s most dynamic education markets, and
Pearson 15 now a meaningful education company in
China, India, Brazi and Southern Africa And we've
achieved this transformation while sustaining a
disciplined approach to capital allecation

Structural change w the world of education

This 1s a powerful set of advantages with which to
tackle a changing external environment We continue
to see significant structural change, including a shift
from print to digital content and from classroom
instruction to onlme learning Spending on textbooks
15 flat or dechning, while mobile devices,

Sectton | Overview 024

personahsed learming and MOOCs {massive open
online courses) are on the nise This shift to digital 1s
profoundly changing the business model for content
it means one-off sales will dumimish while subscription
sales, most bundled with services, will grow That
sarne shift to digital causes considerable change and
consolidation in the retad channel, with a dramatic
shift to online sales and different sales patterns for
physical and digital formats

I'm not going to dwell on the 2012 results here,
because Robin Freestone covers them in detail in the
next section But in 2012 we saw plenty of evidence

to suggest that those structural changes are gathering
speed and force In many of our rradiional publishing
markets, we posted another excellent competitive
performance Yet the reward for those efforts was
that in some rmarkets we dechned at a slower rate than
our rivals At the same time, we draw confidence from
strong growth i some of our ‘emerging’ markets

(\We see our fast-growing markets as categories as
much as geographies — they are digital products and
services, learning systems, the direct delivery of
effective education and learning, as well as fast-
growing economies )

Graphic removed
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Pearson'’s strategy John Fallon, Chief executive
contunued

Graphs removed

Our motto, as you might know, 1s ‘always learning’
and there are some lessons for us to learn from all
this We have to manage disruption 1n our traditional
businesses while bullding direct relationships with
learners and leading the digital transformation of
education Our future customers will be consumers,
or learners, just as much as the institutions that serve
them We have to tilt the company more quickly
toward the biggest sources of future demand We
have to work ever harder to help our customers do
more, and better, with less And we have to focus less
on what we moke, and much more on the measurable
impact our products and services can actually deliver

Global education 1s a once-in-a-generation opportunity

If that all sounds a Iittle daunting, there s another side
to the Pearson story We think education will turn out
to be the great growth industry of the 21st Century

People the world over increasingly understand the
fundamental truth perhaps best expressed by
Benjamin Frankbn “‘Aninvestment in knowledge
always pays the best interest’

The economic returns to education are very clear
For example, 90% of the fastest-growing jobs in the
US economy require a college degree and a college
graduate will earn, on average over their career
lifetime, one milion doflars more than a hugh-
school drop-out

Qur growth prospects are also fuelled by a
remarkable socio-economic trend in this decade,

the global middle class will almost double in size to
more than three billion people Nearly all of that
growth will be in the developing world That's
mportant to many industrtes but especially to ours,
because as consumers join the middle class and earn
higher incomes, they tend to invest more in education
— either to advance their careers or give their children
a good startin hfe

We draw two conclusions from those kinds of trends
The first 1s that global educatton is a ance-in-a-
generation opportunity and Pearson 1s umiquely placed
to grasp it The second is that, to seize that opportunity,
we need to transform the company again




Graphs removed

Secuon | Overview 09

Transforming the company agan

Digitat learning services now account for around one-
third of our sales They are growing at more than 20%,
but we need to make them a much bigger part of
Pearsan Emerging markets are another (5% of our
sales But they already account for more than one-
third of the world economy and are forecast to
produce more than two-thirds of global growth

over the next decade So, we must radically shift

our focus, attention and resources to those very big
opportunittes And that is the reason for the changes
1n the company that we announced with our 2012
results We need to shift resources more quickly from
textbook publshing actmittes, primarily in the
developed world, where demand 1s flat or dechning,
5O we can Invest more quickly i our fast-growing
drgital and services businesses, with a special emphasis
On emerging markets

Our transformaton includes a focus on four global
businesses School, Higher Education, Enghish and
Business Education We are taking an increasingly
global view of educational needs, consumer trends
and product development for these busmesses

‘We are applying a new model where we group
markets, or countries, in four categories and alfocate
capttal accordingly ‘growth’ markets where we see
the biggest opporturnties, ‘watch’ markets where we
see potentil for big growth, ‘maintain’ markets where
we have good businesses but see more modest future
growth, and 'drive’ markets where we wil work
through local partners to meet those countries’

needs more effectively

Our framewoark also involves shifting an nereasing
proportion of investment into our faster-growing and
proven service-oriented models They are direct to
consumer, building on the success of iniiatives such
as our language schools in China, ‘Pearson Inside,’
shorthand for comprehensive institutional services
such as our virtual schools in the US and school
systems in Brazil, assessment and certficavion of
students and professionals, and personalised learning
systems, which deliver individual learning through
systems of instruction combined with measurement
frameworks and diagnostic assessment
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Pearson’s strategy john Fallon, Chief executive
continued

An important part of that transformation 1s the
merger of our consumer publshing business, Penguin,
with Bertelsmann’s Random House, which we expect
to complete this year Penguin has been part of
Pearson for more than four decades {tisa special
company that 1s deeply intertwined with Pearson’s
culture and operations But it had become increasingly
clear that, in a rapudly-changing consumer books
industry, Penguin’s creative and financial success could
best be secured in combinatton with Random House,
which we viewed as the ideal partner This wiil be an
excellent business and we will be active [ong-term
partners in it

Anather important component will be busiess
educatron, which we see as part of our once-in-a-
generation appartunity There is a substantial market
for learning for globally minded, highly aspirational
business pecple. and if there 15 one brand in the world
that could turbo-charge our ability to capture that
market, 1t 1s the Financial Times We are actively
exploring this opportunity

A focus on outcomes

There is one other major component to the changes
we are making For decades, Pearson has provided
inputs into the process of education a textbook, an
assessment, a course, a qualfication ' We would put all
of those things 1n the hands of an experienced teacher
or an enthusiastic student in most cases, we would
not be able to predict or measure learning outcomes

Under the leadership of our chief education adwvisor,
Sir Michael Barber, we have spent the past two years
developing a framework and a set of tools that waill
change that The Pearson efficacy framework s a
unique, rigorous and scalable quality assurance system
that checks that the necessary conditions are i place
for an education programme to deliver the intended
learming outcomes Ve have reviewed aimost 100
Pearson programmes under this framework, and we
are improwving our products and services by acting

on the findings 'We also are now making an efficacy
review a reguirement for any new product investment
of $3m or more, and for any acquisition proposal
Over ume, this will also improve our rate of innovation
and Invention

Building on our record of strong performance

Those measures on efficacy complement our maore
tradivonal financial measures and goals but they

do not, of course, replace them We wall build on
Pearson's record of consistently strong financial
performance, because profits and cash will fyel the
transformational iInvestments that we need to make
Meeting those financial measures will require us to
make hard choices about where we choose to invest
and what we have to do less of or stop doing altogether

For, if 2012 was tough, then there are many reasons —
cycheal, structural, competitive, consumer led — why
2013 15 ikely to be tougher sull Many of our markets —
especially n the developed economtes and where we
are particularly dependent an our more traditional
product models — have been in decline for some

Years now

Al this change 1s going to be challenging for Pearson
Itis not a revolution Marjorie's own leadership of
the company was characterised by constant, restiess
change However, we do need to accelerate that
change — into emerging markets, into services and

in our digital transformation — very quickly now

As we do that, we very much appreciate and rely on
the support of our shareholders By nvestingin
Pearson, you've made an investment in knowledge and
education We will be working as hard as we possibly
can to be sure that Benjamin Frankln's words apply to
your investment, too And we'll be mspired, too, by
Marjorie’s great achievement -- demonstrating time
and ume agam that the best and most sustainable way
fora company to prosper is to meet an important need
in society and to do it really wefl We'll be striving very
hard to live up to her example

Signature removed

John Failon Chref executive




Section 2 Our performance "

Our performance: 2012 financial overview

Graphic removed

Woatchaninterview with Robin Freestone,
Chief financial officer of Pearson

ar20)2 pearson com

In 2012, Pearson increased
sales by 4% in headline terms
to £6.1bn generating a total

adjusted operating profit
of £936m (2011: £942m).

The headline growth rates were reduced by currency
movements and helped by acquisitions Currency
movements reduced sales by £27m and operatmg
profits by £iIm This was the result of non-dollar
currency depreciation relative to sterling At constant
exchange rates (1 e stripping out the impact of those
currency movements), our sales and adjusted
operating profit grew 5% and 1% respectively

Acquisitons, primarily in our education company,
contributed £318m to sales and £39m to operating
profits This includes integration costs and investments
related to our newly-acquired companies, which

we expense The disposal of our 50% stake in FTSE
International m 201 reduced operaung profits by £20m

Qur underlying revenue and adjusted operating profit
{i ¢ stripping out the impact of both portfolio changes
and currency movements) declined by 1% and 2%
respectively

Qur tax rate n 2012 was 23 [% compared to 22 4%
in 2011 reflecting movements in tax settlements with
revenue authorities in each year

Adjusted earnings per share were 84 2p (2011 86 5p)

Graphs remaoved

Cash generation

Headline operating cash flow dechned by £195m due
to longer debtor days, currency fluctuations and
mcreased investment in new education programmes
Free cash flow declined by £115m to £657m,
addittonally reflecting from lower tax payments

Our average working capital to sales rauo improved
by a further 0 4 percentage ponts to 13 8% reflecung
the benefits from our shift to more digital and service-
orientated businesses

Return on invested capital

Our return on average invested capital was 9 1%, well
ahead of our cost of capital and level with 2011 ROIC
was affected by profit decline at Pearson in Pracuce
and the sale of FTSE International {one of our least
capnital-intensive businesses), offset by a lower cash
tax charge
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Our performance 2012 financral overview
continued

Statutory results

Our statutory results show a decrease of £603m

in operating profit to £515m, from £i,118mn 2011,
reflecting the absence in 2012 of the £412m profit on
the sale of FTSE International in 2011 and the £1{13m
closure-related costs on Pearson in Practice in 2012
Basic earnings per share similarly fell to 40 5p 1n 2012,
down from 119 6p in 201

Balance sheet

Our net debt mcreased to £218m (£499m in 2011)
reflecting acquisition investment of £75%m and
sustained organic investment 1n our busiess, partly
offset by cash generation Since 2000, Pearson’s net
debt/EBITDA ratio has fallen from 3 9x to 0 9x and
our mterest cover has increased from 3 1x to 18 Ox

Dividend

The board 1s proposing a dividend increase of 7% to
45 Op, subject to shareholder approval 2012 will be
Pearson’s 2Ist straight year of increasing our dividend
above the rate of inflaion Over the past ten years
we have mcreased our dividend at a compound
annual rate of 7%, returning more than £2 5bn to
shareholders We have a progressive dividend policy
we intend to sustain our dividend cover at around

2 Ox over the long term, increasing our dividend
more in line with earnings growth

Graph removed

Outlook: 2013

We expect the external environment to reman

challenging for our developed world and publishing

businesses in 2013 owing to a combmation of cyclical

and structural factors pressures on education budgets

and college enrolments, retaif consolidation, the shift

n our business model from print sales to digital

subscriptions, changing consumer behaviour and a

dynamic competitive landscape In general, we expect

market conditions to remain favourable for our |
businesses in developing economies and education

software and services \

In order to reshape the company to take advantage
of significant growth opportunities, we will expense
approximately £150m of restructuring costs in 2013
{the restructuring cost will be approximately £100m
net of cost savings achieved in the year} This
Investment has two objectives

| to accelerate our transition from print to digital
business models and from developed to developing
economies, and

2 to separate Penguin activities from Pearson central
services and operations, and to reduce fixed cost
infrastructure in Pearson, in preparation for the
Penguin Random House merger

We expect this transformation programme to
generate approximately £{00m of annual cost savings
from 2014 In 2014, we intend to reinvest the £100m
of cost savings in the organic development of our
fast-growing digital, services and emerging markets
businesses and further restructuring, including the
Pengum Random House ntegration We expect these
businesses to contribute to faster organic growth,
improving margins and improved cash flow and
capital intensity from 2015 The precise phasing of
restructuring costs and benefits will depend on
uming of completion of the Penguin Random House
combtnation, which remams subject to regulatory
approval and which we expect to complete in the
second half of 2013




At this early stage i the year we expect Pearson 2013
operating profits and adjusted EPS to be broadly level
with 202 before expensing these restructuring costs
{compared to 2012 adjusted EPS of 82 6p under
revised {AS 19 which we will adopt in 2013) and
including Pengun for the full year

This guidance 1s struck at the 2012 average exchange
rate of £1 $I 59 and reflects the following outlook

Education

In Education, we expect to achieve modest revenue
growth in 2013 wrth margins similar to 2012

North Amenrnca

In North America, we anticipate modest growth with
challenging cychcal and structural market condittons
in publishing offset by growth in digital and services

International

We expect our International education business to
show good growth Austerity measures will continue
to affect education spending in much of the developed
world and we expect a slower year for UK examinations
and qualifications Mowever, we see signifficant
opportunity tn emerging markets in Asia, Latin
America, the Middle Ezast and Sub-Saharan Africa —
which together accounted for 45% of our International
education revenues in 2012

Professional

Our Professional education business will reflect

the closure of our UK professional trarming business
and continued growth from our professional
certification business

FT Group

We expect the FT Group to benefit from contunued
growth in digital and subscription revenues in 2013
but advertising o remam weak and volable with
profits reflecting further actions to accelerate the shift
from print to digital Mergermarket will benefit from
its hugh subscription renewal rates, with market
acuvity likely to boost its core product offerings

Section 2 Our performance 13

Penguin

As previously announced, subject to regufatory
approval, we expect Penguin's combination with
Random House to be completed in the second half
of 2013 We believe that the combined orgamsation
will have a stronger platform and greater resources
to investin rich content, new digital pubhshing models
and high-growth emerging markets The orgamisation
will generate synergies from shared resources such
as warehousing, distributton, printing and central
functions We expect market conditions to remain
simifar to 2012 with a tough environment in the
physical bookstore channel but helped by good
growth in digital

Interest and tax

In 2013, our net interest charge to adjusted earnings
will exclude penston income and charges following the
adoption of IAS 19 revised and be similar to the £65m
reported in 2012 on a comparable basis We anticipate
our P&L tax charge against adjusted earnings to be in
the 23-25% range with our cash tax rates around the
same level

Exchange rates

Pearson generates approximately 60% of its sales in
the US A five cent move In the average £ $ exchange
rate for the full year (which in 2012 was £1 $} 59) has
an impact of approximately | 4p on adjusted earmings
per share
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North American Education

KEY PERFORMAMNCE INDICATORS

North American
Education is Pearson’s

largest business, with
2012 sales of £2.7bn and

operating profit of £536m.

CASE STUDY

Online learning

Pearson's ptoneering ‘Mylab’ digital learning,
homework and assessment programmes grew
well with student registrations in North America
up 1% to almast 10 milhon, with graded
submusstons up 12% to almost 320 milllon acraoss
the globe Evaluation studies show that the

use of MyLab programmes can significantly
improve student test scores and institutional
efficency http //bit ty/ymMMAy

Graphics removed

Sales Adjusted operatng prafit
2012 £2,658m 2012 £536m
2014 £2,584m 201 £493m
Headline growth 3%  Headline growth 9%
CER growth 2% CERgrowth 8%
Underlying growth ()%  Underlying growth 3%

Total number of MyLab registrations

99m

2012

8.9m

20H
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In 2012, our strength in digital and services businesses
and tight cost control enabled us to perform ahead of
our more traditional print publishing markets, which
declined by 10% for the industry as a whole and were
adversely affected by state budget pressures and
dechines in college enrolments

Higher Education highlights in 2012 include

In Higher Education, the publishing market dechined

by 6% netin 2012, according to the Association of
American Publishers Total US College enrolments
were 2% lower in 2012 than in 201, affected by rising
employment rates, state budget pressures and
regulatory change affecting the for-profit sector

In a diffrcult trading environment Pearson gained share
for the 14th consecuttve year, again benefiting from
our lead in technology and customisation

We launched Pearson Workforce Education which
delivers more than 60 online courses mn high demand
occupational trainimng areas from IT and Healthcare

to management and soft skills courses, and Propero,
which combines on-demand tutoning, student support
and onfine courses to expand access to higher education
and support degree completion

We announced the acquisition of a 5% stake in NOOK
Media for 389 5m in December 2012 with the option
to purchase up to an additronal 5%, subject to certain
conditions This strategec investment will help
accelerate customer access to digital content by
parring the company’s leading expertise in online
learning with NOOK Media's expertise in online
distnbution and customer service This will facilitate
tmproved discovery of avallable digital content and
services, as well as seamless access

Section 2 Our performance 15

CASE STUDY

eCollege registrations

Graphics removed

Student registrattons at eCollege grew 3% to 87
mithon, despite pressure in the for-profit college
market YVe won new online enterprise learning
contracts with California State University and
Rutgers University Our strong managed
enrolment services and student marketing
product offering, coupled with continued strong
growth at Arizona State University, hefped our
onhne enterprise learning business to grow 150%
to almost 44,000 enrolments in November 2012,
we acquired EmbanetCompass for $650 million
which provides a full range of services targeted
towards online graduate programmes
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North American Education
continued

Assessment and Informauon ughhights n 2012 include.
At our Assessment and Information busmess,
revenues were flat in 2012 State funding pressures
and the transition to Common Core assessments
continued to make market conditions tough for our
state assessment and teacher testing businesses

The Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for
College and Careers (PARCC), a consortium of

23 states, awarded Pearson and Educational Testung
Service (ETS) the contract to develop test items that
will be part of the new Engflish and mathematics
assessments to be administered from the 2014-2015
school year The assessments will be based on what
students need to be ready for college and careers, and
will measure and track their progress along the way

CASE STUDY

Connections Education

Connections Educauon, which operates onime
K-12 schools tn 22 states and a nationwide
charter school programme, served more than
43,000 students m 2012, up 31% from 2011

and broadened its product offering to mclude
wirtwal classrooms for public school campuses
Connections Academy Schools have
consistently high performance ratings,
particularly in states focused on measuring
growth n student learming

?

~

We conunued to produce strong growth n secure
online testing, an important market for the future
We increased online testng volumes by more than
10%, delivering 6 5 miilion state accountability tests,
4 5 million constructed response items and 21 million
spoken tests We now assess oral proficiency in
Enghsh, Spanish, French, Dutch, Arabic and Chinese
We also launched the Onhne Assessment Readiness
Tool for the PARCC and the Smarter Balance
Assessment Consortium (SBAC) Common Core
consortia to help 45 states prepare for the transinon
to online assessments

We won new state contracts tn Colorado and
Missourt and a new contract with the College Board
to deliver ReadiStep, a middle school assessment that
measures and tracks college readiness skills We
extended our contract with the College Board to
deliver the ACCUPLACER assessment, a computer-
adaptive diagnostic, placement and onhine intervenuon
system that supports 1,300 instituttons and 7 mullion
students annually

Graphic removed
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> We won five Race To The Top (RTTT) state deals
(Kentucky, Florida, Colerado, North Carolina and
New York) led by Schoolnet PowerSchool won three
state/province-level contracts (North Carofina, New
Brunswick and Northwest Territories) We launched
our mobile PowerSchool applications and grew our
third-party partner ecosystem to over 50 partners
PowerSchool supports more than 12 mithen students,
up more than 20% on 2011 while Schoolnet supports
8 3 miflion students, up almost |60% on 201}

> Our clinical assessment business was boosted by
strong growth at AIMSweb, our progress monitoring
service which enables early interventon and
remediatton for struggling students AlMSweb
delvered 58 milion assessments in 2012, up 12%

Schoal highlights in 2012 include
In School, the textbook publishing market declined

~

15% 1n 2012, according to the Associaton of American

Publishers There were several pressures on the
industry mcluding weakness in state budgets, a lower
new adoption opportunity (total opportunity of
$380m m 2012 against $650m in 2011) and delays

in purchasing decisions during the transition to the
new Common Core standards

CASE 5TUDY

Section 2 Qur performance

> Pearson gained share in very tough market conditions,
taking an estimated 31% of new adoptions where we
competed enVisionMATH conunued to perform
strongly, with a recent What Works Clearing House
study showing that students using the programme
outperformed peers by between six and eight
percentiles in maths across a broad range of student
populations 1Lit, our new digitat reading intervention
programme, was successfully mplemented in 20
districts with early results showing strong reading gains

Graphics removed

OpenClass

OpenClass, Pearson’s free learning management
system, has been instalied by almost 1,300 K-12
and college instituttons in the US and now serves
approximately 100,000 users In November 2012,

we launched Project Blue Sky, a cloud-based content

service that allows college instructors to combine
Open Educanonal Resources (OER) with instructor-
created and Pearson content
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International Education

Our businesses in emerging
markets continued to
perform strongly, supported
by good enrolment trends
and sustained investment.

CASE STUDY

Businesses in China

In China, student enrciments at Wall Street
English increased 5% to almest 61,000, boosted
by good underlying demand and the launch of
ten new centres taking the total to 66 Qur
students rapidly acquired high-level Enghsh skills
with average grade levels achieved nising by 8%
duning 2012 Enrolments at Global Educatcn,
our test preparation services for Englsh language
qualifications, increased 16% to more than

I million, through 73 owned and 372 franchised
learning centres

Graphic removed

Adjusted operaung profit

£1,568m 2012 £216m
£1,424m 200 £196m
Headhne prowth 10%  Headine growth 10%
CER growth 13%  CERgrowth 16%
Underlylng growth 7% Underlying growth 11%

Wall Street English student enrolmentsin China

61,000
53,000

20i)
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Our businesses in emerging markets continued to
perform strongly, supporied by good enrolment
trends and sustained mvestment Our UK business
was restient during the year despite sigruficant
regulatory and policy changes across vocatronal and
general qualifications, apprenticeships and higher
education In the rest of the world, a recovery in Japan
following the 2011 tsunamt and a strong competitive
performance in ltaly more than offset weak market
conditions in Spain

Key highlights in 2012 include

In Enghsh Language Learning, Wall Street English
(WSE), Pearson’s worldwide chan of English language
centres for professionals, opened anet of 1 new
centres around the world, bringing the total number
to 460 Student numbers fell by 2% to more than
191,000, primarily due to the closure of a large
franchise centre in Chile with approximately 7,000
students MyEnghshLabs enrolments grew 60% to
263,000 supported by the launch of our next
generation platform which supports I3 languages

and 43 new courses We acquired GlobalEnglish, a
leading provider of cloud-based, on-demand Business
Engitsh learning, assessment and performance support
software, for $90m in cash in July 2012

CASE STUDY
Sistema success in Brazil

In Braz|l, we ended 2012 with 533,000
students in our public and private
sistemas (or learning systems) and
added 24,000 students in our two
largest private sistemas, COC and
Dom Bosco, up 8% on 2011 Our public
sistema, NAME, includes the top
performing lower secondary school in
Brazd and test scores for all our public
schoo! students are, on average, 20%
above the 2011 nauonal IDEB standard
for 4th and 8th grade students

w

~
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More than | | miion students registered for our
MyLab dignal learning, homework and assessment
programmes, an increase of (8%, with good growth in
school, ELT and instituttonal selling i higher education

United Kingdom highlights in 2012 include

In the United Kingdom, we marked more than

& 3 mihon GCSE, A/AS Level and other examinations
with 90% using onscreen technology and more than
3 8 million test seripts for aver half a million pupils
taking National Curriculum Tests at Key Stage Two
in 2012 We launched our Next Generation BTECs
which are now the leading votational quahficavion

on the new funding and accountability frameworks in
schools Our vocational qualifications business grew
well with the continued popularity of BTEC amongst
employers and universities and a strong performance
in work-based learning (with registrations now up to
170,000) further boosted by a good performance
from EDI

Graphic removed
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internatrional Education
continued

In South Africa we held share in schoof publishing In
market conditions which were tougher than expected
despite a year of major curriculum reform Student
enroiments grew strongly at CT1, up §9% to more
than 10,000 We partnered with UNISA, South
Africa’s largest university and the largest distance
learning providerin Africa, to provide 30,000 students
with access to our MylLabs software, digital resources
and customised eBooks

In Indsa, TutorVista 1s now managing 35 schools and
its multmedia teaching solution Digiclass 1s installed
in approximately {7,000 classrooms ActiveTeach, our
digital learning platform for schools, was adopted by
200 schools serving approximately 100,000 students

CASE STUDY

New online university launch
in Mexico

In Mexico, we partnered with local curriculum
and 1echnology experts INITE 1o faunch
UTEL, a new unversity enabling Mexicans to
enrcl in online degree courses i management,
IT, marketing, engineering and computer
science UTEL enrolied 2,500 undergraduate
students and 4,000 learners in shorter
corporate training or continuing professtonal
educauon courses UTELs services arm, Scala,
signed its first contract to provide oniine
learning services to an exisung higher
education institution

» In the Middle East, the Abu Dhabi Education Council
purchased our print and digital Maths and Science
resources for all schools from grades 6 to 0, the
American University of Sharjah adopted Myl.abs for
four mathematics courses and three science courses,
and we are providing access to digital course content
for 5,000 students at Abu Dhabi's Higher Colleges of
Technology through our Pearson e-texts 1Pad app

Graphics removed




Professional Education

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Our Professional
Education business is
focused on publishing,
training, testing

and certification

for professionals.

Sales Adjusted operating profit
Wi £390m 2012 £37m
2001 £382m 200 £66m
Headhine growth 2%  Headlinegrowth (44)%
CER growth 2%  CERgrowth (44)%
Underlying growr (9% Underlying g;owth (54)%

Qur Professional Education business is focused

on publishing, training, testing and certification

for professionals The weakness in our UK tramning
business, Pearson in Practice, had a significant negative
impact on our 2012 performance and resulted in our
decision to exit the business Other parts of the
Professional division performed well

Professional testing highlights in 2012 irclude
Professional testing continued to see good revenue
and profit growth with test volumes at Pearson VUE
up 7% on 2011 to almost 8 mihon with Certiport
adding an additional 2 3 milhion tests, up 13% on 2011
There were key renewals of the National Council of
State Boards of Nursing contract running untd 2019
and the Computing Technology Industry Association
contract was secured with Pearson VUE as the single
vendor running through to 2017

~

~

~

~

~

~
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VWe won a number of new contracts including a
ten-year contract to admmister all computer and
paper-based tests for the Australia CPA Professional
exams and five-year contracts with the National
Center for Assessment in Saudi Arabia and the
National Council of State Boards of Nursing to
provide the NCLEX-RN m Canada begmnning in

2015 for ten Canadian registered nurse (RIN)
regulatory bodies

The partnership with the American Council on
Education to develop an online General Educational
Devetopment (GED) test aligned with new Commaon
Core standards has now launched computer-based
testing in 37 junsdictions

Continuing our digital transformation, we adapted

our booking service for the Driving Standards Agency
{DSA) to work on mabile devices We also introduced
one-to-many biometnic matching technology nto
testing centres to enhance fraud detectton

Professional training

Professional tratning was very weak with our UK
adult training business, Pearson in Practice, facing a
dramatic fall in demand as a result of changes to the
apprenticeships programme We believe this business
no longer has a sustainable model and announced in
January that we are to exit Pearson in Practice The
cost of exst and iwmpawmentis £113m and s reported
as a loss on closure in Pearson's 2012 statutory accounts

TQ continues to make significant progress in the
direct delivery of traiming services overseas n Saudh
Arabia, we extended the contract to operate the
Saudt Petroleum Services Institute for five years and
won a five-year contract to run a new institute at Al
Khafji In Oman, a TQ-led consortium won the bid
to provide traming to BP, including a wide range of
technical and English language training for BP workers
as they prepare to open up the Khazzan oilfield for
full scale production in 2016

Professional pubhsting highhghts in 2012 include
Professional publishing grew modestly with good profit
growth Inthe US, growth of eBook sales and other
digital products and services continued to outpace
ongoing chailenges i the traditional retail channel
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Financial Times Group

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The FT Group is a leading
provider of essential
information in attractive
niches of the global business
information market.

CASE STUDY

Growth in digital readership

The Financal Times digital readership continues to
grow strongly with digital subscriptions increasing
18% to almost 316,000 and with 3 5 million FT
web app users

Sales Adjusted operating profic*
2012 £443m 2012 £49m
01 427m 2001 £76m
Headline growth 4%  Headlne growth (36)%
CER growth 4%  CERgrowth (39%
Underlying growth 4%  Underlying growth (7Y%

*Reflects the absence m 2012
of the £20m 2011 profit
from Pearson's stake in FTSE
Inzernationa! followsng its sale.

Financiol Times digital subscriptions

316,000

267000

Graphics removed

2011

2012
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Digital and services revenues accounted for 50% of
FT Group revenues (31% in 2008) Content revenues
comprised 61% of revenues (48% in 2008), while
advertising accounted for 39% of FT Group revenues
(52% in 2008)

Financial Times highlights in 2012 include

The Fmancigl Times digital readership continues to
grow strongly with digital subscriptions increasing 18%
to almost 316,000 and with 3 5 million FT web app
users The FT's total paid circulation was more than
602,000 across print and online, modestly up on 2011,
with digital subscriptians exceeding print circulation
for the first time The FT now has almost 2,800 direct
corporate hcences, up 40% on 2011

We conunued to mvest in new products and
innovation, mcluding faunching a Windows 8 app and
the FT web app on Chrome for Android, a bespoke
web app for Latin America, a rebrand of the
conferences division, FT Live, with the introduction
of live strearning at key events, and the launch of
GatekeeperlQ, a new subscription service to track
large, retail investment platforms

Advertising was generally weak and volatile with
poor visibihty but the FT grew market share with
mobile, luxury and business education showing good
growth Digital revenues benefited from the launch
of FT SmartMatch, which automatically puts chent
content such as articles, white papers and videos in
front of FT com users while they're reading related
FT news stortes

FT Live, our events business, continued to grow
strongly and launch new events, including the Global
Commodities Summit, delivering more than 200
events that attracted over 17,000 delegates

We launched a digrtal portal that offers on-demand
webinars, hvestreamed events and social media tools

CASE STUDY
Growth in mobile

Mobtle devices now account
for 30% of FT com traffic and
15% of new subscriptions

Graphic removed
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Educational services are an important area of
expansion The FT Non-Executive Director
Ceruficate (in partnership with Pearson Learning
Studio and Edexcel) was attended by over 150
candidates across five intakes FT Newshnes, an
annotations 100l on FT com that allows students and
facutties from around the world to create and share
annotations on FT articles, 1s now being used at many
business schools The new FTChinese MBA Gym App,
which features tallored training courses categorised
by topic, has ranked among the top paid-for education
apps on the 1Tunes Store and was recognised as one
of the ‘App Store Best of 2012" by Apple in China

Money-Media revenues and profits continued to grow
well boosted by a strong subscription performance,
with the number of individual users growing 6% year
on year to 220,000, and new product launches,
in¢luding Ignites Retirement Research which broadens
Money-Media's product offering into the investment
ndustry research sector

Econormist Group highlights in 2012 include

In The Econarmist Group (50% owned by Pearson),
The Econormist launched three HTMLS-powered
apps in collaboranon with FT Labs The Economust’s
worldwide print and digital circulation increased by
2% to | 67 miilion (at 31 December 2012) of which
150,000 customers bought digital-only copies The
Economist Intelligence Unit acquired Clearstate in
Singapore and Bazian, a London-based healthcare
research company, as part of its strategy to buid a
healthcare information business

Mergermarket highlights i 2012 include
Mergermarket grew well, despite challenging markets,
due to a good performance from Debtwire,
mergermarket, Xtract and Remark underpinned by

a strong offering following investment in its product
breadth, strong editorial analysis and global presence
We launched severa) new products and services,
wnctuding a new mergermarket Android app, a
Debtwire Analytics platform in Europe and Policy
and Regulatory Report {PaRR), a global intelligence,
analysis and proprietary data product focused on
competition law, [P and trade law, and sector-specific
regulatory change We also expanded our coverage in
faster growth markets such as Latin America, China
and the Middle East, generating new business and
extending our internatronal reach
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Penguin

KEY PERFORMAMNCE INDICATORS

Penguin is one of the most 52('”2 e '“2‘:'2" operacing profit
. , m |
famous brands in book o ot om

publishing, known around
the world for the quality of its
publishing and its consistent

record of innovation.

CASE STUDY

Headiine growth

1% Headline growth

CER growth

% CERgrowth

Underlying growth

()%  Underlying growth
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eBook sales % of sales

eBook revenue grew
strongly in 2012 and
accounted for 17%
of Penguin’s global
revenue
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In October 2012, Pearson and Bertelsmann
announced an agreement to create the world's leading
consumer publishing company by combining Penguin
and Random House Pearson will own 47% of the
combined organisation, which 1s subject to regulatory
approval and 1s expected to complete In the second
half of 2013 We believe that the combined
organisation will have a stronger platform and greater
resources to invest In rich content, new digital
publishing models and lugh-growth emerging markets

In market condstions that remained challenging,
Penguin had a sohd year with momentum and share
improving m the second half of the year It also made
several moves to offer a broader range of services to
more authors across more platforms in more markets

Key highlights in 2012 include

In the United States, we published 255 New York Times
bestsellers (254 in 2011) including No Easy Day The
Firsthand Account of the Mission that Kifled Osarna bin
Laden by "Mark Owen’, Bared to You by Sylvia Day and
Nate Silver's The Signal and the Noise as well as new
titles from bestselling authors including Ken Follett,
Nora Roberts, Tom Clancy and Harlan Coben

CASE STUDY

Strong publishing hist for 2013

Penguin has a strong publishing list for

2013 wath major new books from authors
ncluding Khaled Hosseir, Elizabeth Gilbert,
Sylvia Day, Nora Roberts, Nathaniel
Philbrick and Sarah Dessen in the US,

and Jamie Oliver, John Le Carré, Jennifer
Saunders, Malcolm Gladwell, Steven D Levitt
& Stephen | Dubner, Jeremy Paxman,
Jonathan Coe and John Green in the UK DK
will launch more LEGO® titles, including the
LEGO® Play book, and Mary Berry's Cookery
Course New apps for 2013 include Anne
Frank The Dary of a Young Girl, I'm Ready

to Spell and Poems by Heart

-

~
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In the UK, we published 90 Bookscan bestsellers,

our best year on record {and compared to 78 1n 2011)
including Sylvia Day's Bared to You, Jamie Oliver's

15 Minute Meals, Clare Balding's My Arimals and Other
Famtly and Daniel Kahneman's Thinking, Fost and Slow

eBook revenue grew strongly in 2012 and accounted
for 17% of Penguin's global revenue (12% in 2011),

and almost 30% in the US (20% 10 2011) We
continued to invest i digital publishing programmes,
making eBocks availabie in new markets including
Australia, India, Brazil and China, launching a number
of digital-only imprints around the world and
expanding our eSpectals list Global app sales grew

by more than 200% driven by brands meluding Wreck
this App, Mad Libs, Moshi Monsters and LEGO®

DK was Apple's only trade publisher launch partner
for the January launch of the 1Books Author 2 platform
and now has more than 50 interactive titles avarlable

Graphic removed
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Penguin
contnued

In Braz), we acquired 45% of Companhia das Letras,
aleading trade book publisher In India, we launched
alocal eBook programme and enjoyed considerable
success in commeraial ficton with bestselling authors
including Ravinder Singh and Shobhaa De {n China,
we expanded our local publishing programmes in both
Chinese and English with more than 100 utles now
available, Inctuding a first local language top ten title,
tennts player L1 Na's autobiography, and we launched
our first fist of eBooks

CASE STUDY

Pick of the year

» DK performed strongly and grew share globally led

~

by our LEGO® publishing list In the UK, DK
celebrated a number one bestseller with Mary Berry's
Complete Cookbook, which has scld more than one
milion coples worldwide BradyGames had
bestsellers with Borderlands 2, Skylanders Giants

and Call of Duty Black Ops i

Author Solutions, which we acquired in July 2012 for
$116m, had a good start Itis the world's leading
provider of professional self-publishing services and
broadens our expertise in online marketing, consumer
analytics, professional services and user-generated
content In February 2013 Penguin Indra launched
Partridge, a new self-pubhshing imprint, in partnership
with Author Solutions

In 2012, Penguin enjoyed bestseller success around the world, including publishing 255 New York Times
bestsellers and 90 top ten bestsellers in the UK Here's a taste of the highlights

Graphlics removed




Other financial information

2012 200
im im

Net finance costs
Net interest payable (65) {55)
Finance income in respect
of employee benefit plans 13 3
Net finance costs reflected
in adjusted earnings (52) {52)
QOther net finance costs 29 {19)
Total net finance costs (81) (71)

Net finance costs reported in our adjusted earnings
comprise net interest payable and net finance income
relating to post-retirement plans

Net interest payable in 2012 was £65m, up from £55m
in 2011 Although our fixed rate policy reduces the
impact of changes in market interest rates, we were
stil able to benefit from low average US dollar and
sterfing interest rates during the year Year-on-year,
average three month LIBOR (weighted for the
Group's net borrowmgs in US dollars and sterling at
each year end) rose by 0 2% to 0 5% This increase

in floating market interest rates combined with an
increase in the Group’s average net debt helped drive
the Group’s higher interest charge These factors
combined with a decrease In Interest income on
deposits and the impact of new notes issued 1n 2012
created an increase in the Group's average net interest
payable from 6 5% to 7 0% The Group’s average net
debt rose by £92m, largely reflecung the acquisition
activity during 2012

Net finance income relating to post-retirement plans
was £13min 2012 compared to £3m in 2011 Also
included in the statutory definition of net finance costs
are finance costs on put options and deferred
consideration associated with acquisitions, foreign
exchange and other gains and fosses Finance costs for
put options and deferred consideration are excluded
from adjusted earnings as they relate to future earn
outs and similar payments on acquisitions and
therefore do not reflect cash expended Foregn
exchange and other gans and losses are excluded
from adjusted earnings as they represent short-term
fluctuations in market value and are subject 1o
significant volatility These other gains and losses may
not be realsed in due course as it 1s normally the
intention to hold the related nstruments to maturity
In 2012, the total of these iterns excluded from
adjusted earrings was a ioss of £29m compared

Section 2 Qur perfarmance 27

to a loss of £19min 20(1 The majonty of the loss m
2012 relates to movements n the valuation of put
options associated with acquisitons in 2014 the loss
relates mainly to foreign exchange differences on a
proportion of the unhedged US dollar proceeds
from the Interactive Data sale in 2010

Funding position and liquid resources

The Group finances 1ts operations by a mixture of
cash flows from operations, short-term borrowings
from banks and commercral paper markets, and
longer-term loans from banks and capital markets
Our objective is to secure continuity of funding at a
reasonable cost from diverse sources and with varying
maturities The Group does not use off-balance sheet
special purpose entities as a source of iquidity or for
any other financing purposes The net debt posttion

of the Group 15 set out below

ELa Y] 0H

£m m
Cash and cash equivalents h062 1.369
Marketable securiues - 6 9
Net dervative assets 178 174
Bonds (2.200)  (1.955)
Bank loans and overdrafts (55) (78)
Finance leases (17) _(I—E)-
Net debt — continuing (1.026) (499)
Net cash classified as held for sale 108 .
Total netdebt (918) (499}

Acquisition actwity m 2012, 1s a large contributor ta
the crease in the Group's net debt Reflecting the
geographical and currency split of our business, a large
proportion of our debt 1s denominated in US doltars
(see note {9 for our policy) The strengthening of
sterling agamst the US doltar during 2012 (from §1 55
to $1 63 £1) decreases the sterling equivalent value

of our reported net debt
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Other finanaal infformation
conunued

The Group's credit ratings remained unchanged
during the year The long-term ratings are Baal

from Moody's and BBB+ from Standard & Poor’s,

and the short-term ratngs are P2 and A2 respectively
The Group's policy 1s to stnive to maintatn a rating

of Baal/ BBB+ over the long term

In May 2012, the Group accessed the capital markets,
raising $500m through the sale of notes maturing in
May 2022 and bearing interest at 3 75% The notes
were swapped to floating rate to conform with the
pohcy descrnibed in note |9

The Group has a $1,750m committed revolving
credit facility which matures in November 2015

At 31 December 2012 this facihty was undrawn

The facility 1s used for short-term drawings and
providing refinancing capabilities, including acting as
a back-up for our US commercial paper programme
This programme 18 primarily used to finance our
US worlking capital requirements, in particular our
US educational businesses which have a peak
borrowing requirement in June At 3! December
2012, no commercial paper was outstanding

The Group alsa maintans other commutted and
uncommitted faclities to finance short-term working
capital requirements in the ordinary course of business

Further details of the Group's approach to the
management of financral rsks are set out n note 19
to the financial statements

Taxation

The effective tax rate on adjusted earnings in 2012
was 23 1% as compared to an effective rate of 22 4%
i 2011 Qur overseas profits, which arise mainly in the
US, are largely subject to tax at higher rates than that
wn the UK (which had an effective statutory rate of

24 5% 10 2012 and 26 5% in 20}1) These higher tax
rates were offset by amortisagon-related tax
deductions and by prior year adjustments including
those ansmg from settlements with tax authoriues

The reported tax charge on a statutory basis was
£148m (34 1%) compared to a charge of £162m

(15 5%) i 201 The wncrease inthe statutory rate is
largely due to the lack of tax refief on the loss on
closure of Pearson in Practice together with the effect
of alow tax charge in 2011 on the gain on disposal of
FTSE international

Tax paid in 2012 was £65m compared to £15Im i
2011 The reduction mn the 2012 tax paid s largely the
result of the permitted deferral of US tax payments
wto 2013 following Hurricane Sandy

Discontinued operations

In October 2012, Pearson and Bertelsmann
announced an agreement to create a new consumer
publishing business by combining Penguin and Random
House The transaction 1s expected to complete In
2013 and, at that pont, Pearson wili no longer control
the Penguin Group of companies but will equity
account for its 47% associate nterest The loss of
control results in the Penguin business being classified
as held for sale on the Pearson balance sheet at

31 December 2012 and the results for both 2011 and
2012 have been included n discontinued operations
Also included in discontinued operations are the costs
associated with the formation of the Penguin Random
House venture including provision for the settlement
of litigation associated with the agency arrangements
for ebooks

Non-controlling interest

There are non-cantrolling interests i the Group's
businesses in South Africa, China and India although
none of these are material to the Group numbers

Other comprehensive income

Included i other comprehensive income are the

net exchange differences on translation of foretgn
operations The loss on translation of £238mn 2012
compares to a loss in 2011 of f44m The Group s
principally exposed to movements in the US dollar as
a significant proportion of the Group's operations are
based mn the US In 201| the US dollar strengthened
only shghtly from an opening rate of £1 $1 57 to

a closing rate at the end of that year of £1 $| 55
Other currency movements were relatively more
sigmficant i 2011 causing a small loss In 2012 the US
doflar has weakened to ciose at £1 $f 63 and was the
most sighificant contributor to the increase in the loss

Alsa included in other comprehensive income in
201215 an actuarial loss of £122m in relation to post-
retirement plans This loss arose largely because of
unfavourable changes in the discount rate and other
assumptions used in the actuanal valuation that ofiset



the effect of continuing asset returns and deficit
funding in the UK plan In 2011 the loss of £64m
was also due to discount rate and other assumption
changes outweghing improved asset returns and
deficit funding

Dmdends

The dividend accounted for in our 2012 financial
statements totalling £346m represents the final
drvidend in respect of 2011 (28 Op) and the interim
drndend for 2012 (15 0p) We are proposing  final
dradend for 2012 of 30 Op, bringing the total paid and
payable in respect of 2012 to 45 Op, a 7% increase on
201! This final 20f2 dividend was approved by the
board in February 2013, 1s subject to approval at the
forthcommg AGM and will be charged aganst 2013
profits For 2012, the dividend 1s covered | 9 umes
by adjusted earmings

We seek to maintamn a balance between the
requirements of our shareholders for a rising

stream of dividend income and the reinvestment
apporiunities which we dentify arqund the Group
and through acquisitions The board expects to raise
the dividend above inflatton, more in line with earnings
growth, thereby mamtaining dividend cover at around
two times earmings in the long term

Pensions

Pearson operates a variety of pension plans Our UK
Group plan has by far the largest defined benefit section
We have some smaller defined benefit sections in the
US and Canada but, outside the UK, most of our
companies operate defined coneribution plans

The charge to profitin respect of worldwide

pensions and post-reurement benefits for conunuing
operations amounted to £84m 2012 (2011 £82m)
of which a charge of £97m (2011 £85m) was reported
n operating profit and a net benefit of £13m (2011
£3m) was reported aganst net finance costs In
additron to these amounts, in 2012 a charge of £1lm
(20! £1im) has been reported in operating profit

in respect of discontinued operations

The overall surplus an the UK Group plan of £25m
at the end of 2011 has become a deficit of £19m

at 3| December 2012 The deficit has arisen due

to unfavourable movements in the discount rate and
other assumptions used to value the habilites, offset

Section 2 Our performance 29

by continuing asset returns and deficit funding in total,
our worldwide deficit in respect of pensions and post-
retirement benefits increased from £i41m in 2041 to
£198m at the end of 2012, this amount includes a
deficit of £26m which specifically relates to Penguin
and has been classified as a liabihity held for sale

Acquisitions

In May 2012, the Professional business acquired
Certipart Ing for $140m Certiport s based in

the US and is a leading provider of certification and
assessment programmes i | T and digital literacy

In July 2012, the International Education business
completed the purchase of GlobalEnglish
Corporation, a leading provider of ¢loud-based,

on demand business English learning, assessment
and performance support software for a net cash
consideration of $90m Also in July 2012, Penguin
acquired Author Solutions, Inc, the world's leading
provider of professtonal seif-publishing services, for
$116m i cash The $650m acquisition of
EmbanetCompass by the North American Education
bustness was compieted in November 2012
EmbanetCompass partners with leading non-profit
colleges in North America to provide online learning
solutions for university programemes

Net cash consideration for all acquisitions made tn
the year ended 3] December 2012 was £75%m and
provistonal goodwill recognised was £505m In total,
acquisitions completed i the year contributed an
additional £45m of sales and £5m of operating profit
before acquisition costs and intangibie amortisation

Return on invested capital (ROIC)

Our ROIC 15 calculated as total adjusted operating
profit less cash tax, expressed as a percentage of
average gross invested capital ROIC remained flat at
9 1% n both 201! and 2012 The impact of lower cash
tax payments in 2012 has been offset by slightly lower
profit and increased investment in new acquisittons
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Other finanaial information
continued

Capital expenditure

Net capital expenditure in the year on property,
plant equipment and software amounted to £152m
The analysis of capital expenditure and details of
capital commutments are shown i1 notes 10, It and
36 of the financial statements

Related party transactions

Transactions with related partes are shown in note 37
of the financial statements

Post balance sheet events

In January 2013, the Group completed the purchase
of a 5% equity investment in NOOK Media, LLC for
$89 5m NOOK Media 1s a new company consisting
of Barnes & Noble's digital businesses including its
NOOK e-reader and tablets, the NOQOK digital
bookstore and its 674 college bookstores across
America

In February 2013 the Group completed the purchase
of the remaining minority interest in Tutorvista,

the Bangalore-based tutoning services company

for £17m

Suppher payment policy

Operating companies are responsible for agreeing
the terms and condivons under which business
transacuons with therr supplers are conducted

These supplier payment terms vary by operating
company, reflecting the different industries and
countries n which they operate ltis company policy
that suppliers are aware of such terms of payment and
that payments to them are made in accordance with
these, provided that the suppher 1s also compiying
with ail the relevant terms and conditions Group
trade creditors at 31 December 2012 were equivalent
to approximately 34 days of purchases during the year
ended on that date The company does not have any
significant trade creditors and therefore s unable to
disclose average supplier payment terms



Prinaipal risks and uncertainties

Qur principal rigks and uncertainties are outlined
below These are the most significant risks that may
adversely affect our business strategy, financiat
postuon or future performance The risk assessment
process evaluates the probability of the risk
matermalising and the financial or strategic impact of
the risk Those risks which have a higher probability
and significant impact on strategy, reputation or
operations or a financral impact greater than

£40 milfion are identified as principal risks The risk
assessment and reporting criteria are designed to
provide the board wtth a consistent, Group-wide
perspective of the key risks The reports to the board,
which are submitted twice per year, include an
assessment of the probability and rmpact of risks
materialising, as well as risk mitigation imtatves and
their effectiveness

PRINCIPAL RISKS - IMPACT ANMD PROBABILITY

~

IMPACT

BRAND/
REPUTATION
PERCEPTION
;
f
INTELLECTUAL
PROP
DATA PRIVACY ngHﬂ"
BREACH
i
TESTING
FAILURES

Section 2 Our performance k)

We conduct regular risk reviews to dentify rigk
factors which may affect our business and financial
performance and to assist management in prioritising
therr response to those risks Our Group internal
audit and risk assurance function facihitates rsk
reviews with each business, shared service operations
and corporate functions, Wdentifying measures and
controls to mitigate these risks These reviews are
designed so that the different businesses are able

to taor and adapt their risk management processes
to suit their specific circumstances Manzgement

i1s responsible for considering and executing the
appropriate action to mitigate these risks whenever
possible Itis not possible to identify every risk that
could affect our businesses, and the actions taken

to munigate the risks described below cannot

provide absolute assurance that a risk will not
materialise and /or adversely affect our business

or financial performance

EDUCATION
R
AND FONSING  TECHNOLOGY
CHANGES
ECONOMIC

UNCERTAINTIES

ACQUISITIONS
ANO MERGERS

EMERGING MARKETS

PROBABILITY
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Principal nisks and uncertainties
continued

Principal risks

TECHNOLOGY CHANGES

Our education business wiormation and book publishing
businesses will be impacted by the rate of and state of
technological change, including the digital revolution

and other disruptive technologies

We gperate in markets which are dependent ot Infarmation
Technology (IT) systems and technelogical change

EDUCATION REGULATION AND FUNDING

Our US educatonal solutions and assessment businesses
and our UK traiming businesses may be adversely affected
by changes in government funding resulting from either
general economic conditions, changes in government
educational funding, programmes, policy decisions,
legislation and/or changes in the procurement processes

ECONOMIC UNCERTA|NTIES

Global economic conditions may adversely impact our
financiat performance

A sigmificant deterioravion in Group profitabshity and/
or cash flow caused by prolonged economic instability
could reduce our hquidity and/or impair our financrat
ratios, and trigger a need to raise additional funds from
the capital markets and/or renegotiate our banking
covenants

We generate a substantial proportion of our revenue
in foreign currencies, particularly the LS dollar and
foreign exchange rate fluctuation could adversely affect
our earnings and the strength of our balance sheet

Miugaung factors

We are transforming our products and services for the

digital environment along with managing our print Inventores
Our content is being adapted to new technologes across

our businesses and 1s pniced to drive demand We develop
new distributton channels by adapting our product offering
and investing in new formats Ve continue to monitor
congraction tn the consumer book market to rinimise

the impact of customer bankruptcy

We mitigate IT nisks by establishing strong [T policies

and operaticnal controls employing project management
techniques to manage new software developments and/or
systems mplementations and have implemented an array
of secunty measures to protect our IT assets from attacks
or falures that could impact the confidenuality availability
or integrity of our systems

In the LIS we actively monitor changes through parucipation
tn advisory boards and representavon on standard seteing
commirzees Our customer relatonship teamns have detatled
knowtedge of each state market We are investing in new and
innovative ways to expand and combmne our product and
services to provide a superior customer offeringwhen
compared to our competitors, thereby reducing our relance
on any particular funding stream in the US market We work
through our own government relations team and our industry
trade associations ncluding the Association of American
Publishers We are also monttonng mumopal funding and the
1mpact on our education recelvables

In the UK we maintain relanonships with those government
deparuments and agencies that are responsible for policy
and funding We work proactively with them 1o ensure our
education, traming and apprentceship programmes meet
existing and new government objectives at the right quality
Changes in the UK government’s funding policy for
apprenticeshups affected the business model for the Pearsen
m Pracoce adult traming business  As a resuli, in Janvary 2013
we announced that we wilt exit this parucular business We
will continue to prowvide training and support for young adults
who wish to develop skills and enter the UK workforce
through our qualffications and curriculum businesses

The Group's appreach to funding 15 described on page 27 and
the Group’s approach to the management of finanaal risks 1s
set out in note 19 to the financial statements




Principal risks

INTELLECTUAL PROFERTY RIGHTS

If we do not adequately protect our ntellectual
property and proprietary rights our
competitive position and results may be
adversely affected and limit our abilty

o grow

EMERGING MARKETS

Our investment Into inherently riskier
emerging markets 1s growing and the returns
may be fower than anticipated

DATA PRIVACY BREACH

Failure to comply with data privacy
regulations and standards or weakness in
internet secunity could result in 2 major data
privacy breach causing reputational damage
to our brands and financral loss

TESTING FAILURES

A control breakdown or service falure i our
school assessment businesses could result in
finanaal foss and reputational damage

Qur professional services and sehoaol assessment
businesses involve complex contractual
relauienships with both government agencres

and commeraal customers for the provision

of varous testing services Our financial resudts,
growth prospects and/or reputation may be
adversely affected f these contracts and
reflavonships are poorly managed

ACQUISITIONS AND MERGERS

Farlure to generate anticipated revenue
growth, synergies and/or cost savings from
acquisitions, mergers and other business
combinations could lead to goodwill and
intangible asset impairments

BRAND/REPUTATIONM PERCEPTION

Qur business depends on a strong brand, and
any failure to maintain, protect and enhance
our brand would hurt our ability 1o retain or
expand our business

Section 2 Qur performance

Mitigating factors

We seek to mitigate this type of nsk through general vigilance,
co-operation with other publishers and trade assocations, advances
in technology, as well as recourse to law as necessary Digital nghts
management standards and monitering programmes have been
developed We have a piracy taskforce to identlfy weaknesses and
remediate breaches We monitor activities and regulations in each
market for developments i copyright/intellectual property faw and
enfarcement and take legai action where necessary

We draw on our expenence of developing businesses outside

our core markets and ourexisting nternational infrastructure

to manage specfic country risks We continue to strengthen our
financial control and managerial resources in these markets to manage
expansion The diversification of our international portfolio and relative
size of ‘emerging markets' in relation to the Group further minimises
the effect any one territory could have on the overall Group results

Through cur global security teamwe have established varous data privacy
and security programmes We constantly test and re-evafuate our data
secunty procedures and controls across all our businesses with the aim of
ensuring persenal data I1s secured and we comply with relevant legislation and
contractual requirements We pursue approprate privacy accreditations,

e g. TRUSTe Privacy and Safe Harbor Seal We regularly monitor regulation
changes to assess impact on existing processes and programmes

We seek to minimise the risk of a breakdown m our student marking with
the use of robust quality assurance procedures and contrels and oversight
of contract performance combined with our investment in technology,
project management and skills development of our people

In addition to the internal business procedures and controls implemented
to ensure we successfully deliver on our contractual commitments, we also
seek to develop and matntam good relationships with our customers to
minimise associated risks

We also look to diversify our portfolio to minimise reliance on any
single contract

We perform pre-transacuon due diligence and dosely monitor actual
performance to ensure we are meeung operational and financial targets
Any divergence from these plans will result in management acuon to
improve performance and minnmise the risk of any impairments
Executive management and the board receve regular reports on the
status of acquisition and mergers

In October 2012 we announced an agreement with Bertelsmann to
combine our respective consumer publishing businesses In a newly-
created venture named Penguin Random House The combinauon is
subject 10 customary regulatory and other approvals and 1s expected
to complete in the second half of 2013

We mitigate this risk through the development of comprehensive
processes to enable our business unis to eflectively manage relatonships
with stakeholders, customers, communtties and employees We have an
ongoing process to understand and evaluate potential brand threats and
monitor and evaluate mformatron about our brand across media sources

kX ]

MIIAYIAD

JONYHYEOIYId ¥N0O

AL3IZOS NO LOVEWI YNO

IINYNYIACH

SLNIWILYLS 1¥IDNVYNIA




34 Pearson plc Annual report and accounts 2012

Our impact on society

We believe our
commercial goals and
our social purpose are
mutually reinforcing.

Across many industries, a strong sense of fundamentat
purpose Is a characteristic shared by many leading
businesses Pearson’s purpose is to help people make
progress in their lives through learning

This purpose informs and shapes our company strategy
and is the starting pomnt of our responsibility framework

PEARION § PURPOSE

QOur purpose 1s to help people make progress in
their lives through learning

QUR FOCUS

In 2010, we defined three key 1ssues as the focus

of Pearson’s corporate responsibility strategy
Iteracy, learning outcomes and contributing to
competttiveness These three key issues are where
Pearson can make a umque contribution to people's
socral and economic wellbeng on a global scale

RESPONSIBELE BUSINESS PRACTICE

Beyond these three issues, we have a wider agenda
of responstble business practice This covers areas
such as nurturing and developing talent and
diversity, environmental responsibility and
supporting the work of the Pearson Foundation

OUR YALUES

Our approach to ethics and how we behave 1s
grounded by our culture and values — to be brave,
imaginative and decent

We conunue to be recogmised in external benchmarks
as a leader in corporate responsibility — a testament to
the commitment and efforts of our people We were
{for afourth year) ranked gold in the Dow Jones
Sustainability Index

2013 will be a year of considerable change as we
merge Penguin with Random House and develop
our global education strategy

Qur commitment to helping people make progress
in their lives through fearning 1s enduring However,
against that wider backdrop of change, we will ask
some key questions about our responsibility
framework this year

> What are the big unmet educational needs which
we can help tackle?

> How should we measure and report the educational
impact of our praducts and services?

> Are the three keyissues stll the nght ones for us
to focus on?

» What commitments and targets should we set
ourselves?

If you have thoughts on these four questions or would
like to play a partin helping us find the answers, please
let us know and contact our head of corporate
responsibility at peter hughes@pearson com

Signature removed

Robin Freestone Chief financial officer
{and board member responsible for corporate
responsibility)
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Overview

We have developed our own responsible business framework to reflect what we do, where we can have the
most iImpact and the expectations that our investors, customers and the people who work at Pearson have of us
It 1s unique to Pearson It is also dynamic — we will update the framework to reflect how we change as a company
and the views and priorities of our stakeholders

OUR PURPOSE

To help people make
progress in their hives ALWAYS LEARNING

through learming

OUR FOLUS
Three priority issues RAISING 2 IMPROVING CONTRIBUTING
where we can make the LITERACY LEVELS LEARNING OUTCOMES TG COMPETITIVENESS
maost difference
Graphic removed Graphic removed Graphlc removed

AT HOME OUR FROGAAMMES PERSONAL PROGAESS

IN THE CLASSROOM CLOSING ACHIEVEMENT GAPS INFORMEP BUSINESS

WITH OUR PARTNERS SHARING WHAT WORKS
BUSINESS STRATEGY ~

LONG TERM CRGANIC DIGITAL PACDUCTS AND INTEAMNATIONAL EFHCIENCY

INVESTMENT IN CONTENT SERYICES BUSINESSES EXFANSON

To learn more about our business strategy wvisit the Our strategy secoon page 06 m thes report

RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS PRACTICE LV

SUPPLY CHAIN

ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT PEOPLE OUR CUSTOMERS COMMUNITIES

Graphics removed

OUR VALUES

BRAVE IMAGINATIVE DECENT
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Our impact on society
conunued

|  rAISING LITERACY LEVELS

The economic and social cost of illiteracy 1s iImmense ~
affecting as many as two biflion people — it may be as
high as one trillion US dollars per year

literacy is a global challenge affecting both developed
and emerging countries For example, in the UK, 22%
of the population are deemed as functionally lliterate,
strugghng with basic tasks, such as applying for a job
by e-matt or reading therr child's school report The
cost to the UK alone 1s estimated at £8 billion a year

Our approach

Ralsing lneracy levels is one of our three focus
areas because

> Good reading skills are the basic cornerstone essential
for people to learn

» All our businesses depend on the prermise that people
can read and enjoy deing so

» Our mix of businesses means that we can make a
unique contribution to tackhing iliteracy

We play a part in three main ways

» Our reading programmes — both print and digital —
are found in classrooms the world over

» For many, the first story that they read or that is read
aloud to them will be a Penguin title

> We partner with others to run projects and
campaigns 1o give books and to inspire reading

Reading in the classroom

We have a full range of reading programmes destgned
to help students learn to read ‘Whether print or
online, whole school or for students that need a iittle
extra help, they all share a commitment to improving
the reading standards of indrvidual learners

CASE STUDY
iLit (inspire Literacy)

tLit is the first reading programme built and delvered
completely on thePad Launched in the United
States, it targets readers aged 9 to 16 and supports,
rewards and nstructs based around the needs of
the individual reader  iLitis currently avallable for
readers aged |4to |6 For more information about
1Lit and the research evidence that underpins it, vist

www redefiningliteracy com

—

Graphic removed

Reading in the home

Enthusiastic readers are inspired by great stories
Our Penguin books for children — Puffin, Frederick
Warne and Ladybird books — all provide plenty

of options

In this digrtal age, how we read and write may change
radically, but the abihity to do so ts more important
than ever ¥e believe i offering stories that are
engaging and fun, regardless of format, for parents
and their chiidren to read at home or on the move



CASE 5STUDY

Ladybird: 'm ready for phonics app

Gwing a child a reading head-start
before they start school helps

build confident readers New apps
such as Ladybird’s ‘I'm Ready for
Phonics' gives parents new ways
to help prepare a child for synthetic
phonics learning at school

Graphic
removed

Graphic removed

Partnering with others to encourage reading

Tackhling illiteracy demands that we work together m an
open and collaborative way We have focused on
butlding partnerships that extend access to books and
opportunities for shared reading Highlights include

» We gave our eght millionth book under our Booktime
programme which sees every child starting school in
England and Wales receive a book pack contaning two
free books to take heme and keep

» We Give Books, the digital reading chailenge run by
the Pearson Foundation, exceeded | 5 mitlion books
donated to hteracy charities around the world as
chosen by online readers

» We gave our one millionth book to Book Ard, the
charity that supports the development of Iibraries
in schools and communities in Sub-Saharan Africa
Ve were the largest book donor to Book Aid in 2012

~

w

~

~

~
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2 IMPROVING LEARNING OUTCOMES

Our responsibility as a company is to play our

full partin informing, shaping and making learning
effective for people of all ages, abilities and locations
This focus on learning outcomes i a crincal part of
our respensibdity vision

In the past, there were imitations on the extent
to which a textbook publisher selling products to
education institutions could measure their impact
on learming outcomes

Our strategy 1s to become an education technology
and solutions provider with global reach As the
strategy gathers pace, so do the opportunities to help
understand what works best to help students succeed
We recognise that as we become more directly
involved in the process of learning, we are more
accountable for outcomes

We have

Ceonducted nearly 50 reviews to assess and improve
learning outcomes and trained over 100 people in
the process

Run a series of events reaching over 1,200 people

and presented on our approach at the company senior
strategy conference and to the next generation of

our leaders

We will

Conduct at least 100 additional reviews to assess
the learning outcomes from our programmes
and services

Make 1t a precondition of any new investment of
USE3m or more that it s assessed for its impact
on learning

Make a senes of commitments around how we wil|
deepen and accelerate our approach to assessing
learning outcomes
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Our impact en society
continued

CASE STUDY

Pearson Affordable Learning Fund

A global challenge 1s how we can all ensure that every
chid can benefit from learning, but with over

&0 million children notin school, there 1s a need for
urgent Innovation We believe that low-cost private
education is part of the answer and that there 1
aneed to encourage newdeas, models and ways

of working So, we have launched the Pearson
Affordable Learruing Fund whose purpose s to make
minerity equity investments in for-profit companies
that help meet a burgeoning demand for affordable
education services in Africa, Asia and Latin America
The fund launched n July 2012 with $15 rmullion of
initial Pearson capital, and made tts first nvestment
ina chain of private schools in Ghana See more at
www affordable-learmng com

Graphic removed

3 CONTRIBUTING TO COMPETITIVENESS
The connection between education and long-term
economic growth is well-documented and mcreasingly
well understood

Helping individuals get ready for work

Getting a job depends on having relevant skills As
many countries continue to wrestle with the econemic,
social and personal cost of unemployment, parucularly
for the young, it is even more mportant that we help
people develop the skills they need for work

Securing a professional or vocational quaiification
1s animportant factor in getting 2 job We create
and administer millions of admissions, tests,
certifications, vocauonal assessments and general
qualfications inciuding

» BTEC, the vocational qualification recognised by

schools, colleges, universities, employers and
professional bodies across the United Kingdom and
in over {00 countries worldwide

» The Graduate Management Admission Test (GMAT),
the leading test for entrance to business schools and
management programmes woridwide

» NCLEX Nursing examination, required to obtain a
licence necessary to apply for work as a nurse in the
United States

CASE STUDY
Next Generation BTECs

Pearson {aunched MNext Generation BTECs, which
meet new regulator and Depariment for Education
critenia to make BTEC the best represented
vocational qualification on the new accountability
framework for schools in England

Sharing knowledge and investing in research

Few compartues participate in education on a global scale
s0 we have a respansibility to support educational
improvement and to actively share our experience on
models that work and those that do not

We have

» Mapped current research actvity and laid the
foundation to launch our online research portal

> Convened a Pearson Executive Research Council bringing
together the research professionals within Pearson

> Launched two publications with international acclaim
— The Learming Curve and Oceans of Innovation
www pearson com/oceans

We will

» Invest i research to help advance education as well
as Inform the products and services we develop

»> Partner with a range of organisations to conduct
educational research and promote the dissemination
of knowledge

» Promate open discussion through participating
in and convening conferences and events

> Make research outcomes publicly avalable via
www pearson com/research



CASE 5TUDY
The Learning Curve

This year, we supported the Econornist intelligence
Unit (U} in the development of The Learming Curve
The initiative brought together in one place a wide
range of data sets designed to enable researchers
and pohcymakers to correlate education outcomes
with wider social and economic impact more easly
than ever before As international benchmarking of
education systems has become ever more prevalent,
the Learning Curve has the potential to add to

our understanding of what successful education
systems lock like and how success can be achieved
thelearningcurve pearson com

Graphic removed

Contributing to debate

We are committed to playing an active role in helping
shape and inform the global debate around education
and learning policy

With the 2015 deadline for achieving the Mdlennium
Development Goals and Education for All Goals fast
approaching, it 1s certainly time to take stock on the
role that education has played and should play for the
future We have joined with a range of organisations
as an active member of the Global Compact on
Learning Ways we are helping include contributing
to developing and agreeing common metrics to
measure the success of the Global Compact

www brookings edu/learningmetrics

We are active participants mn the Global Partnership
for Education, having been one of the first companies
to join the initiative and make a pledge at its
replenishment conference GPE brings together over
50 developing countries, donor governments,
international organisations, the private sector,
teachers, and civil saciety/NGO groups to support
developing countries with their education sector pfans
through financial assistance and technical expertise
www globalpartnership org

~
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We also believe that the wider private sector has
an Important contribution to make in developing
education and learning policy We supported and
helped fund in 2012 the Global Business Coalition
for Education The aim s to help focus the wider
business community on helping tackle the challenges
faced by developing countries to promore learning
http //gbc-education org/about-us

Doing informed business

The FT Group is the leading provider of essential
information, nsight and analysis to the global business
and opinton-forming community Access to trusted
and informed information i1s the basis an which
businesses make effective decisions The FT plays a
unique global role in providing that mformaton

RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS PRACTICE

Under the current responsible business framework

at Pearson, we focus on the three areas where we
believe we have a unique opportunity to make a positive
impact — iteracy, learnimg outcomes and competitiveness

In addition, we adopt a broad and holistic definition of
‘responsible business’ that captures a series of priorities
that are common across many industrtes and indnidual
companies T hese nclude commitments to

Deliver agamst stakeholder expectations on the key
area of climate change and to seek to make better use
of resources

Exterd our principles on labour standards, human
rights and environmental responsibility to include
our suppliers and business partners

Ensure that our products and services are inclusive to
those with reading disabiities, approprate in content to
the age and location of the student and are safe to use

Provide a safe, healthy workplace, where our
employees are able to realise their own individual
potential and aspirations and where there is respect
for their privacy, dignity and Iife outside work

Provide opportunities for Pearson people to be good
citizens and to getinvolved in their local communities
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Qur impact on soclety
continued

Highlights of our activities in 2042 include

Environment. Climate change and avoiding deforestation

Chmate change remains a focus for us as one of the
most sertous Issues facing the planet Minimising our
awn environmental impactis not st the right thing
to do, 1t 1s fundamental to our future as a sustanable
business and helps deliver cost savings

We continue to be climate neutral, a commitment
which focuses the company on carbon reduction

Pearson 1s preparing for the introduction of mandatory
Greenhouse Gas reporting n 2014 We have just

been accredited against the Carbon Trust Standard
globally — one of only two companies that currently
hold that status

Qur second focus area 1s forests As a purchaser
of paper and newsprint for our books, magazines
and newspapers, security and sustainabiity of
supply are very important to us We have forused
on actively encouraging responsible forest
management and being more efficient in how

we use paper

Pearson was named the 32nd largest purchaser

of renewable energy in the United States in the

US Environmental Protection Agency Green Power
Partnership ist We offset 100% of the electricity
we use in North America through the purchase

of wind power credits frorn across the Urited States
and have invested in a project to mnstall solar panels
in schools in Califorma Our UK buildings — where
we are responsible for purchasing utlities — are also
powered by green electricity

-

> Pearson came top in the 2012 Corporate Renewable
Energy Index (CREX) produced by Bloomberg New
Energy Finance We were one of 35 global companies
to achieve a maximum score of 100%

» Pearson businesses in the UK and Austraha are
certified against SO 14001, the environmental
management standard

» In the US, Pearson facihities are focusing on securing
LEED — Leadership in Energy and Environmentaf
Design certification LEED recognises excellence
in the design, construcueon, and operation of fugh
performance green buildings Over 800,000 sq ft
across six Pearson buldings are LEED cerufied

> We now have 2 IMW in an-site renewable energy
assets (solar panels and wind) at our facilities

> Pearson and the FT committed to a $Im three-year
ramnforest partnership in Colombia Wealso
continued to vest n Woodland Carbon offsets
offered by the Woodland Trustin the UK and in a
Nature Conservancy Counail forest offset project
in the United States

The Financial Times has reduced the volume of
newsprint and magazine papers it uses by over 50%
in five years A key imtiative has been to reduce the
base weight of the papers used

~

CASE STUDY

Tom Delay,

Chief Executive, Carbon Trust

"As only the second organisation
ever to achleve global certfication

to the Carbon Trust Standard -

by no means an easy task — Pearson
1s demonstrating real leadership in
how to measure, manage and reduce
carbon emissions year-on-year”

Graphsc
removed

Our customers, our people and our communites

Responsible business practice cuts across all aspects
of our company and our focus 1s to integrate this into
the way we manage our businesses This benefits our
customers, suppliers, the people that work at Pearson
and the communities \n which we operate

Highhghts of our activities 1n 2012 are

[

Pearson conunued with its programme of Student
Advisory Boards, providing an opportunity for
students to mput and mfluence our strategy in return
for rmentoring and company internships

-

Building on Pearson operations in the UK becoming
accredited against 15O 18001, the international health
and safety standard, a two-year project to review
and update our global approach to health & safety
management was started n 2012

~

Pearson in the US has been included in Working
Mother magazine's |00 Best Companies list forts
twelfth year

~

The Pearson Diversiy Summer Internship Programme
won the "Widening the Talent Pooi’ category in the
Race for Opportunity awards



¥

~

~

Providing an opportunity for our employees to share
in the success of the company through owning a part
of it is important to us Over 37,000 people in

9B countres have the opportunity to acquire and hold
Pearson shares through participation in our employee
share programmes | in 5 employees participate

Pearson, alongside chanty partner Booktrust, won
a 2012 Lord Mayor's Dragon Award in the education
category for the Booktime programme

The Financial Times seasonal appeal raised $4 89m
on behalf of The Global Fund for Children, a chanty
working to transform the lives of the world's most
vulnerable children

CASE STUDY
The Pearson Foundation

The Pearson Foundation s an independent charity
that aims to make a difference by promoting Iiteracy,
learning, and great teaching The Pearson Foundation
15 the charity partner of choice for Pearson and we
are its major funder Three huighlights from the
Pearson Foundation year in 2012 were

» The faunch of “Five Things Fve Learned’ The
project shares the thoughts of educauon leaders
drawn from decades of real-world experience
and insights about learmung, teaching, and helping
others Avadable at www thefivethings org

» Read for the Record broke two world records
Nearly 2 4 milion people read Lady Bug Gwrl
and the Bug Squad on the same day wath almost
400,000 of them reading the book online at
www wegivebooks org Read for the Record
1s run in partnership with the chanty Jumpstart

> BridgelT, a partnership between the Pearson
Foundation and Nokisa has reached over | midlion
children and their teachers across ten developing
and emerging countries BridgelT uses mobife
phones to deliver professional development
materals and educational resources to teachers

Graphic removed
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Values, principles and behaviour

The bedrock of corporate responsibility is the culture
of the company We are defined by our values —n
everything we do, we aspire to be brave, imaginative
and decent

Our values are underpinned by our Code of Conduct
that covers, among other things, indmidual conduct,
the environment, employees, community and society
We make sure everyone i1s aware of and understands
the code Once a year, everyone workang for Pearson
gets a copy from the CEQ, either electronically or on
paper and 1s asked to read it Everyone s asked to
confirm that they have read it, understood it and that
the company complies with it and, as a further check,
1t1s mandatory for over 2,000 of our most senior
people to respond to that request The code forms

a part of induction and an onlme trarmng module s
avarlable If anyone has concerns, these can be raised
with a line manager or through a free, confidental
telephone line/website

Pearson has a zero tolerance policy towards bribery
and corruption Our policy introduced in 2011 sets out
our standards, we carry out risk assessments and have
a network of designated managers across the business
responsible for comphance with our policy

We are commitied 10 making sure ocur people
understand how we are doing as a company, including
how world trends might affect both them and the
businesses This means prowiding comprehensive
relevant informatton in a variety of ways — including
regular presentations from senior executives — and
consulung where appropriate so that we can learn
and take into account the views of our people

We will always aim to seek the best candidate for
arole career progression will be without regard for
race, gender, age, physical ability, religion or sexual
orientation, and we will continue to monitor and
benchmark our progress on diversity and inclusion
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Our impact on society
contnued

External benchmarks

One way we assess how we are doing as a responsible business 1s to mamtain our position in key indices and
benchmarks of social responsibility

0] 10H 2010 2009

Dow Jones Sustainability Indexes Goldclass Gold dass and global sector leader

BITC Corporate Responsibilivy Index Platinum {retaned) Platinum Platinurn {retaned)

inclusion in FTSE4Good Yes

Seven commitments

Last year, we set out seven challenging aspirations and targets to help focus the business on achieving

our responsible business vision while minimitsing cur environmental impact We believe this is a responstble
and sustainable approach We report on our progress against these and other commitments as part of our
online Impact on Society report at http //cr2Q12 pearson com

ENVIROMMENT
Chailenges Qur commitment How we measure progress
Climate change Through carbon
reduction purchase
of renewable
To maincain our engrpy renewable
COMMILMment energy generation
o chmate neutrabity  at our sites and the Graph removed
2013 Lastyear purchase of carbon
marked our third offsets
year of chimate
neutrality

Resource use We rack the total
metnc tonnes of
paper we use and
To be ever more how that compares
efficient in how o revenue p
WE use paper a5 raph removed
the most significant The paper used per
natural resource £lm of non-dagital
forus revenue increased
n 2012 reflecung
ashift to digial

services




e

ENVIRONMENT
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Challenges Qur commitment How we measure progress
Avording global We track and
deforestation 3 report the FSC
volume we
To use FSC papers purchase and the
where we can and gradmg system we
our own grading use to meet our Graph removed
systern requrement to
purchase from
known responstble
sources
SOCIAL

Investing in content

4

To make sustained
invesyment in new
content

Pre-publication
expenditure
and authors
advances

Graph removed

Access to learning,

®

One way we extend

teracy and great our reach is through
teaching partnerships with
To mantaln our Ineracy and learning
total community charfues We
investrnent at report on our Graph removed
1% or more of community
operating profit investrnent spend
Literacy 6 Number of books
donated to schools
ibranes and iteracy
Using 2010 as our charities
base, to expand
our book gifung Graph removed
activines

-

Growing take-up
of digrtal-based
reading

Unlike traditional
print programmes
wecan track the
number of users of
cur digital reading
programmes

Graph removed
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Board of directors

Pearson’s board brings a
wide range of experience,
skills and backgrounds.

CHAIRMAN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Graphic removed

Graphic removed

Graphic removed

Gien Moreno Chairman
aged 69, appointed | October 2005

Chairman of the nomination committee
and member of the remuneraton
committee

Glen has more than three decades

of experience in business and finance,
and 15 currently deputy chairman of
The Financial Reporung Counal Limited
in the UK and non-executive director
of Fidelity International Limited
Previously Glern was deputy charrman
and semor independent director at
Lloyds Banking Group ple, semor
independent director of Man Group
plc and acting chairman of UK Finanaial
Investments Limited, the company

set up by HM Treasury to manage

the government’s shareholdings in
Briush banks

John Fallon Chief executive
aged 50, appointed 3 October 2012

Member of the nominaton committee

John became Pearson’s chief executive on
I fanuary 2013 Since 2008 he had been
responsible for the company’s education
businesses outside North Amenca and
amember of the Pearson management
committee He jouned Pearson m 1997

as director of commurucations and was
appointed president of Pearson Inc | a role
he combined with bus communications
responsibihites, in 2000 In 2003 he was
appornted CEO of Pearson’s educauonal
publishing businesses for Europe, Middle
East & Africa (EMA) and gradually ook
on a broader internationaf education
brief Prior to joiming Pearson, John was
director of corporate affairs at Powergen
ple where he was also a member of the
comparny s executive committee Earler
in fus career, John held sentor public pohcy
and communrcations roles in UK local
government

Will Ethndge Chief executive,
Pearson North American Educaton
aged 61, appointed | May 2008

Will has three decades of expenence

in education and educational publishing,
mcluding a decade and a half at Pearson
where he formerly headed our Higher
Educanon Internauonal and Professionat
Publishing business Prior to joining
Pearsonin 1998 Willwas a semor
executive at Prenbce Hall and Addison-
Wesley and before that an editor at
Little, Brown and Co where he published
in the fields of economics and pohtics
Willis a board member and former
charman of the Association of Amencan
Publishers (AAP) and board chairman of
CourseSmart, a consoruum of electromnic
textbook publishers
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Graphic removed

Graphic removed

Graphic removed

Rona Fairhead Chairman of
the Finanaal Times Group
aged 51, appointed | June 2002

Rona who has headed the Financial
Times Group since 2006 and 15 2 former
finance director of Pearson, will step
down from the Pearson board and

leave the company at the annual general
meeting in Apn| 2013 She previously
held senior management roles at
specialty chermcals company IC! plc, and
in aerospace with Bombardier/Shorts
She has an MBA from Harvard Business
School Rona currently serves as non-
executive director of The Cabinet Office
of UK government and of H$BC Holdings
plc where she chairs the nsk committee
She 1s also a member of the Cambndge
University Library Visrung Commuttee
She was made a Commander of the
Briish Empire 1n 2012

Robin Freestone Chief financial officer
zged 54, appointed 12 June 2006

Robin's expenence in management
and accounting includes a previcus
role as group financial controlier of
Amersham pic (now part of General
Electric) and senior financial positions
with ICI ple Zeneca and Henkel UK
He joined Pearson in 2004 as deputy
chief finantial officer and became chief
financral officer in June 2006 Robin
qualified as a chartered accountant with
Touche Ross {now Deloitte), and Is
currently a non-executve director and
founder shareholder of eChem Limited
Robin sits on the Advisory Group of the
ICAEWY s Financial Reporting Facuity and
, 1s chasrman of The Hundred Group of
Finance Directors

John Makinson Chairman and chief
executtve of The Penguin Group
aged 58, appointed 15 March 1996
John’s diverse background spans business
consultancy, financial journalism and
pubhshing He was finance director of
Pearson before heading Penguin, and
previously served as managng director
of the Finanoal Times newspaper, where
he had earlier served as editor of the
popular Lex column John co-founded
Makinson Cowell, an international
financial consultancy, and was vice
chairman of the US holding company

of adverusing firm Saatch & Saatch
Johnis chairman of the National Theatre
and has been named chairman-designate
of Penguin Random House, the consumer
publishing venture planned by Pearson
and Bertelsmann
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Board of directors
continued

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pearson plc Annual report and accounts 2012

Graphic remaved

Graphic remaved

Graphic removed

David Arculus Non-executive director
aged 66 appointed 28 February 2006

Charman of the remuneraton committee
and member of the audit and normunation
committees

Dawid has experience in banking
telecommunications and publishing in a fang
career inbusiness Currently hess charman
of Aldermore Bank plc Numis Corporation
plc and the Adwisory Board of the Batsh
Library Dawd s previous roles incfude the
chairmanship of O, ple, Severn Trent plc and
IPC Group as well as chief operating officer
of United Business Media ple, group
managing director of EMAP plec and anon-
exeautive director of Tefefonica S A Dawid
served fram 2002 to 2006 as chairman of
the Briush povernment s Better Regulaton
Task Force which worked on reducing
burdens on business

Vivienne Caox Senior independens director
aged 53 appointed | Janwary 2012

Member of the audsit, reruneranon
and nomination committaes

Vivienne has wide experience in energy
natural resources and business innovation
She worked for BP plc for 28 years, inBritain
and continental Europe i postsincluding
executive vice president and chief executive
of BP's Gas, Power & Renewables business
and its Alternative Energy unit She s non-
executive director of mining company Rio
Tinto plc energy company BG Group plc
and Vallourec, which supplies tubular
systemns for the energy industry She s also
lead independent director at the UK
Department for International Development
Vivienne sits on the board of INSEAD and
15 a commissioner of the Atrports
Commission which was set up by the UK
government Lo examine any requirements
for additional UK airport capacity

Graphic removed

Graphic removed

Ken Hydon Non-execunve director
aged 68 appointed 28 February 2006

Chairman of the audit committee
and member of the remuneration
and nomination ¢ommittees

Ken's experience in finance and business
nchudes roles in electronics consumer
products and healthcare He s a non-
executive director of Reckitt Benckiser
Group ple, one of the warld s leading
manufacturers and marketers of branded
products in household cleaning and health
and personalcare From 2004 to 2013 he
was a non-executive director of Tesco plc
Previously Ken was chref financial officer of
Vodafone Group ple and financial director
of subsidiaries of Racal Electronics

Josh Lewas Non-execuuve director
aged 50, appointed | March 2011

Member of the audit and nomination
committees

Josh’s experience spans finznce, education
and the development of dipital enterprises
He s founder of Salmon River Capital LLC
a New York based private equity/venture
capial firm focused on technology-enabled
businesses in education, financal services
and other sectors Qver a 25 year career
inactive principal investng, he has been
involved in a broad range of successful
compames Inciuding ceveral pioneertng
enterprises in the education sector
Inadditton he has long beenacuve In the
non-profit education sector with assoiations
inciuding New Leaders New Classrooms,
and the Bilt & Mehnda Gates Foundaton

He 1s also a non executve director of
eVestment and Axsoma both financial
technology comparwes Parchment, an
education data company, and PenGen a
healthcare mformation technology provider

Susan Fuhrman Moncexecuuve directos
aged 68, appointed 27 july 2004

Member of the audit and nominauon
committees

Susan's extensive expenience in education
ncludes her current role as president of
Teachers College at Columbia University,
Amencas oldest and fargest graduate school

., ofeducation Shes president of the

National Academy of Educausn and was
previously dean of the Graduate School of
Educauon at the University of Pennsylvania
and on the board of trustees of the Carnegre
Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching




Company Number- 53723

Chairman’s letter

Dear shareholders

This year, we are reporting, as is required, against the
2010 ediwon of the UK Corporate Governance Code
{the Code) We have endeavoured, where possible,
to report in the spint of the 2012 Code which will
only apply for reporting periods beginning on or after
| October 2012

As | have highhghted elsewhere within this report,
Pearson 1§ currently undergoing a period of transition
in its leadership following the appointment of john
Fallon as our new chief executve, and | would like to
take this opportunity to share with you further details
of the recent and forthcoming changes to our board
as well as providing an insight nto how the

board operates

The Pearson board consists of serior executive
management alongside a strong group of non-executive
directors drawn from successful intemational
businesses and education insututions with experience
of corporate strategy, education, consumer marketing
and technology

We are contmually assessing and refreshing the board
to ensure we mamntain an appropriate balance and
diversity of skills and experience

In addition to Marjorie Scardino's departure as chief
executive, at the end of 2012 we also said goodbye to
Patrick Cescau, who served on the board for over ten
years, including three years as our semor independent
director The board joins me in thanking Patrick for his
commitment and invaluable contribution to Pearson
as we have navigated our intemational expansion

Following Patrick's departure, we are pleased to
confirm that Vivienne Cox has been appointed as
senior mdependent director We welcome Vivienne
to the role and believe that her broad commerctal
knowledge and expenence both as an executive and
non-executive director make her highly surtable for
this position

As announced late last year, Rona Fairhead wilt be
stepping down from the board, and from her role as
charrman of The Financiai Times Group, to pursue
other opportunities Rona handed over her
responsibifities as chief executive of the FT to

John Ridding at the end of 2012 Rona has played

an important role during her |2-year career at Pearson
having held a number of sentor roles within the group,
and we wish her continued success in the next phase
of her career
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Pearson has a wealth of talent within its workforce
with a diverse and experienced semor management
team heading the company's operations To
complement our strong management structure,

we believe that the most effective board is one which
maximises the contributions of non-executive
directors, adding a wide range of valuable external
perspectives and encouraging robust, open debate
over significant business 1ssues Our goal 1s to mprove
the balance of independent non-executive directors on
the board, while retaining an overall board size which 15
manageable and effective To this end, we are actively
seeking additonat non-executive directors whao bring
experuse In education, emerging markets and digital
technologies to continue to drive our strategy and
vision, whilst ensuring the board adheres to Pearson's
core values We are keen to mamtain the gender
diversity of the board in light of recent and forthcoming
departures and, consequently, the nomination
commuttee 15 actively seeking to ydentify suitable
female candidates

The board s deeply engaged in developing and
rmeasuring the company's long-term strategy,
performance and value We organise our work around
four major themes where we believe the board can
add value governance, strategy, business performance
and people Our board calendar and agenda provide
ample time to focus on these themes and we have set
out some examples of the business considered by the
board, as well as the governance practices to which we
adhere, on the pages that follow

We hope this report clearly sets out how your
company Is run, and how we align governance

and our board agenda with the strategic direction
of Pearson We always welcome questions or
comments from shareholders, either via our website
{(www pearson com) or In person at our annual
shareholders’ meeting

Signature removed

Glen Moreno Chairman
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Board governance

Corporate governance

Introduction

The board believes that during 2012 the company was
m full comphance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code (the Code) A detarled account of the provisions
of the Code can be found on the FRC's website at
www frc org uk and we encourage readers to view
our compliance schedule on the company website at
www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
information/governance

The board embraces the Code's underlying principles
with regard to board balance and dwersity and the
normination committee, led by the charman, 15 actively
seekung additional suitable canddates who possess the
right mix of knowledge, skills and experence to
enhance debate and decision-making

Composition of the board

The board currently consists of the chairman,

Glen Moreno, five executive directors including the
chief executive, John Fallon, and five ndependent
nan-executive directors

As reported, Rona Fairhead will step down from the
board at the forthcoming AGM Additionally, subject
to completion of the Penguin Random House venture,
John Makmson will be appointed as chairman of
Penguin Random House and 1t 15 intended that he will
step down from the Pearson board at that tme

Chairman and chief executive

There 1s a defined split of responsibilities between the
chairman and the chief executive The chairman is
primartly responsible for the leadership of the board
and ensurmg s effecuveness, the chief executive 1s
responsible for the operational management of the
business and for the development and implementation
of the company’s strategy as agreed by the board
The roles and responsibilities of the chatrman and
chief execuuve are clearly defined, set out in writing
and reviewed and agreed by the board annually

Chairman

in May 2012, Glen Moreno stood down from his rele
as deputy chairman and semor independent director
of Uoyds Banking Group Apart from this, there were
no changes to the chairman's sgnificant commitments
during the course of 2012

Senor independent director

Vavienne Cox 1s the company’s senior ndependent
director, having been appointed to the role on

I January 201 3 following Patrick Cescau's resignation
from the board

Vuenne's role will include meeting regularty with the
chairman and chief executive to discuss specific 1ssues,
e g strategy, attending meetings with major
shareholders to understand any 1ssues or concerns
they may have, as well as being avallable to
shareholders generally If they should have concerns
that have not been addressed through the normal
channels In her first year with Pearson, Vivienne has
been instrumental in the introduction of the board’s
reputation and responsibifity committee, which she
chairs, and in improving the quality of health and safety
reporting to the board

BDuring 2012, Patrick Cescau held separate sessions
with the other non-execuuve directors and the

chief executive to appraise the performance of the
chairman, including in refation to the effectiveness of
the nomination committee Following his departure in
December, Patnck was mvited back in February 2013
to conduct simular sessions in respect of the chairman's
performance during 2012 as part of the annual board
evaluation process Vivienne, as senior independent
director, will then take responsibility for appraising the
charman’s performance during 2013 and beyond

The semor independent director would be expected
to chair the nommation committee in the event that
it was considering succession to the role of chairman
of the board

Independence of directors

All of the non-execuuve directors were constdered by
the board to be independent for the purposes of the
Code during the year ended 31 December 2012

The baard reviews the independence of sach of

the non-executive directors annually This includes
reviewing their external appointments and any
potential conflicts of interest as well as assessing thewr
ndividual circumstances i order to ensure that there
are no relationships or circumstances likely to affect
their character or judgement

Susan Fuhrman has now served on the board for more
than erght years Throughout that ume, Susan, as

a leader in educational reform and efficacy, has made a
very positive contribution to our board and committee
work Susan has indicated that she intends to stand
down from the board at the 2014 AGM
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Conflicts of interest

Since October 2008, directors have had a statutory
duty under the Companies Act 2006 (the Act) to avoid
conflicts of interest with the company The company's
Articles of Association {Articles) alflow the directors

to authorise conflicts of interest The company has
established a procedure to identify actual and potential
conflicts of interest, including all directorships or other
appotntments to, or relatonships with, companies
which are not part of the Pearson Group and which
could give rise to actual or potential canflicts of
mterest Once notfied to the charrman or company
secretary, such conflicts are considered for
authonisation by the board at its next scheduled
meeting The relevant director cannot vote on an
authorisation resolution, or be counted in the quorum,
in relatron to the resolution relating to his/her conflict
ar potential conflict The board reviews any
authonsations granted on an annual basis

Board meeungs

The board held six scheduled meeungs in 2012, with
some meetings taking place over two or more days

In recent years, we have developed our board meeting
agenda to ensure that board discussion and debate 15
centred on the key strategic 1ssues facing the company
Over the course of 2012 the major items covered

by the board included

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE. 23 FEBRUARY 2012, LONDCN

» 2011 report and accounts and dwidend
recommendation

> 2012 operating plan

> Risk assessment and review of mitigating actions

» Annual review of authonsed conflicts

» Review of division of responsibilities between
chairman and chief executive

» Review of treasury policy

» Presentation by Sir Michael Barber on efficacy,
research and educational reform
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GOVERNANCE AND SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
16 AND 27 APRIL 2012, LONDON

> Focus on forthcorming AGM and review of
shareholder 1ssues

> Findings of external report on shareholders’ views

> Review of corporate social responsibility

> Board effectiveness review

» Acquisiion of Certiport

» Acquisition of Global English

STRATEGY 4 5 AND 6 JUNE 2012, SAO PAULO

» Strategy discussions — review of Braziian
education business

> Review of Pearson's 'Leading on Standards’ publication
on the future of examinations in Britain

» Acquisition of Author Soluuons, Inc

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE. 25 AND 26 JULY 2012 LONDON

» Interim resuits and dividend approval

» Post-acquisition reviews

» Discusston on formation of reputation and
responsibility committee

» Acquisttion of Inframation Group

STRATEGY 4 OCTOBER 2012, LONDON

» Trading update

» Five-year strategic plan

» Review of standing committee terms of reference

» Acquisition of EmbanetCompass

» Discussion of Penguin Random House venture

» John Fallon’s first meeting foilowing his appointment
to the board

STRATEGIC PLAN: 6 DECEMBER 2012, NEVWY YORK

» Strategic plan ~ India business

» Options for Pearson in Practice business

» Risk assessment and review of mitigating actions

» Trienmal valuation of UK defined benefit pension fund

» Annual review of chief executive authornsation himits
and procedures

» Review of chief executive transition
'n addivon to the six scheduled meetings, the board
held one further full meeting to approve the Pengumn
Random House venture and undertook
discussions as reqiired to consider the terms
of corporate transactions
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Board governance continued

The following table sets aut the attendance of the
company's directors at board and committee meetings
during 2012

Audit Rem Narn
Board ¢ommittes commuttes commities

mestngs Meetings  mestings  meetings
(max &) (max4)  (max§)  (max 6)

Chairman
Glen Moreno 6 - [ &
Executive directors
Marjorie Scardino & - - 6
Will Ethndge & - - -
Jehn Fallon* 2 - - -
Rona Farhead 5 - - -
Robin Freestone 6 - - -
John Makinson 6 - - ~
Non-execuuve
directors
Dawid Arculus & 4 [ 6
Patrick Cescau** 6 2 3 6
Vivienne Cox 5 4 5 5
Susan Fuhrman 6 4 - 6
Ken Hydon 6 4 A 3
Josh Lewis 4 - I3

*appointed ta the board an 3 Octaber 2012

*stood down from audit and remuneration committees
on 30 April 2012

The role and business of the board

The board 1s deeply engaged n developing and
measuring the company's long-term strategy,
performance and value We believe that it adds

a valuable and diverse set of external perspectives
and that robust, open debate about significant
business 1ssues brings a valuable additional discipline
to major decisions

A schedute of formal matters reserved for the board's
decision and approval is avalable on our website,

at www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
informauon/governance

A standing committee of the board has been
established to approve certain ordinary course of
business items such as banking matters, guarantees,
ntra-group transactions and employee share plan
matters The committee has written terms of
reference, reviewed and approved annually, which
clearly set out ts authority and duties These can be

found on the company webstte at
www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
nformation/ govermance

The board recerves timely, regular and necessary
financial, management and other informaton to fulfil us
duties Comprehensive board papers are circulated to
the board and committee members at least one week
n advance of each meeting and the board receves
monthly reports from the chief executive 1n addition
to meeung papers, a library of current and histone
corporate information 1s made avalzble to directors
electronucally to support the board's decision-making
process Dhrectors can obtain independent professional
advice, at the company’s expense, 1 the performance
of their duties as directors All directors have access to
the advice and services of the company secretary

Non-executive directors meet with local serior
management every time board and committee
meetings are held at the locattons of operating
companies This allows the non-executive directors

to share their experience and expertise with senior
managers and also enables the non-executive directors
to better understand the abilwes of seniar
management, which i turn will help thern assess the
company's prospects and plans for succession

Succession planning

The board views succession planning — not only at
board and executive commmttee level but for all key
positrons throughout the business - as one of its pnme
responsibitines Tius is especially the case in a creatve
business like Pearson which 1s heavily dependent on
talented people

It 1s our intention to devote ane full meeting each year
to organisation structure and successton planning, and
how they suppart the delvery of our strategic goals
During 2012, the board's succession planming activittes
focused on the role of chief executive In a typical year
however, we look in detail at 20 to 30 of the most
sentor roles in Pearson, ensuning that there are several
credible candidates for each role Those candidates will
be welt known to the board - who spend considerable
ume wvisiting our businesses and people outside the
regular schedule of board meetings ~ and will have
devetopment plans in place to round out their
experience and skills and grve them every possible
chance of progressing their careers
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Board evaluation

The board conducts an annual review of its
effectiveness For the review of 201 |, conducted
during the early part of 2012, the chairman met with
each of the directors, executive and non-executive, on
a one-to-one basis to discuss the board’s effectiveness
and progress made against objectives He also took the
opportunity to discuss with each director their
ndividual training and development needs

Following that review, the chairman presented his
findings at the April 2012 board meeting He noted
that from his one-to-one sessions with each of the
directors he was able to conclude that the board
members beheve that they work well together, that the
board culture 15 good, that they add value as a board,
focus on the right things and that they have a good mx
of both people and skills He also detailed how the
board might improve its effectiveness, and explaned
that a commeon theme in his discusstons related to the
board’s understanding of reputational and other risks

Following that review the sentor management team
was tasked with thinking about how the board might
gan a deeper understanding of the reputational risks
that affect the business, and later in the year, as a direct
result of therr recommendation, the board formed the
reputation and responsibility committee The purpose
of this committee is to have oversight of Pearson's
strategy and our plans to build and protect our
corporate reputation, and the reputation of our major
brands The comemittee membership includes two
non-executive directors, the chief executive and the
director of communications, it reports regularly to the
board and meets on a quarterly basis The committee
held us first meeting in December 2012, and the
agenda for that meeting included a consideration of
Pearson’s major reputational nsks, and a focus on the
public affairs team in North America

During the course of the year the executive directors
were also evaluated by the chief executive on therr
performance aganst personal objectives under the
company's apprarsal mechanism A proportion
(which for 2012 may be up to 20%} of the total annual
incentive opportunity is based on functional,
operational, strategic and non-financial objectives
relevant to the executives’ specific area of
responsibility The chairman leads the assessment of
the chief executrve and the non-executive directors,
ted by the senior independent director, conduct a
review of the chairman’s performance

Section 4 Governance L1

In addition to the review of the board and indmdual
directors, the audit and remuneration committees each
undergo an annual evaluation process to review their
performance and effectiveness The process covers
areas such as roles and responsibilities, quality and
umelness of meeung materials, opportunity for
discussion and debate, dialogue with management

and access to independent advice

For the board effectiveness review of 2012, the
charrman s planfung to spend ume with the senior
independent director tafking about their plans for the
board in terrns of structure and focus for the coming
year as well as reviewing the previous board evaluation
to ensure that recommendations have been followed
through They will also start to plan a more structured,
external evaluaton of 2013

Last year, we reported that the board's evaluation
process had highlighted 2 need to deepen the board's
knowledge of emerging markets Building on this, the
board visited Brazil in 2012 to learn first hand about
the Group's Latn American operations and strategy

CASE 5TUDY

Brazl
Graphic removed

In june 2012, the Pearson board held a three

day meeting in S3o Paulo, Brazil The purpose

of this board meeting was to review our
businesses in Brazil, and to better understand

the opportunities in the Latin American education
market During their three day stay, the board
met with key local management of all our
businesses operaung m Brazil, including the
recently acquired Companhia das Letras business
(Pearson acquired 45% in January 2012), as well
as with semior executives and the regional heads
of Pearson’s Latin America operation

The board also met with former President Lula to
discuss Braziian education policy Whilst in Brazil,
the board visited a school to learn first-hand
about the benefits of the Brazilian sistema method
of education, and a university where an nteractive
panel session was hald involving university
professors, business students and certain board
members During 2013 the board plans to have
similar meetings with local businesses in South
Afirica and the US
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Board governance conunued

Directors’ traning and induction

Directors receve a signficant bespoke induction
programme and a range of informauon about Pearson
when they jomn the board This includes background
information on Pearson and details of board procedures,
directors’ responsibibties and various governance-refated
1ssues, induding procedures for dealing m Pearson shares
and therr legal abhgatons as directors The inductron also
includes a series of meetings with members of the board,
presentations regarding the business from senior
executives and a briefing on Pearson's investor

relatons programme

The directors’ training 1s supplemented with
presentations about the company's operations, by
holding board meetngs at the locations of operating
compantes and by encouraging the directors to visit
operating companies and local management as and when
their scheduie allows The company secretary monitors
developments in governance and directors’ fiduciary
duties and updates the board on such matters as agreed
with the chairman Directors can also make use of
external courses

Directors’ indemmities

In accordance with section 232 of the Act, the company
grants an indemnity to all of its directors The indemnity
relates 1o costs ncurred by them m defendmg any cvil or
cnminal proceedings and i connection with an
application for relief under sections 661(3) and (4) or
sections | 157(1)-(3} of the Act, so long as monies are
repaid not later than when the outcome becomes final if
(i} they are convicted in the proceedings, (n) judgment 1s
given aganst them, or (ni) the court refuses to grant the
relief sought.

The company has purchased and mamntains directors’
and officers’ insurance cover aganst certan legal habimes
and costs for daims in connection with any act or
omission by such directors and officers in the execution
of their duties

Sharehaolder engagement

Pearson has an extensive programme of communication
with 2l of 1ts shareholders ~ large and small, insututional
and private

tn 2012, we continued with our shareholder outreach
programme, seeing approxtimately 650 institutional and
private investars at more than 350 different institutions n
Australia, Canada, China, Conunental Europe, Japan,
Malaysia, Singapore, South Korea, the UK and the US

There are five trading updates each year and the chief
executve and chief finanoat officer present our
prelimmary and interum results updates They also attend
regular meetings throughout the year with investors both
in the UK and around the world, tatlored to investor
requirements, to discuss the performance of the
company, the company's strategy, structural changes in
our markets and risks and oppartunities for the future

The chairman meets regularty with significant
shareholders to understand any issues and concerns they
may have This 1s in accordance with both the Code and
the UK Stewardship Code The non-executive directors
meet informally with shareholders both before and after
the AGM and respond to shareholder quenes and
requests as necessary The chairman ensures that the
board is kept tinformed of principal nvestors’ and
adwvisers’ views on strategy and corporate governance

We also have an established programme of educational
serninars for our mstitutronal shareholders focusing

on ndividual parts of Pearson These seminars are
availabile to all shareholders via webcast on

WWW DERISON COM

Private investors represent over 80% of the shareholders
on our register and we make a concerted effort o
engage with thermn regularly Shareholders who cannot
attend the AGM are invited to email questions to the
chairman in advance at glenmoreno-agm@pearson com

We encourage our private shareholders to become
more informed Investors and have provided a wealth of
information on our website about managing Pearson
shareholdings, see

www pearsan com/investors/ shareholder-information
for further nformation, or tum to p181 of this report.
We also encourage all shareholders, who have not
already done so, to register ther emarl addresses through
our website and with our registrar This enables them to
receve email alerts when trading updates and other
important announcements are added to our website

We post all company announcernents on our website,
WwWw pearson com, as soon as they are released, and
major shareholder presentations are made accessible
via webcast or conference call Our website contans

a dedicated investor relations section with an extensive
archive of past announcements and presentations,
historical financiat performance, share price data and

a calendar of events It also includes information about
all of our businesses, links to their websites and details
of our corporate responsibility pokcies and actvities
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We are commutted to ensuring that all our
shareholders receve their dvidends and dunng 2012
we informed any shareholder who had outstanding
unclaimed dividends of the amounts owed to them
and how they could claim these To this end, during
the year, we also reminded shareholders of our
dwidend mandate service which enables UK and many
overseas shareholders to receive dividends directly
nto ther nominated bank account, and we inwite any
shareholders who have not yet done so to cansider
using this method for dadend payrments

We recently provided shareholders with smaller
holdings the opportunity to use our registrar’s low-cost
share dealing service, giving them the chance to add to
or reduce their stake in Pearson at significantly reduced
dealng rates, or to donate shares to charity with ease
This service proved very popular with shareholders,
and consequently we ntend to offer this service again
at a future date

We believe it 1s important that our employees have
a shared interest in the direcuen and achievements
of Pearson and are pleased to say that a large number
of our employees are shareholders in the company

Our AGM — which will be held on 26 Apnl this year
— 15 an opportunity for all shareholders to meet the
board and to hear presentations about Pearson’s
businesses and results

BOARD AND COMMITTEE FRAMEWORK

BOARD

— Chatrman
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Board committees

The board has established three formal committees
the nomination committee, the remuneration
committee and the audit committee The chairmen
and members of these committees are appointed
by the board on the recommendation (where
appropriate} of the nommation commuttee and in
consultation with each relevant committee chairman

In addition to these board committees, three further
committees operate with board nput. the Pearson
management comnuttee (PMC), the standing
committee and the recently-established reputation
and responsibility committee

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chairman Glen Moreno

Members David Arculus, Vivienne Cox, fohn Fallon,
Susan Fuhrman, Ken Hydon, josh Lewis and Glen Moreno

The nomination committee meets at least once a year
and as and when required The committee primarily
maonttors the composition and balance of the board
and its committees, and identifies and recommends to
the board the appointment of new directors and/or
committee members

- Five executve directors
- Five non-executive

directors

oo e e R M e e e e [P ———

AUDIT COMMITTEE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

i
H
Chated by Ken Hydon E Charred by David Arculus
i
— Five non-executive ? - Chairman
directors d - Three non-executive
directors

REFUTATION AND
RESFONSIBILITY COMMITTEE

STANDING COMMITTEE

|
L

ribeee ey

NOMINATION COMMITTEE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Chalred by Glen Morenc

— Chasrman

— Cheef executive

— Five non-executve
directors

PEARSON MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

The schedule of matters reserved for the board and the terms of reference of the 2udint remuneration,
nomination and standing committees are avalable at www pearson com/investors/shareholder-information/governance
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Board governance continued

During 2012, the commuttee’s primary focus was the
appointment of Pearson’s new chief executrve
following Marjorie Scardino’s decision to step down at
the end of 2012, and consequently the commuttee met
six times during the course of the year At its February
meeting, the committee reviewed succession planning
for non-executive and executive board positions and
senior management, as well as board committee
membership

The committee ensures that the directors of Pearson
demonstrate a broad balance of skills, experience,
independence, knowledge and diversity {Including
gender diversity) There are currently three female
directors on the board, ane of whom s an executive
director The committee and the board always take
account of diversity when considering board
appointments and will contnue to do so, whilst
ensuring that appointments are made based on ment
and relevant experience

The plan for 2013 1s to continue to develop
programmes and refationships that help attract
talented diverse people into our business and retain
them and to continue to track our progress

In particular, Pearson intends to commence work

on a comprehensive gender diversity strategy, and to
develop a global dversity strategy focusing on the key
emerging markets of India, China and Brazil

Pearson continues to show evidence of progress

in relatton to the retention of people with diverse
backgrounds for both entry level and management
positions and has made significant progress over the
years in advancing women and culturally diverse
people As at December 2012, 25% of Pearson’s top
managers were women, and 41% of successars for
such roles were female, including an increasing number
of business leaders as well as functional roles such as
HR and finance, ensuring that the pipehne of talented
women within Pearson remains strong To support this
prpehne, a dversity toolkit for managers was faunched
in the UK, to prownide managers with adwice and
guidance on developing their dversity management
skifls We hope to launch a US version during 2013

Graph removed

Whilst the chairman of the board chairs the
nommnation committee, he 1s not permitted to char
meetings when the appointment of his successor 1s
bemng considered or during a discussion regarding his
performance At such umes, the senior independent
director will chatr the meetings

The commuttee has written terms of reference
which clearly set out its autherity and dutes
These can be found on the company website
at www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
information/governance

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Chairman Dand Arculus

Members Dawid Arculus, V;vlenne Ct;x. Ken Hydan
and Glen Moreno

The remunerahon committee reports to the full board
and a letter from the chairman of the remuneration
committee and 1ts report on directors’ remuneration,
which has been considered and adopted by the board,
Is set out on pages 64 to 92

The committee met six times during the year,

and has written terms of reference which clearly
set out its authonty and duties These can be found
on the company website at www pearson com/
investors/shareholder-informauon/governance
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
Chairman Ken Hydon

Members David Arculus, Vivienne Cox, S;san Fuhrman,
Ken Hydon and Josh Lewis

As | described last year, in my role as
‘ ‘audlt committee chairman, | consider

the key role of the committee to be in
providing oversight and reassurance to the board,
specifically with regard to the integrity of the
company's financial reporting, accounting policies,
risk management and internal control processes and
governance framework

Fundamental to this role 1s the committee’s access to
local management Once again, committee meetings
have been attended by the chief financial officer and
head of Group internal audit and risk assurance, and
often by the chief executive and chairman Individual
managers have jomned meetings for specific topics,

e g treasury, tax or business continuity planning

In total, |6 managers attended one or more meetings
during the year During the board's visit to $3o Paulo,
members of the committee met with iocal senior
financial management to discuss risk management,
financial control and the Pearson code of conduct

In July, the committee met with the company’s chief
informatton officer and director of digital strategy to
discuss the approach taken to data protection

Finally, in December, in its first 'risk deep-dive’
session aimed at making the risk review process
more tangble, the committee met with the president
of the US assessment and mformation group to
discuss risks and mitigatron strategy related to the
testing and assessment business This approach
warked well, and { am keen that the committee holds
addinonal sessions in 201 3 focusing on key risks
within Pearson, as well as continuing to meet focal
managerment throughout the year and whenever the
board 15 scheduled to meet In overseas locations

The committee has a healthy interaction wath group
internal audit and PwC, who attend all of aur regular
committee meetings Agamn, | see this as fundamental
to the role of the committee and to my position

as charman

We always need to be learning, as the business
progresses and the environments i which we
operate change

Signature removed

Ken Hydon
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Members

All of the audit commuttee members are independent
non-executrve directors and have financial and/or
related business experience due to the senior positions
they hold or have held mn other Iisted or publicly traded
compantes and/or similar public organisations

Ken Hydon, chairman of the committee, 1s the
company's designated financial expert He 15 a Fellow
of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants, the Assocraton of Chartered Certfied
Accountants and the Assocration of Corporate
Treasurers He also serves as audit committee
chairman for Reckitt Benckiser Group plc, and unul
recently for Tesco plc and Royal Berkshire NHS
Foundation Trust

The quallfications and relevant experience of the ather
committee members are detailed on page 46

Role and responsibihties

The committee has written terms of reference which
clearly set out its authority and duties These are
reviewed annually and can be found on the company
website at www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
information/governance

The committee has been established by the

board primarily for the purpose of overseeing the
accounting, financial reporting, internal control and risk
management processes of the company and the audit
of the financial statements of the company

The committee is responsible for assisting the board's
oversight of the quality and integrity of the company's
external financial reporting and statements and the
company's accounting policies and practices

The Group’s internal and external auditors have
direct access to the committee to raise any matter of
concern and to report on the results of work directed
by the committee The committee reports to the full
board at every board meeting immediately following a
committee meeting it also reviews the independence
of the external auditors, including the provision of
non-zudit services (further details of which can be
found on pages 59 and 60}, and ensures that there 1s an
approprate audit relationship and that auditor
objectivity and independence Is upheld
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Board governance continued

External audit

Based on management’s recommendauons, the
committee reviews the proposal on the appointment
of the external auditors The committee reviewed the
effectiveness and independence of the external
auditors during 2012 and remams savsfied that the
auditors provide effective independent challenge to
management The commuttee will continue to review
the performance of the external auditors on an annual
basts and will cansider thetr independence and
objecnwity, taking account of all appropriate guidelines
There are no contractual ebligattons restricting the
committee’s chotce of external auditors In any event,
the external auditors are required to rotate the audit
partner responsible for the Group audit every five
years The current lead audit partner has been in place
for five years and consequentdy will rotate following
completion of the Group's 2012 year end audit

In accordance with our external auditor policy, Group
nternal audit performs an annual assessment of audit
fees, services and independence This review forms the
basis for a recommendation by the commitiee to the
board in respect of the appointment and compensation
of our external auditor Hawing previously conducted

a full tender exercise in 1996, and cons:dered
re-tenderng mn subsequent years, we intend to gve
consideration during 2013 to the timing of our next
formal tender, mindful of the 2012 Code requirement
to undertake a formal tendering process at least once
every ten years

During the year, the committee discussed the planning,
conduct and conclusions of the external audit as
it proceeded

At the July 2012 audit committee meeting, the
committee discussed and approved the auditors’
group audit plan and dentified the following key risks
of misstatement of the Group's financial statements,
which were updated at the December 2012
committee Meeting

» Revenue recognition, in hght of a number of products
and services sold by Pearson where revenue
recognition practices are complex and management
assumptions and estimates are necessary,

» Accounting for acquisittans in hght of material
transacuons 0 201 | and 2012, in particular, valuation
of acquired intangibles which involves significant
judgement, and

» Pisposal accounting, in particular relating to proposed
Penguin Random House venture

~

~

~

~

~

w

The committee discussed these issues with the
auditors at the ume of thew review of the half year
mtertm financial statements in July 2012 and agan at
the conclusion of thewr audit of the financial statements
for the year in February 2013 in December 2012,

the commuttee discussed with the audiors the status
of their work, focusing on thetr work in relation to
internal contrals As the auditors concluded thew audut,
they explained to the committee

The work they had conducted over revenue, which
included targeted procedures at businesses which
were considered to have more complex revenue
recognition, such as the assessment and testing
busmesses,

The results of their review of acquisiion accounting
for all significant acquisitons, encompassing assessment
of management's valuations of intangible assets as well
as other purchase price adjustments,

The work they had done to test management's
assumptions and estimates in relaven to balance sheet
judgements and calculations (encompassing provisions
for doubiful debis and nventory, recoverabihity of pre-
publication assets and authors’ advances, reserves for
sales returns, estimates of current and deferred tax
and pension habiities and other contingencies) and
how they had sausfied themselves that these were
reasonable,

The wnpact of the board's decision an the future
options for the Pearson in Practice business,

The results of thew review of the imparment model,
including therr challenge of management’s underlying
cash flow projections and consideration of key
assumptions such as discount rates and perpetuity
rates and sensitivities, which indicated that all cash-
generating units had adequate headroom,

The results of their controls testing to date for
Sarbanes-Oxley Act section 404 reporting purposes
and in support of therr financial statements audit; and
The review of the company’s ‘going concern’ reports

The auditors also reported to the committee the
russtatements that they had found in the course
of their work, which were msignificant, and the
committee confirmed that there were no
material tems rematning unadjusted in these
financial statements

Training

The commuttee recewes regular technical updates

as well as specific or personal training as appropriate
Buning 2012, two commuttee members took advantage
of a personal traming session provided by PwC
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Committee members also meet with local
management on an ohgomng basis in order to gain

a better understanding of how Group policies are
embedded in operanions For example, dunng its visit
to S3o Paulo in June 2012, the committee met with
local senior finance managers

Meetings

The committee met four tmes dunng the year with
the following in attendance the chief financial officer,
head of Group internal audit and nisk assurance,
members of the senior management team, and the
external auditors The commitiee also met regularty
in private with the external auditors and the head

of Group internal audit and risk assurance

At every meeting, the committee considered reports
on the activittes of the Group internal audit function,
ncluding the results of internal audits, risk reviews,
project assurance reviews and fraud and
whistleblowing reports The committee also monitored
the company's financial reporting, internal controls

and risk management procedures and considered

any significant legal claims and regulatory issues in the
context of their mpact on financial reporting

Specffically, the commuttee considered the following
matters during the course of the year

> The 2011 annual report and accounts preliminary
announcement, financial statements and income
statement,

» The Group accounting policies,

» Complance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code,

3 Form 20-F and related disclosures including the annual
Sarbanes-Oxley Act secuion 404 attestation of financial
reportng internal controls,

» Receipt of the external auditors’ report on the Form
20-F and on the year end audut,

» Assessment of the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control environment,

» Reappointment, remuneration and engagement letter
of the external auditors,

» Provision of non-audit services by PwC,

Review of the interm financial statements and
announcement,

» Annual re-approval of the Group internal audit
mandate,

> Compliance with SEC and NYSE requirements
including Sarbanes-Oxley Act,

» Reviews of the effectiveness of the audit committee,
the external auditors and the Group internal audit
function,

LA . A

oo
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Pearson’s ant-corruption programme,
Pearson's data protection programme,

Review of the committee's terms of reference,
Annual internal audst plan,

Risk deep-dive testing and assessment business,
Review of company risk returns including Social,
Ethical and Environmental (SEE) risks,

Group tax strategy review, and

Annual revtew of treasury policy

In February 2013, the committee also considered
the 2012 annual report and accounts, including the
preliminary announcerment, financial statements,
business review, directors’ report and corporate
governance compliance statement

Internal control and nsk management

The directors confirm they have conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the group's systems of risk
management and internal controls, including strategic,
financial, operauonal and compliance controls and risk
management systems, (n accordance with the UK
Corporate Governance Code and the Turnbull
gudance as revised These systems have been
operating throughout the year and to the date

of this report.

The key elements and procedures that have been
established to prowide effective nsk management
and internal control systems are described below

Control environment

The board of directors has overail responsibility for
Pearson’s system of internal control, which is designed
to manage, and where posstble mingate, the nisks facing
the Group, safeguard assets and provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance agamst matenal financial
misstatemernt or ioss

Responsibility fer memitoring financal management and
reporting and risk management and mternal control
systerns has been delegated to the audit committee

by the board At each meeting, the audit committee
considers reports from management, Group internal
audit and the external auditors, with the am of
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal financial

and operating control environment of the Group

The identification and mitigation of significant business
risks 15 the responsibility of Group senior management
and operating company management Each operating
company, includmng the corporate centre, maintains
internal controls and procedures appropriate to its
structure, business envirenment and risk assessment,
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whilst complying with Group policies, standards
and gudelines

Financial management and reporting

There 1s a comprehensive strategic planning, budgeting
and forecasting system with an annual operating plan
approved by the board of directors Monthly financial
information, including trading results, balance sheets,
cash flow statements, capital expenditures and
indebtedness, Is reported against the corresponding
figures for the plan and prior years, with corrective
action outhned by the appropnate senior executive
Group senior management meet, on a quarterly basis,
with operating company management o review their
business and financial performance agamnst plan and
forecast Major busmess risks relevant to each
operating company as well as performance against the
stated financial and strategic objectives are reviewed in
these meetings

We have an ongoing process to monitor the nsks and
effectiveness of controls in relation to the financal
reporting and consohdation process including the
related information systems This includes up-to-date
Group financial policres, formal requirements for
business unit finance funcuions, Group consohidation
reviews and analysis of material variances, group
finance technical reviews, including the use of technical
specialists, and review and sign-off by senior finance
managers These processes are monitared and
assessed during the year by the Group internal audst
and Group comphance functions

These controls include those over external financial
reporting which are documented and tested in
accordance with the requirements of section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which is relevant to
our US hsting

The effectiveness of key financial controls 1s subject
to management review and self cerufication and
independent evaluation by Group internal audi

A risk management framework is in place to identify,
evaluate and manage risks, includmg key financral
reporting risks Operating compames undertake
semi-annual figk reviews to dentfy new or potentially
under-managed risks Throughout the year, risk
sessions facilitated by the head of Group internal auds
and risk assurance are held with Group and operating
company management to identdy the key risks the
company faces in achieving its objectives, to assess
the probabihity and impact of those risks and to
document the actions being taken 1o manage those
risks The Pearson management committee reviews

the output of these sessions, focusing on the significant
risks facing the business Management has the
responsibility to consider and execute appropnate
action to mitigate these risks whenever possible

The results of these reviews are reparted to the
board in detall via the audit committee

Group internal audit

The Group internal audit function 1s responsible for
providing independent assurance to management on
the design and effectiveness of internal controls to
mitigate strategic, financial, operational and complance
risks The risk-based annual internal audit plan is
approved by the audit committee Recommendauons
to improve interna! controls and to mitigate rsks, or
both, are agreed with operating company management
after each audit. Formal follow-up procedures allow
Group internal audit to monitor operating companies’
progress In implementing us recommendations and to
resolve any control deficiencies The Group internal
audit function also has a remit to monitor significant
Group projects, in conjunction with the central project
management office and to provide assurance that
appropriate project governance and rnisk management
strategies are n place Group internal audit has a
formal collaboration process i place with the extermnal
auditors to ensure efficient coverage of internal
controls Regular reports on the work of Group
internal audit are provided to executive management
and, via the audit committee, to the board

The head of Group intemal audit 1s jointdy responsible
with the Group legal counsel for monroring
compliance with our Code of Conduct, and
mnvestigating any reported incidents including ethical,
corruption and fraud allegations The Pearson anu-
bribery and corruption programme provides the
framewaork to support our comphance with various
ant-bribery and corruption regulations sueh as the
UK Bnbery Act 2010 and the US Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act

Treasury management

The treasury department operates within policies
approved by the board and its procedures are
reviewed regularly by the audik commitiee Mayor
transactions are authorised outside the department
at the requisite level, and there 15 an appropriate
segregation of duues Frequent reports are made
to the chief financial officer and regular reports are
prepared for the audit committee and the board
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During 2012, the signfficant non-audit work performed
by PwC was

» Tax comphance services related to a routine audit by
the US Internal Revenue Service,

» Tax advisory services associated with the planned
creation of the venture between Penguin and
Random House,

» Assurance services on a corparate bond 1ssued 1n
May 2012, and

» Other assurance services which were indivmdually less
than £100,000 per project

In each case, PwC was selected as they were best able
to provide the services we required at a reasonable fee
and within the terms of our external auditors pohcy

To assist n ensuning that mdependence and objectvity
18 maintained, for forward-looking tax planning and due
diligence work PwC assign a different partner from the
one leading the external audit

A full statement of the fees for audit and services Is
provided in note 4 to the accounts on page | 14

Statement of directors’ responsibifities

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual
report, the report on directors’ remuneration and the
financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law
and regulations

The Act requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year The directors have
prepared the Group and parent company financial
statements 1n accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Umon Under the Act the directors must
not approve the financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and far view of the state
of affairs of the company and the Group and of the
profit or loss of the Greup for that penod

In prepaning these financial statements, the directors
are required to

Select surable accounung policies and then apply
them consistently,

Make judgements and accounting estimates that

are reasonable and prudent,

State that the financial statements comply with 1FRSs
as adopted by the European Union or disclose and
explain any material departures from those IFRSs, and
Prepare the financial statements on a going concern
basis, unfess it 1s Inappropriate to presume that the
company and/or the group wili continue In business

~

~

~

~

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the company's transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company and the Group This enables them to
ensure that the financial statements and the report on
directors’ remuneratton comply with the Act and, as
regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the company and the Group
and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregulanties

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and
ntegrity of the company's website Legislation in the
UK governing the preparation and dissemmation

of financial statements may differ from legislation

i other jurisdictions

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are
hsted on pages 44 to 46, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief

The Group financial statements, prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilites,
financial posttion and profit of the group and company,
and

» The directors’ report contained in the annual report
includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the
company and Group, together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainttes that they face

The directors also confirm that, for alt directors
in office at the date of this report.

~

a) so far as the directors are aware, there Is no
refevant audst information of which the company's
audrtors are unaware, and

b) they have taken all the steps that they ought to have
taken as directors in order to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit Information and to establish that
the company's auditors are aware of that information

Approved by the board on 7 March 2013 and signed
on its behalf by

1L, Xff——

Phlip Hoffman Secretary
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Insurance

Insurance 1s provided through Pearson’s insurance
subsidiary, Spear Insurance Limited, and/or externally,
depending on the scale of the nisk and the avarability
of cover in the external market, with the abjective

of achievirig the most cost-effecuve balance between
nsured and urinsured risks

Gotng concern

Having reviewed the Group’s liquid resources and
borrowing faclities and the Group's 2013 and 2014
cash flow forecasts, the directors believe that the
Group has adequate resources to continue as a gomg
concern For this reason, the financial statements have,
as usual, been prepared on that basis Information
regarding the Group's borrowing liabilities and financral
risk management can be found it notes 18 and (9 on
pages {35to 143

Share capical

Details of share issues are given in note 27 to the
accourits on page 156 The company has a single class
of shares which 1s divided into ordinary shares of 25p
each The ordinary shares are n registered form

As at 31 December 2012, 817,042,980 ordinary shares
were in issue At the AGM held on 27 April 2012, the
company was authonsed, subject to certain conditions,
to acquire up to 81,597,867 ordinary shares by market
purchase Shareholders will be asked to renew this
authority at the AGM on 26 Apni 2013

tnformation provided to the company pursuant to

the Financial Services Authonty’s Disclosure and
Transparency Rules 15 published on a Regulatory
Informauon Service and on the company's website

As at 5 March 2013, being the last practicable date
before the publication of this report, the company had
been notfied under DTRS of the following significant
voting rights in its ghares

Number of
voumg rights Percentage
BlackRock, Inc 40,975,445 501%
Legal & General Group ple 32,385,175 398%
Libyan Investment Authority 24,431,000 301%

Annual General Meeqing (AGM)

The notice convening the AGM, to be held at 12 noon
on Friday, 26 April 2013 at tET London, 2 Savoy Place,
London WC2R 08BL, 15 contained in a circular to
shareholders to be dated 21 March 2013
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Registered auditors

In accordance with section 489 of the Act,

a resolution proposing the reappointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP {Pw() as auditors to
the company will be proposed at the AGM, art a leve!
of remuneraton to be agreed by the directors

Auditors’ independence

In hne with best practice, our relationship with PwC

is governed by our external auditors policy, which 15
reviewed and approved annually by the audit
committee The policy establishes procedures to
ensure the auditors’ independence is not
compromised, as well as defining those non-audit
services that PwC may or may not provide to Pearson
These allowable services are in accordance with
relevant UK and US legislation

The audit commuttee approves all audit and non-audit
services provided by PwC Certain categories

of allowable non-audit services have been pre-
approved by the audit committee subject to the
authontres below

~

Pre-approved non-audit services can be authorised by
the chief financial officer up to £100,000 per project,
subject to a cumatative himat of £500,000 per annum,
Acquisitton or disposal transactions and due diligence
up to £100,000 per project may be performed by our
external auditors, in light of the need for confidentality
Any project/transaction generating fees in excess of
£100,000 must be specifically approved by the audit
committee,

» Tax comphance and related activities up to the greater
of £1,000,000 per annum or 50% of the external audit
fee, and

> For forward-looking tax planning services we use the

most appropriate adwviser, usually after a tender

pracess Where we decide to use our independent
auditors, authority, up to £100,000 per project subject
to a cumulative hmit of £500,000 per annum, has been
delegated by the audit committee to management.

~

Services provided by PwC above these hmits and all
other allowable non-audit services, irrespective of
value, must be approved by the audit commigtee
Where appropriate, services will be tendered prior to
a decision being made as to whether to award work to
the auditors

The audit committee recerves reguiar reports
summarising the amount of fees paid to the auditors
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Additional informatton for shareholders

Set out below rs other statutory and regulatory
information that Pearson is required to disciose
n its directors’ report

Amendment to Articles of Association

Any amendments to the Arucles of Association of the
company (the Articles) may be made in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006

{the Act) by way of a special resolution

Rights attachmg to shares

The rights attaching to the ordinary shares are defined
in the Artcles A shareholder whose name appears
on the company's register of members can choose
whether his/her shares are evidenced by share
certificates {1 e in certificated form) or held
electronically (1 e uncertficated form) n CREST

(the electrenic settlement system in the UK)

Subject to any restrictions below, shareholders may
attend any general meeting of the company and,

on a show of hands, every shareholder (or his/her
representative) who is present at a general meeting has
one vote on each resolution for every ordinary share
of which they are the registered holder A resolution
put to the vote at a general meeting is decided on

a show of hands unless before, or on the declaration
of the result of, a vote on a show of hands, a poll s
demanded A poll can be demanded by the chairman
of the meeting, or by at least three shareholders

(or their representatives) present in person and having
the right to vote, or by any shareholders {or their
representatives) present in person having at least 10%
of the total voung nghts of all shareholders, or by any
shareholders (or their representatives) present In
person holding ordinary shares on which an aggregate
sum has been paid up of at least 10% of the total sum
paid up on all ordinary shares At this year's AGM
voting will again be conducted on a poll, consistent
with best practice

Shareholders can declare a final dividend by passing
an ordinary resoluton but the amount of the dividend
cannot exceed the amount recommended by the
board The board can pay mterim dividends on any
class of shares of the amounts and on the dates and
for the periods they decide In all cases the
distributable profits of the company must be sufficient
to justify the payment of the refevant dividend

Secuon 4 Governance &l

The board may, if authonsed by an ordinary resoluuon
of the shareholders, offer any shareholder the right to
elect to receive new ordinary shares, which will be
credited as fully paid, instead of their cash dwdend

Any dividend which has not been claimed for 12 years
after it became due for payment will be forfeited and
will then belong to the company, unless the directors
decide otherwise

If the company 1s wound up, the liquidator can, with
the sanction of a special reselution passed by the
shareholders, divide among the shareholders all or
any part of the assets of the company and he/she can
value assets and deterrmine how the division shall be
carried out as between the shareholders or different
classes of shareholders The hquidator can also, with
the same sanction, transfer the whole or any part of
the assets to trustees upon such trusts for the benefit
of the shareholders

Vouing at general meetings

Any form of proxy sent by the shareholders to the
company In relation to any general meeting must be
delivered to the company {via its registrars), whether
in written or electronic form, not less than 48 hours
before the ume appointed for holding the meeting or
adjourned meeting at which the person named

in the appointment proposes to vote

No sharehclder is, unless the board decides otherwise,
entitfed to attend or vote either personally or by proxy
at a general meeting or to exercise any other right
conferred by bemg a shareholder W he/she or any
person with an mterest in shares has been sent a notice
under section 793 of the Act (which confers upon
public compantes the power to require information
with respect to interests in their voting shares) and
he/she or any interested person failed to supply the
company with the informauon requested within

14 days after delivery of that notice The board may
also decide, where the relevant shareholding comprises
at least 0 25% of the nominal value of the issued shares
of that class, that no dividend 1s payable in respect of
those default shares and that no transfer of any default
shares shall be registered

Pearson operates two employee benefit trusts to
hold shares, pending employees becoming entitled
to them under the company's employee share plans
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There were 10,101,860 shares so held as at

31 Pecember 2012 Each trust has an independent
trustee which has full discretion in relation to the
voting of such shares A dwvidend warver operates
on the shares held in these trusts

Pearson also operates a nominee shareholding
arrangement known as Sharestore which holds shares
on behalf of employees There were 4,710,567 shares
so held as at 31 December 2012 The trustees holding
these shares seek voung instructions from the relevant
employee as beneficial owner, and voting rights are not
exercised f no mstructions are given

Transfer of shares

The board may refuse to register a transfer of a
certficated share which is not fully paid, provided that
the refusal does not prevent dealings in shares in the
company from taking place on an open and proper
basis The board may also refuse to register a transfer
of a ceruficated share unless (1) the instrument of
transfer 1s lodged, duly stamped (if stampable}, at the
registered office of the company or any other place
decided by the board, and 1s accompanted by the
certificate for the share to which it relates and such
other evidence as the board may reasonably require
to show the nght of the transferor 1o make the
transfer, (1) 1t s in respect of only one class of

shares, and {m) 1t 15 n favour of not more than

four transferees

Tranisfers of uncertificated shares must be carried out
using CREST and the board can refuse w register a
transfer of an uncertrficated share in accordance with
the regulauons governing the operation of CREST

Vanation of rights

If at any ume the capital of the company 15 dvided into
different classes of shares, the special nghts attaching
to any class may be vared or revoked either

(1} with the written consent of the holders of at ieast
75% in nominal value of the 1ssued shares of the
relevant class, or

(M with the sanction of a special resolution passed at
a separate general meeting of the holders of the shares
of the relevant class

Without prejudice te any special rights previousfy
conferred on the holders of any exisung shares or class
of shares, any share may be 1ssued with such preferred,
deferred, or other special rights, or such restricuons,

whether in regard to dwvidend, voung, return of capital
or otherwise as the company may from ume to time
by ordinary resolution determmne

Appointment and replacement of directors

The Articies contain the following provisions in relation
to directors

Directors shall number no less than two Directors
may be appotnted by the company by ordinary
resolution or by the board A director appotnted by
the board shall hold office only untd the next AGM and
shall then be elgible for reappointment, but shall not
be taken 1nto account in determining the directors or
the number of directors who are to retire by rotation
at that meeting The board may from tme to time
appoint one or more directors to hold executive office
with the company for such penod (subject to the
prowvisions of the Act) and upon such terms as the
board may decide and may revoke or terminate any
appointment so made

The Arucles provide that, at every AGM of the
company, at least one-third of the directors shall retire
by rotation {or, 1f their number s not a multiple of
three, the number nearest to one-third) The first
directors to retire by rotation shall be those who wish
to retire and not offer themselves for re-election Any
further directors so to retire shall be those of the other
directors subject to retirement by rotation who have
been longest in office since they were last re-elected
but, as between persons who became or were last
re-elected on the same day, those to retire shall
{unless they otherwise agree among themselves)

be determmed by lot In addition, any director who
would not otherwise be required to retire shall

retire by rotatton at the third AGM after they were
last re-elected

Notwathstanding the provisions af the Articles, the
board has resolved that all directors should offer
themselves for re-election annually, in accordance
with the UK Corporate Governance Code

The company may by ordinary resoclution remove any
director before the exptration of his/her term of office
In addivion, the board may termmate an agreement or
arrangement with any director for the prowision of
his/her services to the company
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Powers of the directors

Subject to the company’s Articles, the Act and any
dections givenn by special resolution, the business of
the company will be managed by the board who may
exercrse all the powers of the company, including
powers refating to the issue and/or buyng back of
shares by the company (subject to any statutory
restrictions or restrictions imposed by shareholders
n general meeting)

Significant agreements

The following significant agreements contain provisions
entitling the counterparties to exercise termination

or other nghts 1n the event of a change of control

of the company

Under the $1,750,000,000 revolving credit faciity
agreement dated November 2010 which matures

in November 2015 between, amongst others, the
company, HS8C Bank ple (as facility agent) and the
banks and financial Institutions named therein as
lenders {the Facility), any such bank may, upon a
change of control of the company, require its
outstanding advances, together with accrued interest
and any other amounts payable in respect of such
Facility, and its commitments, to be cancelled, each
within 60 days of notfication to the banks by the facily
agent For these purposes, a ‘change of control' occurs
if the company becomes a subsidiary of any other
company or one or more persons acting either
ndwvidually or 1n concert, obtains control (as defined

in section | 124 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010)

of the company

Shares acquired through the company's employee
share plans rank parn passu with shares in 1ssue and
have no special nghts For legal and practical reasons,
the rules of these plans set out the consequences of
a change of control of the company

Secuon 4 Governance
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Report on directors’ remuneration

Dear shareholders

| am pleased to present our report on directors’
remuneration for 2012, which will be put forward
for your consideranon and approval at the annual
general meeting on 26 April 2013

The remuneration committee believes that the
purpose of its remuneration policy 15 to support the
company's strategy and to help deiver sustaned
performance and consistent fong-term value creation
in the interests of all stakeholders

Performance i 2012
Performance has been resilient in very tough
conditions and the company has delivered

»strong competitive performance

yoperating profit broadly level
with the record profits in 201 |

>return on invested capital above
our cost of capital

>Pearson’s 2| st straight year of
increasing our dividend above the
rate of inflation Over the past
ten years we have increased our
dividend at a compound annual rate
of 7%, returning more than £2.5bn
to shareholders

~

~

~

[

w

Principles of remunerauon palicy
Our reward policy 1s aligned with the interests
of all stakeholders in prowiding:

competitive base salares that reflect the market
and indmidual roles and contribution

a high proportion of variable remuneration that
i1s directly linked to the annual and long-term
performance of the company

annual incentives that reward achievement
of strategic goals

long-term incentives that drive Jong-term earmings
and share price growth and encourage people to
acquire and hold Pearson shares in line with
shareholders’ interests

many peaple at Pearson with the opportunity wo share
in the company's success through cash-based annual
incentives and bonuses and worldwide participation in
share ownership plans, conunuing practices first started
n 1938

Market conditions

The remuneration cammittee Is sensitive to the
current social and econormic environment surrounding
executive compensation

We welcome the coalition government’s proposals to
improve the clanty and transparency of remunerabon
disclosure Although the regulations have not yet been
finalised, we have adopted many of the
recommendations 11 this year's report

We hape that these changes will continue to
dernonstrate the hnk between our remuneration
policy and practice and the company’s strategy and
performance, as well as our commitment to
shareholder engagement

We continue to keep our remuneration policy under
review In hght of the prevaling economic conditons
and the impact of these on the company’s objectives
and strategy




~

-

~

What we've plznned for 2013
Looking forward, for 2013

we undertook a penodic review of base salaries for
2013 taking into account general economic and market
conditians, the level of Increases made across the
company as a whole, the remuneration of executives
in similar positions in comparable compames and
individual performance

we reviewed and established an appropriate starting
remuneration package for the new CEO comprising
base salary, annual and long-term incentives,
allowances and benefits

we reviewed and amended the service agreements for
those executive directors, including the CEO, who will
continue to serve throughout 2013 The consequence
of this review has been to remove any entitiement to
annual incentive from the calculation of any
compensation that might be payable on termination of
employment by the company without notice or cause

bd

~

~
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What we did in 2012
Looking back to some specific aspects of palcy
and practice in 2012

we undertook a pertodic review of base salaries for
2012 and, in light of the prevailing economic condiions
and consistent with the action that continues to be
taken across the company to control costs, the
committee endorsed the recommendation of the
executive directors and other members of the Pearson
Management Commuttee that they receive no increase
n base salaries

annual incentives paid to executives for 2012
performance were significantly lower than for 2011,
reflecting performance in a tough business environment
and more challenging incentive targets

we reduced the number of shares awarded to
the Pearson Management Commuttee as their long-
term incentives

Qur policy and rmplementation is summarised in more
detanl in the remainder of this report

Finally, I would like to thank my f{ellow members of the
committee and the people who have assisted us for
therr contribution over the past year and to give specia!
appreciation to Patrick Cescau who stood down from
the commuttee during 2012

Signature removed

David Arculus
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

MIIAYIAO

|

IDNYHYQIYId ¥NO

ALIIDOS NOQ LOVAWI YNNG

JONYNUIADD

SINIWILYLS I¥IDNYNIL




66 Pearson plc Annual report and accounts 2012

Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Introducuon

The rest of this report on directors’ remuneration
comprises

> a policy report — a forward-looking statement on
remuneration pohicy for 2013 and beyond, and

» an Implementation report — a report on remuneration
practice w 2012

Together, this report complies with Schedule 8 of
the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
{Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and was
approved by the board of directors on 7 March 2013

The committee beheves that the company has
complied with the provisions regarding remuneration
matters contained within the UK Corporate
Governance Code

Where required under current regulations, the
following tables have been subject to audit

» total remuneration (page 80)

» pension entitlements and pension-related benefits
(page 83)

3 movements in directors’ interests in restricted shares
(pages 86 to 88}

» movements N directors’ interests In share options
{page 89)



~

>

~

Policy report

Remuneration policy and business strategy

The committee considers that a successful
remuneration policy needs to be sufficiently flexible
to ke account of future changes in the company's
business environment and in remuneration practice
Our starting point continues to be that total
remuneratron should reward both short- and long-
term resuits, debvenng competitive rewards for
target performance but outstanding rewards for
exceptional performance

Qur goal as a company Is to be the world's leading
learning company and to help people of all ages make
progress in their lives through all kinds of learning
Pearson's strategy has for some years focused on
growth n digital products, educational services and
emerging markets We are now accelerating the
implementation of that strategy through

four global businesses — we are focusing on school,
higher education, English-language learming and
business education We are taking an increasingly
global view of educational needs and trends

four types of geographic market — we will carefully
evaluate when we offer global praducts and services,
when we customise for local needs, and when

we requtre a wrue local approach We will

focus our investment on markets with the biggest
growth opportunities

four business models — we will channef our investment
into four proven busmess models direct-to-consumer,
‘Pearson Inside’ {our shorthand for institutional
services such as our school systems in Brazil),
assessment, and learming systems

Those measures complement our more traditional

financial measures and goals but they do not, of course,

replace them In financal terms, Pearson’s goal s to
achieve sustamable growth on three key financial
goals — earnings, cash and return on invested capital,
and relable cash returns to our mvestors through
healthy and growing dividends We believe those are,
in concert, good indicators that we are buliding the
long-term vzlue of Pearson So those measures (or
others that contribute to them, such as sales, profit,
and working capitai) form the basis of our annual
budgets and plans, and the basis for bonuses and long-
term tncentives

Section 4 Governance

Summary of remuneration policy

The following table summanses the company’s policy
on directors’ remuneration that applies to executive
directors and other members of the Pearson
Management Committee for 2013 and, so far as
pracucable, for subsequent years We have taken
account of the coalition government's proposed
regulations on the disclosure of remunerauon policy
but the format and level of detail in the policy table
may evoive in subsequent years in line with the final
disclosure requirements
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Report on directors’ remuneration: Policy table

Intreduction

Total remuneration 1s made up of fixed and performance-linked elements, with each element supportng
different strategic objectives Total remuneration 1s normally reviewed annually and benchmarked aganst
total remuneration for sirmtar positions in comparable compantes

Base salary

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

» Helps to recruit, reward and retain

» Reftects competitive market level, role, skills,
experience and individual contribution

OPERATION

Normally reviewed annually for the following year
taking into account general economic and market
conditions, the tevel of Increases made across the
company as a whole, the remunerauon of executives
in similar posiions N comparable companies and
indwidual performance

OPPOATUNITY

Normally reviewed in line with increases across

the company as a whole, subject to particular
crcumstances such as changes in role, responsibilities
or organisation, current remuneration relative to the
mud-market postion across our CoMparator groups
and thelevel of increases for executives generally

PERFORMANCE COMNDITIONS

Nane, although performance of both the company
and the individual are taken into account when
determiming an appropriate level of base salary
increase each year

Allowances and benefits

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY
» Help to recruit and retain
» Reflect local competitive market

OPERATION

Include inter aha cash allowances and non-cash benefits

such as health and welfare and car benefits
Allowances and benefits do not form part of
pensionable earnings

QPPORTUNITY

The proviston and tevel of allowances and benefits
are competitive and appropriate in the context of the
local market

PERFORMANCE PERIOD
None
IMPLEMENTATION

There were no Increases to base salanes in 2012
for executive directors and other members of the
Pearson Management Committee Base salaries for
2012 are reported in the total remuneration table
on page 80

Fer 2013, we reviewed base salaries consistent with
our policy set out above

OTHER EMPLOYEES

The approach to setting base salary increases
elsewhere in the company takes into account
economic factors, competitive market rates, roles,
skills, experience and indwidual performance

The increase m wages and salaries for the company
as a whole i1s reported in note 5 to the financial
statements on page |15

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

None

PERFORMANCE PERIOD

None

IMPLEMENTATION

No change on prior year Alfowances and benefits
for 2017 are reported in the total remuneration table
on page 80

QOTHER EMPLOYEES

Allowances and benefits for employees reflect the
iocal labour market in which they are based




Retrement benefits

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

» Help to recruit and retam

» Recognise long-term commuitment to the company
OPERATION

New employees in the UK are eligible to join the
Money Purchase 2003 section of the Pearson Group
Pension Plan New employees in the US are eligible
to Jotn the 401{k} plan

Under the Money Purchase 2003 section of the
Pearson Group Pension Plan in the UK, normal
retirerent age 1s 62, but, subject to company consent,
retirement is currently possible from age 55 or earher
in the event of l-health During service, the company
and the employee make contributions into a pension
fund Account balances are used to provide benefits
at retirement Penstons for a member’s spouse,
dependent children and/or nominated finanaal
dependants are payable on death

Under the 401(k) plan in the US, whichis a defined
contribution plan, account balances will be used to
provide benefits at retirement |n the event of death
before retirement, the account balances will be used
to provide benefits for designated beneficiaries

Longer serving directors with legacy arrangements
may participate in the defined benefit Pearson Inc
Pension Plan in the US or the Final Pay section of the
Pearson Group Pension Plan in the UK, which are
closed to new members

Under the Final Pay section of the Pearson Group
Penston Plan i the UK, normal retirement age 1s 62,
but, subject to company consent, retirement 15
currently possible from age 55 or earlier in the event
of ll-heatth During service, the employee makes a
contribution of 5% of pensionable salary and the
pension fund builds up based on final pensienable
salary and pensionable service The accrued pension
15 reduced on retirement prior to age 60 Pensions
{for a member's spouse, dependent children and/or
nominated financial dependants are payable on death

inthe US, the defined benefit Pearsoninc Pension
Plan provides a lump sum benefit that1s convertible
to an annuity on retirement The lump sum benefit
accrued at an age dependent percentage of capped
compensation untt! 3|1 December 2001 when further
benefit accruals ceased for most employees

Sectron 4 Governance 69

Employees who satisfied critena of age and service as
of 30 November 1998 continue to earn benefits under
an afternative formula that provides for | 5% of final
average earnings, adjusted for US Social Security The
benefit paid to these employees 1s the maximum of the
lump sum benefit converted to an annuity and the
benefit earned under the alternative final average
earnings formula.

Executive directors and other executives across the
company are entitled to addmional pension benefits
to take account of the cap on the amount of benefits
that can be provided from the all-employee pension
arrangements in the US and the UK

OFFORTUNITY

in the UK, company contributions to the Money
Purchase 2003 section of the Pearson Group Pension
Plan amount up to 16% of penstonable salary (double
the amount of the employee contribution, which s
limuted according to certain age bands)

In the US, company contributions to the 4Q1(k} plan
amount to [00% of the first 3% of eligible compensaton
contributed by the employee and 50% of the next 3%,
plus a basic annual company contribution of | 25%

of elgible compensation Pearson Inc Pension Plan
parucipants who were at least age 40 at 31 December
200! can receive an additional 0 5% — 1 5% of pay

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

None

PERFORMANCE PERIOPD

None

IMPLEMENTATION

No change

Retrement benefits are reported on page 83
OTHER EMPLOYEES

Executive directors participate in the same pension
arrangements that have been set up for Pearson
employees in the US and the UK

Note | Members of the Pearson Group Pension Plan who jomed after May 1969
are subject to anupper kut of earnengs that can be used for pension purposes
knowen a8 the earnungs cap Theshimwe, £100 600 as at & Aprif 2006 was abolished
by the Finance Act 2004 However the Pearson Group Pension Plan has retained
tsown c2p whichwillincrease annually in kne with the UK Government s
lndex of Retal Prces (All Icemns) The cap was £137400 as 3t 6 Apnit 2012

Note 2 As aresult of the UK Government s A-Day changes effective from

April 2006, UK execunve directors and other members of the Pearson Group
Pension Plan whoare or betome affected by the ifeume allowance may be
provided wath a cash supplement as an alternative to further accrual of pension
benefits on a basis that is broadly cost peutral to the company Effective from
SAprl2011 the znaual allowance {Le the maimum amount of pension

that benefits from tax relief each year) reduced from £255 00010 £50 000,
Effective 6 April 2012 the ifetme owance ( . the madmum amount of penson
and /o lump sum that can benefit from taxrehef) reduced from £1 8m w £1 Sm
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Report on directors’ remuneration Policy tabie
conunued

Annual incentives

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

> Mouvate achievement of annual strategic goals
and personal objectives

> Provide focus on key financral metrics

+ Reward individual contribution to the success
of the company

OPERATION

Up to 90% of total opportunity 1s based onfinancial
performance at the corporate and business urut level
Up to 50% of total opportunity 1s based on
performance against personal objectives

The commuttee establishes threshaold, target and
maxirmum levels of performance for different levels
of payout

Performance 1s measured separately for each tem

Annual incentive payments do not form part of
pensionable earnings

GPPORTUNITY

For the chief executive, maxmmum opportunity
ts 180% of base salary

For other members of the Pearson Management
Commuitee, ndwidual incentive opportunities take
into account their membership of that commuttee
and the relative contribution of their businesses or
roles to the company’s overall goals, wath a maxamum
opportunity of up te 175% of salary

For the chief executive and other members of the
Pearson Management Commuittee, there is normally no
payout for performance at threshold The performance
range sets a careful balance between upside oppartunity
and dpwnside risk and 1s normally based on targets n
accordance with the operaung pian

Annual Incentive plans are discretionary and the
committee reserves the right to make adjustments to
payments up or down ff it believes exceptional factors
warrant doing so

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

Subject to the achrevement of targets for sales,
growth in underlying earnings per share for continhuing
operations at constant exchange rates (for Pearson
plc) or operating profit (for the operating companies),
average working capual as a ratio to sales, operating
cash flow and personal objectives

The selection and weighting of performance measures
takes into account the strategic objectives and the
business priorities relevant to each operating company
and to Pearson overall each year

Personal objectives are agreed with the chief executive
{or. n the case of the chief executve, the chairman)
and may be functional, operational, strategic and non-
financral and include mter alig objectives relating to
environmental, social and governance issues

PERFORMANCE PERIOD
One year
IMPLEMENTATION

Annual incentive payments for 2042 are reported
in the total remuneration table on page 80

For 2013, the maximum annual incentive opportunity
for the chief executive remains at 180% of base salary
and up to 175% of base salary for the other members
of the Pearson Management Committee

OTHER EMPLOYEES

Many people participate in some form of cash-based
annual incentive, bonus, profit-share or sales
commussion plan

Annual incentive plans for the Pearson Management
Committee form the basss of the annual incentive
plans below the level of the principal operating
compames and establish performance measures
and standards and set the cething for individual
Incentive opportunities




Long-term incentives

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY
» Help to recruit, reward and retan

» Dnive long-term earnings and share price growth
and value creation

» Align mterests of executives and shareholders

» Encourage leng-term shareholding and commitment
to the company

» Link corporate performance to management's long-
term reward in a flexible way

OFPERATION

Last approved by shareholders m 2011 Awards may
be delivered in restncted shares and/or share options,
although it 1s not the commuttee’s intention to grant
share opuons for the foreseeabte future

Awards for execuuve directors and other members
of the Pearson Management Committee vest on a
shding scale based on performance agamst stretching
corporate performance targets 75% of the vested
award is released at the end of the three-year
performance penod and the remaining 25% only vests
if the partitapant retains the after-tax number of
shares for a further two years

Restnicted shares may be granted without performance
condrions to satisfy recrurtment and retentzon objectives,
but not to any of the current executive directors

Where shares vest, partiapants also receive addiional
shares representng the gross value of dvdends that
would have been paid on these shares during the
performance penod and reinvested

Pearson's reported financiaf results for the relevant
penods are used to measure performance

The committee has discretion to make adjustments
taking into account exceptional factors that distort
underfying business performance In exerasing such
disoretion, the committee is guided by the principle
of aligning shareholder and management interests
No such adpustments were made for performance
penods ending in 2012

QPPORTUNITY
We set the level of indvidual awards by taking
INLO 2CCOUNt

> the face value of ndmdual awards at the tme of grant,
assurming that performance targets are metin full,

» market practice for comparable companies and
market assessments of total remuneration from
our independent advisers,
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» indmidual roles and responsibriities, and
» company and ndwidual performance
PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

Subject to the achievement of targets for relative total
shareholder return, return on invested capitat and
earnings per share growth, with normally one third of
the award based on each The committee determines
the performance measures and targets governing an
award of restncted shares pnior to grant

PERFORMANCE FERIOD
Three years
IMPLEMENTATION
No charige

Awards are reported in the movements in directors’
interests i restricted shares and share options tables
on pages B6 to 89

GTHER EFIPLOYEES

Approximately 6% of the company's employees below
the Pearson Management Commintee —sefected on
the basis of thesr role, performance and potential ~
currently hold tme-vesung shares under the long-term
Incentive plan

All employees (including executive directors) are also
eligble to participate in savings-related share acquistion
programmes in the UK, US and rest of wortd, which are
not subject to any performance condions

Note 3 Total tharsholder return (TSR} is the return to shareholders from
ary growth in Pearsons share price and reinvested dividends over the
performancet period. For long-term incertive swards TSR Is measured refative
o the tonstituents of the FTSE Warld Media Index over athree year period
Companias that drop out of the index are normally excluded 1.e onfy companies
n the index for the entlre period are counted Share price is averaged over 20
days at the start and end of the performance period commenang on the date
of Pearson s results announcemnent in the year of grant and the year ol vesting.
Dividends are treated as reimvasied on the ex-divdend date m line with the
Cratastream methodology The vesting of shares based on refative TSR is subgect
@ the cotmritiee matsfyng itself that the recorded TSR 15 1 gemume refletbon of
the underlying financal performance of the busiess, The cormmuttee chose TSR
relative to the constituents of the FTSE Workd Medsa index because i line with
many of our shareholders ¢ f2kt that part of executive directors rewards should
be Enked to performance refative to the company s peers

Note 4 Return on i d F (ROIC) 15 adjusted operating
profitiess cash tax expressed at a percentage of grossifested capatal

(ret operating assets phus gross poodwill) We chose RCAC because, over the
pastfew years the transformatron of Pearsen has significantly mcreased the
capital mvested in the business {mostly in the form of gosdwill associated with
acquisitions) and required substantial cashnvesumant 1o integrate

thoe acquinions

Note 5 Adjusted sarnings per share (EPS) Is caleufated by dividing the
sdjusted earmngs atinbutable to equity shareholders of the campany by the
werghted average numberof ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding
any ordinary shares purchased by the company and held in trust (se¢ note 8

of the financial statements for a detaled description of adjusted earmingt per
share) EPS growth is calculatad using the paint 1o-point method This method
<ompares the adjusted EPS in the company s accounys for the financlal ysar
ended prior to the prant date with the adpisted EPS for the financral year ending
three years later and calcuiates the impilat compound annual growth rate
over the peried We chose EPS growth because strong bettom-ine growth i
imperative if we are to improve our TSR and our ROIC
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Report on directors’ remuneration Policy table
continued

Bonus share matching

PURPGSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

» Encourages executve directors and other senior
managers to acquire and hold Pearson shares

» Aligns interests of executrves and shareholders
OPERATION

First approved by shareholders in 1998, last approved
by shareholders in 2008

Seror managers across the company are invited to
invest up to 50% of their after-tax annual Incentive

tn Pearson shares and hold these shares for three
years, in return for the opportunity t0 earn additional
free matching shares and dividend shares, depending
on performance against the earrungs per share
performance condition

Where matching shares vest, participants also recewe
addiwwonal shares representing the gross value of

dvidends that would have been pard on the matching
shares during the performance period and reinvested

OPPORTUNLTY

Maximum matching award 1s equal to the number

of shares that could have been acquured wath the
amount of pre-tax annual bonus invested in Pearson
shares (i e one matching share for every one invested
share, grossed up for tax)

Share ownership guidelines

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY
> Align interests of executives and shareholders
CPERATION

Executive directors are expected to butldup a
substannal shareholding in the company in line wath
the policy of encouraging widespread employee
ownership Shares that count towards these guidelines
mclude any shares held unencumbered by the
executive, their spouse and/or dependent children
plus arty shares vested but held pending release under
arestricted share plan

Executrve directors have five years from the date
of appointment to reach the guideline

CPPORTUNITY

Target holding 1s two umes salary for the chief
executve and | 25 times satary for the other executive
directors, consistent with median pracuce in FTSE 100
comparies that operated such arrangements when
the guidefine was set

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

Maxamum martching award is achieved if the compary’s
earnings per share increase in real terms by 5% per
annum compound over the three-year performance
peried 50% of the maximum matching award 1s
released if the company's adjusted earmings per share
ncrease in real terms by 3% per annum compound
over the same period Matching shares are calculated
on a straight-line basis for performance between
threshold and maxmum

PERFORMANCE PERICD

Three years
IMPLEMENTATION
No change

Awards are reported in the movements in directors'
interests in restricted shares table on pages 86 to 88

OTHER EMPLOYEES

Around 450 semor managers across the cornpany

are ehigible to partiapate in this plan, typically direct
reports to the operating company CEQs, their semor
management teams, and anyone who has a direct and
sigreficant influence on corporate strategy and financial
performance

Note &6 Earnungs per shars growth is calcutated using the point-to-pomt
method which compares the adustad earnings per share 1 the company s
accounts for the financial year ended pror to the grant date with the adpusted
earnings per share for the financial year ending three years later and caloulates

the impliar compound annuzl growth rate over the period Raal growth s
caleulated by reference to tha UK Government s Ratall Prices Index (All ltems)

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS
None

PERFORMAMNCE PERIOD

None

IMPLEMENTATION

No change

Directors’ interests are reported on page %0
All executve directors comfortably exceeded
these gwidelnes in 2012

OTHER EMPLOYEES

There are no mandatory share ownership guidelines
below executive director level, although employees are
encouraged to become shareholders in the company
by retaining shares acquired through the company’s
discretionary and ali-employee stock programmes




Service agreements

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

Provide an appropriate level of protection for the
exeautive and the company by

» setting out individual entitlements to elements
of remuneration consistent with policy

¥ summansing notice periads and compensation on
termination of employment by the company without
notice Or cause

» describing the obligations in relation to
confidentality, data protecuion. intellectual property
and restrant on certan activities

OPERATION

The policy on executive directors’ service agreements
was reviewed 1n 2008, 2010 and againin 2012 In
accordance with long established policy, all executive
directors have roling service agreements under which,
other than by terminatton in accordance with the
terms of these agreements, employment continues
until reyrement

There are no specal provisions for notice or
compensation In the event of a change of control
of Pearson

On termination of employment, executive directors’
entitlermnents to any vested or unvested awards under
Pearson’s discreuonary share plans are treated in
accordance with the terms of the relevant plan

OFPPORTUNITY

The company may terminate executive directors’
service agreements by giving no more than
12 moriths’ notice

As an alternative, the company may at its discretion
pay in heu of that notice Paymentan-heu of notice
may be made in nstalments and may be subject to
mizgation Longer serving directors with legacy
agreements are entitfed to hquidated damages if the
company termuinates their agreement without notice
or cause

For exeautive directors whose service will continue
throughout 2013, compensation on terminanon of
employment by the company without notice or cause
comprises 100% of the annuai salary at the date

of termination and the annual cost to the company

of providing pension and all other benefits

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

None

Secton 4 Governance n

PERFORMANCE PERIOD
None
IMPLEMENTATION

The service agreements for the executive directors,
including the CEQ, who will continue to serve
throughout 2013 were reviewed and amended

The consequence of this review has been to remove
any entitement to annual iIncentive from the
calcutation of any compensauon that meght be payable
in the event of termination of employment by the
company without notice or cause Detalls of each
individual’s service agreement are reported in the
notes below

OTHER EMPLOYEES

Emplayment agreements for other employees below
the Pearson Management Committee are determined
according to local labour law and market practice

Note 7We summarise the service agreements that will apply to directors
serving dunng 2013 as follows

Comp on ter
Date of Notke of employmant by the company

MNamne agresment perids wathoA NOtie oF CRAL
Glen 29 July 12 months from  Payment-m-lieu of notice of 100%
Moreno 2005 the dhrector of annuat fees at the data of

12 months from  tenmination

the comparny
John 3l December Skkmonths from  Payment-in-lieu of nouce of 100%
Fallon 012 the director of anmual salary a1 the date of

12 months frem  terminztion and the annual cost

the company of pentlon and all ather benefits
wilt 31 Decamber Sbxmonths from Sevarance payments of 100%
Ethndge 2042 the director of anmusal salary at the date of

12 months from  termunation and the anmual cost

the company of pension and all other benefits

Robin 17 December S months from  Payment-inlieu of notice of 100%
Freastone 2012 the director of annual salary at the date of
12 months from  termunabon and the anmuz cost.
the company of pension and all other benefits

John 21 December Sbomonths from  Ligusdated damages of 100%

Makinson 2012 the director of annual sabary at the date of
12 hs from  ter and the gnnual cost
the company of persion and afl other benefits

Note 8 Mangre Scarding served under ber sernce agreement dated

17 February 2004 untd she left employment on 3 Diecernber 2012

This agreement provided for notice perieds of six months from the director
and 12 menths from the company and compensation on terrnation af
employment by the comgany without ngtice or cause of 100% of annual salacy
at the date of termination the apnuat cost of pension and afl other benefis
and 50% of potential annual ncentres

Mote ¥ Rona farhead s servce agreement dated 24 January 2003 contnues
w effect for the first four manths of 243 uatd she leaves the company on

30 Apri 2043 This agreement provides for nouce periods of six months from
the director and 12 months from the company and compensation on
termination of employment by the company without notice or cause of 100%
af annual salary atthe date of termunation the anaual cost of pension and all
other benefits and $S0% of potential anhual incentrve
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Report on directors’ remuneratuon continued

Recruitment

The committee determines the remuneration package
for any new appointment to the Pearson Management
Committee, either from within or outside of Pearsen
Remuneratton includes base safary, annual and
long-term incenuve enttlements and awards, and
pension arrangements

The committee carefully considers factors such as

the relative srze and contribution of the role, the
indridual’s skills and expenence, the availability of skills
and expenence in the market, the indvidual’s current
remuneration package, the market rate for the job and
internal companisons within Pearson before
determining an appropnate remuneration package for
a new appointment. Occasionally this requires a degree
of flexability so that the remuneration policy boundarres
are wider than under usual crcumstances but at all
times the commuttee seeks to mimimise internal
dispanties and to avoid pay for poor performance

For someone joining from outside of Pearson, the offer
may include compensation for the forferture of awards
from a previous emiployer on a comparable basis,
talung account of performance achieved or likely to be
achieved, the proportion of performance penod
remaining and the form of the award

Benchmarking

For benchmarkang purposes, we review remuneraton
by reference to three separate comparator groups
First, we use a select peer group of FTSE 100
companies with very substantal overseas operauons,
excluding financial services These companies are of a
range of sizes relatrve to Pearson, but the method our
ndependent adwisers, Towers Watson, use 10 make
companisons on remuneration takes this variagon in
size into account. Secondly, we lock at a broad media
mdustry group of US compames And thirdly, we look
at the FTSE 20-50, excluding financial services We use
these compames because they represent the wider
executive talent pool from which we might expect

to recruit externally and the pay market to which

we might be vulnerable if our remuneration was

not competitive

Market assessments against the three groups take
account of key factors which Towers Watson's
research shows differentate remuneration for
Jjobs of a stifar nature, such as financial size,
board membership, reporting relationships and
mternational acuvities

For benchmarking purposes and for the performance
scenangs below, the main elements of remuneration
are valued as follows

Eferent of ramuneration  Vahadon

Base salary Actual base salary

Allowances, Cost to company of providing
retirement and allowances, retirement and

other benefits other benefits

Annual incentive  Target level of annual incentive
Long-term Expected value of long-term
ncentive incentve award

Bonus share Expected value of matching award
matching based on target level of annual

incentive and assuming maximum
amount (50% of annual incentive)
. 15 Invested
Total remuneraton Sum of all elements of
TEMUNEraton

Expected value means Towers Watson's assessment
of the awards’ net present value taking into account
the vesung schedule and the probabiity that any
performance targets will be met.



Pay and performance

Consistent with 1its policy, the commttee places
considerable emphasis on the performance-lnked
elements 1 e annual incentives, bonus share matchung
and fong-term ncentives

The commilttee considers what each director can
expect to recerve under different performance
scenarios, based on the following definitions

of performance

Performance scenarto  Elements of remuneratuon

Base salary, allowances, benefits,
retirement benefits, maxmum annual
mncentive, maximum bonus share
matching and maxmum long-term
Incentive

Maximum

Target Base salary, allowances, benefits,
rettrement benefits, target annual
mnc¢entive, target bonus share
matching and target long-term
Incentive

Fixed Base salary, allowances, benefits and
reurement benefits only

Section 4 Governance 75

The relative importance of fixed and performance-
related remuneration for the chief executive and other
executrve directors is typically as follows

Graphs removed

We will continue to review the mix of fixed and
performance-linked remuneration on an annual basis,
consistent with our overall philosophy
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Chatrman’s remuneration

The committee’s policy s that the chairman’s pay
should be set at a level that is competitive with those
of charmen in similar positions in comparable
companies He is not entitled to any annual or long-
term incentive, retirement or other benefits

Following the commuttee’s last review in 2010, the
chairman’s remuneration was mcreased tQ Its current
level wath effect from | April 2011 The next review
will take place mn 2014

Non-executive directors

Fees are determmned by the full board having regard
to market practice and within the restrictions
contained in the company's Articles of Association
Naon-executive directars recewve to other pay or
benefits {other than rembursement for expenses
incurred In connection with therr directorship of the
company) and do not participate in the company's
equity-based incentive plans

With effect from | July 2010, the structure and fees
are as follows

Fees payable

from ) ity

2010

Non-execuuve director £65,000
Chairmanship of audit committee £25,000
Charmanship of remuneration committee  £20,000
Membership of audit committee £10,000
Membership of remuneration committee £5,000
Senior independent director £20,000

A minimum of 25% of the basic fee is paid in Pearson
shares that the non-executive directors have
committed to retain for the period of their
directorships

Non-execunve directors serve Pearson under letters
of appointment and do not have service contracts
There 1s no entidlement to compensation on the
termmation of their directorships

Relative importance of pay spend

We show below the year-on-year change in the
relative importance of pay spend compared to the
return to shareholders (dividends) and remvestment
in the company (adjusted operaung profit for
continuing operations)

Year on year

2012 01t change

m &m 3 %

Operaung profit 936 942 (6) (%
Drvidends } ) 346 318 28 9%
Wages and salaries 1,659 1531 128 8%
Directors’ salaries/fees, 6 8 (2 (25%)

annual incentives,
allowances and benefits

Note | Wages and salanes include conunuing operations only
and exclude Penguin 2011 15 restated on the same basis
Employee numbers for continuing operations for 2012 were
42980 (2011 37.964) Further detals are set out in note 5
to the financial statements on page 115

Note 2 Directors' salaries/fees, annual incentives, allowances
and benefits exclude reurement benefits and long-term
Incenttves consistent with wages and salaries

Employee engagement

In accordance with the committee's charter and terms
of reference, the committee’s remit does not include
remuneration matters below that of the chuef
executive, the other executive directors and other
mernbers of the Pearson Management Committee
However, before the remuneration packages for the
Pearson Management Committee are set for the year
ahead, the committee considers a report from the
chief executive and director for people on general pay
trends n the market and the level of pay increases
across the company as a whole This helps to ensure
that executive remuneration packages are reviewed in
the context of the wider organisation

The company consults with vanous employee
representative bodies — including trade unions and
works councils in some jurisdictions — about the
company’s strategy, competiuiveness and performance
of the business and other matters affecting employees
The company also conducts an employee engagement
survey to find out how people feel about working for
Pearson, what they think about the work they do, the
opportunities they have and the rewards they get
{including a section on pay and benefits) The company
uses all of this feedback to inform decisions on people-
related activittes, rescurces and investment, local
management action plans and wider business unit and
organisational strategres

It 15 the company’s intention 1o continue to engage
with employees and employee representatves 1 this
way in the future




Shareholder engagement

The company consults regularly with shareholders
on all matters affecting its strategy and business
operations As part of that process, we also engage
with shareholders on matters refating to executive
remuneration

In 2012, the committee amended the service contracts
for all executive directors continuing to serve
throughout 2013 The consequence of this review has
been to remove any entitlement to annual ncentive
from the calculation of any compensation that might be
payable on termination of employment by the
company without notice or cause, in line with the
prevailing view of best practice amongst sharehotders
and therr representatives

The commuttee continues to be aware of and respond
to best practice guidelines of shareholders and their
representative bodies

Misstatement or misconduct

In 201 I, the committee reviewed the company’s
powers to adjust and reclaim vanable remuneraton in
exceptional circumstances of misstatement or
misconduct The committee already has long-standing
discretionary powers to make downward adjustments
under the annual and long-term incentive plans, as
described i the remuneraton policy table on pages 7¢
and 71 The company will follow its legal rights and
reclarm rewards gamed in the event of proven wrong
doing which led to misstatement of the company's
accounts

Section 4 Goverfiance
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Implementauon reporc

The remuneratton committee and its activities

David Arculus chared the remuneratton committee
for the year 2012, the other members were Patrick
Cescau {who stood down from the committee at the
AGM), Vivienne Cox (who Joined the commuttee
duning the year), Ken Hydon and Gfen Moreno

Dawvid Arculus, Patnck Cescau, Vivienne Cox and
Ken Hydon are independent non-executive directors
Glen Moreno, chairman of the board, 1s a member of
the committee as permitted under the UK Corporate
Governance Code,

Marjore Scardino, chief executive, Robin Freestone,
chief financial officer, Robin Baliszewsk, director for
people, Robert Head, director for executive reward,
and Stephen Jones, head of company secretarial and
deputy secretary, provided materal assistance to the
cormmittee dunng the year They attended meetings of
the committee, although none of them was involved in
any decisions refating to s or her own remuneration

To ensure that it receves independent advice, the
committee has appointed Towers Watson to supply
survey data and to adwise on market trends, {ong-term
incentives and other general remuneration matters
Towers Watson also advised the company on health
and weifare benefits in the US and provided consulting
advice directly to certain Pearson gperating companies
Towers Watson are members of the Remuneration
Consultants” Group, the body which oversees the code
of conduct in relation to executive remuneration
consulting in the UK,

The committee’s principal duty is to determine and
regularly review, having regard to the UK Corporate
Governance Code and on the advice of the chief
executive, the remuneration policy and the
remuneration and benefits packages of the executive
directors and other members of the Pearson
Management Committee comprising CEOs of principal
operating businesses and senior heads of strategic
corporate functions This includes base salary, annual
and fong-term incentives, retirement and any

other benefits

The committee’s duties are also

» to review and approve corporate goals and objectives
relevant to executive compensation and to evaluate
performance in light of those goals and objectives

~

to approve the company's long-term incentive and
other share plans

~

to advise and decide on general and specific
arrangements 1n connaction with the termmation
of employment of executive directors and other
members of the Pearson Management Committee

~

1o have delegated responsibihty for determming the
remuneration and benefits package of the chairman
of the board

~

to ensure that all provisions regarding disclosure
of informauon are fuffilled

w

to appoint and set the terms of reference for any
remuneration consuftants who advise the committee
and monitor the cost of such advice

The commutree's full charter and terms of reference
are available on the company's website

Annually, the committee reviews its own performance,
constitution and charter and terms of reference to
ensure It is operating at maxmum effectiveness and
recommend any changes it considers necessary to the
board for approval

The committee participated In 2 survey to review its
performance and effectveness in July 2012, looking at
areas such as the clanty of roles and responsibilities,
the composition of the commuttee, the use of time,
the quality and umeliness of meeting materals, the
oppoertunity for discussion and debate, dialogue with
management and access to ndependent advice

The committee concluded that it is operating
effectively and noted the challenges for the year ahead



The committee met six omes during 2012 The
matters discussed and actions taken were as follows

0 AND 24 FEBRUARY 2012

» Reviewed and approved 2011 annual mcentive
plan payouts

» Reviewed and approved 2009 long-term mcentive
plan payouts and release of shares

» Approved vesting of 2007 and 2009 annual bonus
share matching awards and release of shares

» Reviewed base salaries for the Pearson Management
Committee and endorsed the recommendation of the
executive directors and other members of the Pearson
Management Commuttee that they recerve no increase
i base salaries for 2012

» Reviewed and approved 2012 Pearson and operating
company annual Incentive plan targets

» Reviewed and approved 2012 indwidual annual
incentive opportunities for the Pearson Management
Committee

» Reviewed and approved 2012 long-term incentive
awards and associated performance conditions for
the Pearson Management Commuittee

» Reviewed and approved 2011 report on directors’
remuneration

» Noted company's use of equity for employee
share plans

» Reviewed and approved the remuneration package
for the chief executive

27 APRIL 2012

> Reviewed and approved 2012 long-term incentive
awards for the Pearson Management Committee

» Noted the company's response to the UK pension tax
reltef changes for high earners

26 JULY 2012

» Noted the activity of the Standing Commuttee of the
Board m relation to the operation of the company's
equity-based reward programmes

> Raufied the 2012 annual incentive plans for Pearson plc
and the operating companies

» Discussed Towers Watson's overview of the current
remuneration environment

» Reviewed committee’s charter and terms of reference

Section 4 Governance 79

3 OCTOBER 2012

» Noted the activity of the Standing Committee of the
board in relation to the operation of the company’s
equity-based reward programmes

» Noted the appomntment of John Fallon to the board
and reviewed his remuneration package

» Approved 2012 long-term incentve awards for
executives and managers

> Reviewed commuttee’s performance and effectiveness

> Reviewed remuneration policy and practice and the
implications of the new reporting regulations

5 DECEMBER 2012

» Discussed Towers Watson's overview of the current
remuneration environment,

y Considered Towers Watson's report on remunaration
for the Pearson Management Committee for 2013

» Reviewed status of outstanding long-term incentive
awards

» Considered 2013 annual incentive plan metrics

> Considered the approach to 2013 long-term mcentive
plan awards for the Pearson Management Committee

» Noted the recommended format for the 2012 report
on directors’ remuneration taking account of the
proposed reporting regulations

> Reviewed and approved the service agreement
for John Fallen’s appointment as chuef executive

> Reviewed and approved the leaving arrangemenits

for Manorie Scardino, Rona Fairhead and one other
member of the Pearson Management Committee
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Report on directors’ remuneration conunued

Total remuneration

Total remuneration for the directors in 2012 was as follows

12 011
Long Totul Lorg- Toul
Sslanes/  Annual Reurement tem (songle Recrement term (ungle
All figures in £000s fees incenuve Affawances Benefis Sub-toral benefits mcentives figure} Sub totat benefits incentives figure)
Chatrman
Glen Maoreno 500 - - - 500 - - 500 488 - -~ 488
Executive directors . )
Marjone Scardno 993 432 60 65 1,550 712 4088 6,350 2,455 706 5719 8,880
Will Ethrdge 658 293 - - 954 302 1532 2785 1,390 575 3,196 516
Rona Farrhead 529 192 - 25 746 267 1,109 2,122 999 182 1,574 2,755
John Fallon 146 63 - 4 213 64 317 594 - - - -
(apponted
3 October 2012}
Robin Freestone 500 252 - 15 767 15) 1,461 2,379 |,094 150 2,087 3,331
John Makinson 549 2138 211 16 1,014 - 1,081 2,095 |A417 346 1,57V 3344
Non-executive
directors
Dawvd Arculus 95 - - - 95 - - 95 95 - - 95
Patrick Cescau 90 - - - 90 - - 90 100 - - 100
Vivienne Cox 80 — - - 80 - - 80 - - — -
{appointed
| January 2012)
Susan Fuhrman 75 - - - 75 - - 75 75 - - 75
Ken Hydon 95 — - - 95 - - 25 25 - - 95
Josh Lews 75 - - - 75 - - 75 63 - - 63
Total 4,385 1,470 271 125 6,251 1,496 9,588 17,335 8,27 1,959 14,147 24,377
Total 2014 4,139 3752 16 64 8,271

Note | For the full year, John Fallon’s remunerauon reflected nine months in tis role as CEO, Pearson intermational and
three months as Pearson CEQ designate and was salary/fees - £506, annual incentive — £259, benefits — £16, sub-total - £781,
retirement benefits — £262, long-term incentives — £1,306, total — £2 349 (alt figures wn £000s)

Note 2 In anticipation of the proposed reporting regulatsons, we show a ‘single figure’ of total remuneration, which includes
reurement benefits and long-term incentives in additon to the other elements of remuneration that have been shown in previous
reperts Consistent with the methodology proposed by the Financial Reporting Counct at the ume of writing, retirement benefits
mclude the increase o the value of the pension fund dunng the year, compnsing company contributons to the plan dunng the
year for defined contnbution plans and the increase in the pension fund offset for inflavon and muluphed by 20 for defined benefit
plans, as well as other pension-related costs (see the retrement benefits table on page 83 for further detar} Long-term
incenuves include all awards under the long-term incentrve plan, borus share matching plan or all-employee share plan that vested
during the year or that have not yet vested but where performance 1s known at year-end as welt as dradend shares accruing and
released on such shares in the year (see the tables on movements In restricted shares and share opuosns on pages 86 to 89 for
further detad)

Note 3 The company provided gifts to Patrick Cescau and Manonie Scardino after they stepped down from the board In the case
of Patrick Cescau, the value of the gifts was £21,700 Maijone Scardino received a painting originally purchased by the company
for £12,000, which has an estimated value of approximately £50,000 ~ £100,000




Salaries/fees
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Salaries/fees paid by the company are reported in the table on total remuneration of the directors Fees pawd

by other comparues to the executive directors for their non-executive directorships elsewhere are reported

separately on page 92

Fees paid to non-executive directors in 2012 were comprised as follows

All figures m £000s Basicfee C chair hip € membrership  Senior independent directorship Toml
Dawid Arculus 65 20 10 - 95
Patrick Cescau &5 - 5 20 30
Vivienne Cox 65 - 15 - 80
Susan Fuhrman 65 - {0 - 75
Ken Hydon 65 25 5 - 95
Josh Lewis 65 — i0 - 75

Annual ncentive

For 2012, annual incentive opportumities were based on the following performance measures and performance
agamnst these measures (designated as = below threshold, < between threshold and target, ® between targat
and maximum and ¥ above maximum) was as follows

Weighung of performance measures

Performance m 2012

(% of muomum opporturity} Pearson plc Opetating company/companes
Undertpng Average Average Payout
Operaung growth in working working m 2012
Pearson company!  Personal  adusted capial to Operaung Operaung  capial 1o Operatng % of
Name ple companies objecaves EPS Sales mlesrano cish low Sales profit  siesrado  cash flow salary)
Marjone 90% - 0% < - > - 43 5%
Scardino
Will Ethridge 30% 60%  10% < - > - = < - = 445%
Pearson North
America
Rona Farrhead 30% 50% 10% - - = - = 364%
Professional
Assessment &
Traming
10% > > +
FT Publistung
John Fallon 30% 60% 10% - - =< < + = 511%
Pearson
Internavonal
Robn Freestone 80% - 20% - = 504%
John Makinson  30% 50% 10% < - > - < - - - 434%
Penguin Geoup
10%
India

Allowances

Allowances for Marjorie Scardino include £49,570 i respect of housing costs and a US payroll supplement of
£9,985 John Makinsor is entitfed to a location and market premium in refation to the management of the business
of the Pengumn Group in the US and receved £210,937 for 2012

Benefits

Benefits include company car, car alfowance and UK healthcare premiums US health benefits for Marjorie Scardino
and Wil Ethnidge are self-insured and the cost 1s tax free to employees For Marjorie Scardino, benefits include
£48,600 for pension planning and financial advice Marjorie Scardino, Rona Fairhead and John Makinson have the

use of a chauffeur
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Retirement benefits
Description of the directors’ pension entitlements are as follows

Direcror

Retrement benefits

Marjone
Scardino

will
Ethridge

Rona
Farrhead

John Fallon

Robin
Freestone

John
Makinson

Member of the Pearson Inc Pension Plan {under which her benefit accruals ceased at the end of 2001)
and the approved 401 (k) plan Untl 2010, additional benefits were provided through an unfunded
unapproved defined contributron plan Since 2010, additional pension benefits are provided through

a taxable and non-pensionable cash supplement in place of the unfunded plan, a funded defined
contribution plan approved by HM Revenue and Customs as a corresponding plan, and amounts in the
legacy unfunded plan In aggregate, the cash supplement and contributions to the funded plan are based
on a percentage of salary and a fixed cash amount index-linked to inflation The notional cash balance
of the legacy unfunded plan increases annually by a specified notional interest rate The unfunded plan
also provides the opportunity to convert a proportion of this notional cash account into a notional
share account reflecting the value of a number of Pearson ordinary shares The number of shares in the
notional share account 15 determined by reference to the market value of Pearson shares at the date of
conversion

Member of the Pearson Inc Pension Plan {under which he contnues to accrue benefits under the
alternative formula because he sausfied critera of age and service) and the approved 401 (k) plan He
also participates in an unfunded, non-qualified Supplemental Executve Retirement Plan (SERP) that
provides an annual accrual of 2% of final average earnings, less benefits accrued in the Pearson Inc
Pension Plan and US Social Security Addittonal defined contnbution benefits are provided through a
funded, non-qualified Excess Plan

Member of the Pearson Group Penston Plan Her pension accrual rate 1s 1 /30th of pensionable salary
per annumn, restncted to the plan earmngs cap Unul Aprid 2006, the company also contnbuted to a
Funded Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme (FURBS) on her behalf Since Apn! 2006, she has
received a taxable and non-penstonable cash supplement n replacement of the FURBS

Member of the Pearson Group Pension Plan His pension accrual rate 15 | /30th of pensionable salary
per annum, restricted to the plan earmings cap Until April 2006, the company also contnbuted to a
Funded Unapproved Retrement Benefits Scheme (FURBS) on his behalf Since April 2006, he has
receved a taxable and non-pensionable cash supplement in replacement of the FURBS

Member of the Money Purchase 2003 section of the Pearson Group Penston Plan Company
contributions are 16% of pensionable salary per annum, restricted to the plan earmings cap Until April
2006, the company also contributed to a Funded Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme (FURBS)
an his behalf Since Aprd 2006, he has recewved a taxable and non-pensionable cash supplement in
replacement of the FURBS

Member of the Pearson Group Pension Plan under which his pensionable salary 1s restricted to the plan
earnings cap The company ceased contributions on 3| December 200! to his FURBS arrangement
and the benefits were withdrawn in 2012, reducing the benefits payable under the UURBS During
2002 it set up an Unfunded Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme (UURBS) for him The LIURBS
tops up the pension payable from the Pearson Group Pension Plan and the closed FURBS to target a
pension of two-thwds of a revalued base salary on retrement at age 62 The revalued base salary 15
defined as £450,000 effective at | June 2002, increased at | January each year by reference to the
increase in the UK Government’s Index of Retail Prices (Al Items) In the event of his death 2 pension
from the Pearson Group Pension Plan and the UURBS will be paid to his spouse or nominated financial
dependant Early retirement ts currently possible from age 55, with company consent
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Details of the directors’ pension entitlements and pension-related benefits during the year are as follows

Qther
Increase/ increase/ Transfer pension
{decrease) Increase! (decrease}  value of the casts Odher
in acarued {decrease) in acarued ingrease in to the Other  pension Value in
Accrued  pension  Transfer Transfer i transfer  pension accrued cornpany allowances in  related 2012
pension at  over the  value at valueat  value over over the pension at over the liey of  benefic  single
Directors® Ageat 31 Dec 12 period 21 Dec i 31Dac |2 theperod period 31Dec 12 peniod pension costs  figure
pensions 3V Oec 12 000" £0007 £000° {000+ £000 {000 £000'% L0007 £000* £000°  £000%
Marjorie
Scardino 65 37 (10) 495 488 o7 (n - 105 6651 583 712
Wil
Ethridge 60 2120 17620393 25020 4627 134 1578 17 — 17 302
Rona
Fairhead 51 486 64 5793 7008 1150 54 720 - 1339 253 267
John Fallon 50 655 71 8I57 9659 1437 59 800 - 1314 ‘|30 &4
Robin
Freestone 54 - - - - - - - 207 1233 67 ISt
John
Makinson 58 2212 (868)59065 44209 (14920) (936) - - - 177 -

Note | The accrued pension at 3| December 2012 Is the deferred penston to which the member would be enttled on ceasing
pensionable service on 31 December 2012 For Manjorte Scardino this s the approximate pension payable in respect of her
frozen benefit in the US plan For Will Ethndge this 1s his pension from the US plan and the US SERP For Rona Fairhead and John
Failon i relates to the pension payable from the UK plan For John Makinson it relates to the pension from the UK Plan and his
unapproved arrangaments In aggregate Robin Freestone does not accrue defined benefits

Note 2 This is the change m accrued pension over the year cormpared with the accrued pension at the end of the previous year

Note 3 This 1s the transfer value quoted at the end of the previous year

Note 4 The UK transfer values at 3| December 2012 are calculated using the assumpuons for cash equivalents payable from the
UK plan and are based on the accrued pension at that date There were no changes in the transfer value methodology over the
year although the discount rates are updated each month to reflect changes in market condinons For the US SERP, transfer
values are calculated using a discount rate equivalent to current US long-term bond yields The US plan is a lump sum plan and the
accrued balance 1s included where appitcable

Note 5 Less directors’ contributions

Note & Net of UK inflanon {where inflaton 1s the increase in CP to the previous Septernber, subject 10 a minsmum of 0% pa and
a maximum of 5% pa) In the case of John Makinson, the accrued pension over the penod has decreased because of a transfer
made as a result of a pension shanng order

Note 7 This colurmn comprises contributions to defined contribution arrangements for UK benefits For US benefits, it mcludes
company contnbutions to funded defined contnbution plans and novonal contributons to unfunded defined contnbution plans

Note 8 This column represents the cash allowances paid in lieu of the previous unfunded defined contributcn plan for Marjone
Scardino and of the previous FURBS arrangements for Rona Fairhead, John Faflon and Robin Freesione john Makemnson's deferred

FURBS enutlement is referred to in note | above
Note 9 This column compnses Iife cover and long-term disability insurance not covered by the retirement plans

Note |0 The single figure of total remunerauon includes the following elements from the table on retirement benefits the
Increase in accrued pension over the pened offset for inflauon and muluplied by 20 (defined benefit plans), other pension costs
to the company over the peniod (the company’s contributions to defined contribution plans), other affowances in lieu of pension
(cash allowances paid in heu of previous plans for Marjorie Scardinc, Rona Fairhead, john Fallon and Robin Freestone) and other
pension-related benefit costs {additional life cover and long-term disability snsurance not covered by the retrement plans)

In the case of john Fallon, the vatue included in the single figure of total remuneration 15 pro-rated to reflect his appointment

1o the board from 3 October 2012 In the case of john Makinson the value for the single figure of total remuneration is nit
because the decrease mn accrued pension over the perod offsets the other penston-related benefit costs
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Repart on directors’ remuneration continued

Long-term incentives

Detaills of awards made, outstanding, held or released under the annuat bonus share matching plan are as follows

Date of award Share price on tte of award  Vesung Sanzs of award
i5May 2012 1,152 0p t5 May 2015  OQutstanding subject to 2011 to 2014 performance
20Apri 2011 1,129 0p 20 April 2014 Qutstanding subject to 2010 to 2013 performance
2t Apr) 2010 1,024 Ip 21 April 2013 Performance condition for release of 84 5% of matching
award met Real compound annual growth in earnings per
share for 2009 to 2012 of 4 4% aganst a range of 3% to 5%
Shares held pending release on 21 Apri 2013
16 Apri 2009 670 0p 16 April 2012 Target met as reported in report on directors’
) rerauneration for 201 | Shares released on [5 May 2012
22 May 2007' 899 9p t00% on Target met as reported in report on directors’
22 May 2012 remunerauon for 2011 Shares released on 22 May 2012

MNote | For awards made prior to 2008, the annua! bonus share matching plan operated on the basis of a 50% match after
three years and 100% march after five years, subject to the earmnings per share growth targets being met over the relevant

performance penods

Note 2 For all awards, Pearson's reported financiat results for the relevant penod were used to measure performance and no

diseretion was exercised
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Details of awards made, outstanding, vested and held or released under the long-term incentive plan are

as follows
Performance
Share measures
prce on {award splic % of
Date dare Yesung equally across  Performance Payour at Acunl award  Status of
of award  ofaward  date three measures) period threshold Payout at maximurm  performance wested  award
02/05/12 1,161 0p 02/05/15 Relatve TSR 2012t0  30% at median 100% at upper — - Outstanding
2015 quartife )
ROIC 014 % for ROIC  100% for ROIC - -
I _of8s%  of I05% —
EPS growth 2014 30% forEPS Q0% for EPS -
compared growth of growth of 120%
w20!l  60%
03/05/11 1,149 0p03/05/ 14 Relauve TSR 20l 1 to  30% at median 100% at upper - - Ourstanding
e B4 qamle L.
ROIC 2013 25% for ROIC 100% for ROIC -
N . . of 9 0% of 105% L
EPS growth 2013 30%forEPS  100%for EPS - -
compared growth of growth of 12 0%
to 2010 60%
03/03/109620p 03/03/13 Relatve TSR 201010 30% at median 100% at upper — - Qutstanding
2013 quartle Marked as © in the
movements in restncted
shares table
ROAC 2012 5% for ROIC 100% for ROIC 91% 47 5% Vested and remain held
- . __ _ofss®  oflOS% _ __ pending release Marked
EPS growth 2012 30% forEPS  100%{orEPS  88% 615% as @ in the movements
compared growth of growth of 12.0% in restncted shares table
to 2009 60%
03/03/09654 Op 03/03/12 Relauve TSR 200910 30% at median 100% at upper  60th 57 4% 68 3% of shares vested
— . iz __ Qquade = percentle ~ Threequarters released
ROIC 201} 25% for ROIC 100% for ROIC 9 1% 47 5% ©n3 Apnl 2012 Ifafter
of 8 5% of 105% tax number of shares
EPSgrowth 2011 30%forEPS 100%forEPS  [44% oo 27 retamedforafurther
compared growth of growthof 12 0% two years, the remaining
o008 60% quarter will be released

on 3 March 2014 The
part based on relatve
TSR is marked as © and
the part based on ROIC
and EPS growth as @ in
the movements in
restricted shares table

Note | For all awards, Pearson s reported financial results for the relevant period were used to measure performance and no
discreuon was exercised
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Movements in directors” interests in restricted shares {designated as ABSMP annual bonus share matching plan,
LTIP long-term incentive plan, Drdends where dividend-equivalent shares were added to the released shares,

@ for the two-thirds of the award based on ROIC and EPS growth and © for the one third of the award based
on relative TSR, wa show these parts of the award separately where performance 15 known for only part of the
award at year-end)

Number  Valuen

Market of shares 2012
value Eariest Market value 2012 snge
Date of at date release Data of at date sngle figure
award Plan FJan 12 Awarded Released Lapsed 31 Dec )2  of award date refease  ofrelease  figre 000
Marjonie Scardino
22/5/07 ABSMP 60,287 60,287 0 8999 22/5/12 22/5/i2 1,1480p ~
2174710 ABSMP 63497 9850 53647 10241p 21/4/13 53,647 (649
2074711 ABSMP 71446 23816 47,630 [,1290p 20/4/14
30/7/07 LTIF 84,000 84,000 0 7780p 23/ 3177712 )1960p
4/3/08 LTiP 97,500 ) 97500 6495p 4/3/H
EYET{L LT 220,250 165,938 55312 6540p  3/3/12  3/4/\1 1,1840p
33/ 0 LTiP 150,000 64,620 63,840 21,540 6540p 3/3/12  3/4/12 1,1840p B6.160 £1.020
3/3/10@ LTIP 266,667 119,976 146,691 962.0p 3/3/13 146,691 L1776
3/3/100 LTP 133333 133,333 9620p 3/3/13
3/5/11 LTIP 400,000 133,334 266666 1,1490p 3/5/14
2/5/712 LTip 0 250,000 166,667 83.333 I.l6t0p 2/5/15
3/4/12 Dnidends 0 32,048 32048 0 LIg40p 374712 3/4/12 1,1840p 32048  £379
30/7/12  Dmderxs 0 21252 21252 0 1,1900p 30/7/02 30/7/12 11900p 21252 L2583
Total 1,547.980 303,300 428,145 517483 905,652 339,798 {4,077
Will Ethndge .
22/5/07 ABSMP 2508 2,508 0 B999 21/5/12 22/5/12 1.i480p
16/4/09 ABSMP 112515 112515 0 6700p 1674712 15/5/12 1,1520p
21/4/10 ABSMP 7,880 1,222 6,658 1024 1p 21/4/13 6,658 £81
20/4/11 ABSMP 4517 4,517 1.1290p 20/4/14
15/5/12 ABSMP 0 4485 4485 I.ISlOP 15/5/12
15/5/12  Dradends 0 13,053 13,053 ~ 0 LI152.0p 15/5/12 I5/5/12 1,1520p 13053 £150
30/7/07 LT 30,000 30,000 0 7780p /A0 3V/7/12 1,1960p
4/3/08 LTIP 36562 36562 £495p 4/3/11
3/3/00 @ LTIP 86,042 64,531 20511 6540p 3/3/12 3/4/12 1.1840p
3/3/05 0 LTIP 58333 25,130 24,827 8376 6540p 3/3/12 3/4/12 | 1B40p 33506 £397
/0@ LTIP 100,000 ) 44,991 §5,009 962.0p 3/3/13 55,009 {656
3/3/100 LTIP 50,000 ) 50000 9620p 3/3/13
3/5/11 LTI 150,000 150,000 1,1490p 3/5/14
2/5/712 LTiP 0 100,000 100,000 LI610Gp 2/5/15
374712 Dmidends 0 12463 12,463 0 1,1840p  3/4712  3/4/12 1,1840p 12463 £148
30/7/12  Dmdends 0 7590 7550 0 LiI%00p 30/7/12 3047/12 4,1900p 7550 £90

Totat 638357 13759 267,790 71040 43718 128,279 £1,532
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Number Vaue
Markst Market  of shares mHH2
vilue Earbest vave m 2012 singe
Date of at date release Date of at date snge fgure
award Plan lThnt2 Awarded Released Lapsed 31 Dec|? ofaward date redease  of refease figure £000
Rona Fafrhead
30/7/07 LTP 25,000 25,000 0 7780p 2/3/10 31/7/12 1,1960p
4/3/08 LTIP 30468 30468 6495p  4/3/11
33/ @ LTI 73750 55,313 18437 6540p 3/3/12  3/4/12 1,1BA0p
3/3/2 Q LTI 50,000 21,540 21280 7180 6540p 3/3/12 3/4/12 [,1840p 28,720 £340
3/3/10@ LTIP 83233 37492 45841 9620p 3/3/13 45,841 £555
3/3/100 LTI 41667 41,667 9610p 3/3/13
37571t LTIP 165,000 165,000 1,1490p 3/5/14
2/5/12 LTIP ¢ 100,000 ~ 100,000 1, 1610p 2/5/15
374742 Dradends 0 10683 10483 0 1.1840p 374712 3/4/12 1,1840p 10,683 £126
30/7/12 Dmwdends 0 6,325 6,325 0 1,1900p 30/7/12 30/7/12 1,1900p 6325 £75
Total 469,218 1§7,008 118861 58772 408,593 91569  £1.096
John Fallon
16/4/09 ABSMP 7.595 7595 0 6700p 16/4/12 15/5/12 1,1520p
21/4/10 ABSMP 8,275 1,284 6991 (024 ip 21/4/13 6,991 85
20/4/11 ABSMP 4,539 , 4,539 1.1290p 20/4/14
15/5/12 ABSMP 0 8917 8917 LI520p 15/5/15
15/5/12 Dmdends 0 882 882 0 1,1520p 15/5/12 15/5/12 1,1520p 882 £10
4/3/08 LmP 24375 24375 64950 4/3/11
3/3/0 @ LTI? 86042 61,531 20501 6540p  3/3/12  3/4/12 1184 0p
3/3/09 9 LTIP 58333 25130 24827 8376 65 0p 3/3/12  3/4/12 1,1B40p 33,506 £397
3/3/10@ LT[F 100000 . 44,991 55,009 962_93 3/3/13 55,009 £666
3/3/100 LTIF 50,000 ~ 50000 9620p 3/3/13 R
3/5/711 LTIP 150,000 150,000 1,1490p 3/5/14 .
2/5/12 LTP 0 100,000 100000 11610p 2/5/15
374712 Dwmderds 0 12463 (2463 ¢ L1B40p 3/4/V2  3/4/12 11840p 12463 £148
Total 489,159 122,262 10401 71,102 429,718 108851  £1,306
Total (pro-rated for 2012 single figure, to reflect appointrent 3 October 2012) 26427 £317
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Number  Value n
Market Market  of shares 20012
vake Earbest vilve 202 sngle
Pate of atdate rdease Daeof  atdae snge  figure
award Pln 1}an 12 Awarded  Relexsed lapsed 21 Deci2 ofaward date refesse of release figure £000
Robun Freestone
22/5/07 ABSMP 4,708 4,708 0 8999 22/5/12 22/5/12 1,148 0p
16/4/09 ABSMP 35446 35,446 G 6700p 16/4/12 15/5/12 1,1520p
21/4/10 ABSMP L4 4827 26287 10241p 21/4/13 26,287 £318
20/4/11 ABSMP 29,049 29,49 1,1290p 20/4/14
}5/5/12 ABSMP 0 17833 17,833 1,1520p 15/8/15 )
15/5/11  Dmndends 0 4412 4,11 ¢ LI520p 15/5/42 15/5/12 11520p 4012 £47
30/7/07 LTIP 25,000 25,000 0 7780p 2/3/10 31/7/12 1,196 0p
4/3/08 LTIP 30468 30468 6495p  4/3/11
3/3/05@ LTiP 73,750 55313 18437 6540p 3/3/12  3/4/12 1,184 0p
3/3/09 O LTIP 50,000 21,540 21,280 7,180 6540p 3/3/12  3/4/12 1.1B40p 28720 £340
3/3/0@ LTIP 83,333 37492 45841 9620p 3/3/13 45841  £555
3/3/100 LTIP 41,667 41667 9620p 3/3/13
3/5/11 LTIP 125,000 125000 1,1490p  3/5/14
2/5/12 LTIP 0 100,000 100,000 1,1610p 2/5/15
3/4/12  Dwderds 0 10683 10,683 . 0 1,1840p 3/4/12 3/4/12 1,1840p 10683 £126
30/7/12  Dradends 0 6325 6,325 0 1,1900p 30/7/12 30/7/12 1,1900p 6,325 £75
Total 529535 138953 163,127 63599 44(.762 121,968 £],461
John Makenson
30/7/07 LTiP 20,000 20,000 0 7780p 2/3/10 31/7/i2 1,i%0p
4/3/08 LTIP 30468 30468 6495p  4/3/11
3/3_/09. LTp 73,750 55213 18437 €540p  3/3/12  3/4/11 \,iB4A0p
EYEY R ) Lme 50,000 21,540 21,280 7180 6540p 3/3/12  3/4/121,1840p 28720 4340
3/3/10@ LTIP 83,331 37492 45841 9620p 3/3/13 45841  £555
3/3/100 Lme 41,667 41,667 9610p 3/3/13
3/5/11 LTIP 125,000 125000 1,1430p 3/5/14
2/5/12 Lmp 0 100,000 100,000 1,161 0p  2/5/15
3/4/12  Dmadends 0 10683 10,683 0 1,iB40p  3/4/i2 3/4/12 1,1840p 10683 ({126
30/7/12  Dpadends 0 5,060 5,060 0 1.1900p 30/7/12 30/7/121,1900p 5060  £50
Total 424218 115743 11259 58772 368593 90,304 £1,081
Total 4,098467 934,857 1,201,120 840,768 2,991436 798,342 £9,564

Note | The number of shares shown represents the maximum number of share that may vest, subject 1o any performance
condibons being met.

Note 2 No varniations to terms and conditions of plan interests were made during the year

Note 3 Performance conditions and vesting for awards under the bonus share matching and long-term incentive plans are
described in the long-term incentive tables on pages 84 and 85

Note 4 Marjorie Scarding left the company on 31 December 2012

In the case of the bonus share matching award made on 21 April 2010 and the long-term incentve awards made on
4 March 2008 and 3 March 2009, the performance pertod has ended and the number of shares held at 31 December 2012
will be released to Marjorie in 2013
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In the case of the bonus share matching award on 20 Aprit 201 | and the long-term incentive awards made on 3 March 2010,

3 May 201 | and 2 May 2012, outstanding awards have been pro-rated according to the number of months worked in the
performance period to the date of leaving and we show the remaining shares as lapsed The shares held at 31 December 2012
remain outstanding subject to performance and will be released in line with the normal vesting schedule

Note 5 In the case of the long-term incentive awards made on 3 March 2009 and 3 March 2010, we detail separately the parts
based on ROIC and EPS growth (two-thirds of the total award) and the part based on refauve TSR {one-third of the total award),
because of the time lag in the corresponding performance peniods We disclosed the lapsed part of the 2009 award (based on
ROIC and EPS growth) in the 201 | report as performance was known at year-end but the vesting of the part based on refative
TSR 1s disclosed together with the release of shares in the 2012 report (as above) Similarly, for the 2010 award, we disclose the
lapse of the parts based on ROIC and EPS growth but the vesung of the part based on relatrve TSR and the release of shares wall
be disclosed in the 2013 report

Note 6 The below notes have been prepared In anucipation of the proposing reporting regulations

All awards released dunng the year are mcluded in the single figure of total remuneravon for that year, uniess they were subject
to a performance condition (other than a stay-th-employment) and performance against that conditton was known in an earlier
reporting penod Awards that have not yet vested but where performance i1s known at year-end are also included in the single
figure of total remuneration

In the case of the long-term incentive award made on 3 March 2009, only the part based on refauve TSR is included inthe 2012
single figure of total remuneration (under the proposed single figure methedolegy, the part based on ROIC and EPS growth
would have been included i the 201 1 single figure of total remuneration and disclosed in the 2011 report) in the case of the
long-term incentive award made on 3 March 2010, only the parts based on ROIC and EPS growth are included i the 2012 single
figure of total remunerauon (the part based on relatve TSR will be included in the 2043 single figure of total remuneravon and
disclosed i the 2013 report)

The value of shares included in the single figure of total remunerauon is the number of shares multiplied by the share price on
release (or, if the shares have not yet been released, the average share price over the final quarter of the year which for 2012 was

1.2104p)

Movements in directors’ interests m share options (all under the worldwide save for shares plan) are as follows

Value in
2012
Earliest Gunon  snge
Opuon  exercse Expiry Datzof  Prceon  exerase  hgure
Date of gran: lhini2 Granwed Exerased Lapsed 11 Dec 12 price dite date exerdse  exerose 4 £000
Marjone
Scardmo . _
8/5/09 1,672 1672 5472 1/8/12 172/13 £l
Totat 1,672 0 0 0 0 £0 £
Rona
Fairhead
4/5/07 2371 237 0 &904p 178712 1/72/13 31/10/12 1,2450p £13,150 £13
Total 2,371 0 2371 0 0 £13,150 £13
John Faflon
7/5/10 1,930 1,930 BO56p 1/8/15 1/2/16
Tatal 1,930 0 0 0 1,930 £0 £0
R.abin
Freestone
475712 0 990 930 9090p 1/8/15 1/2/i6
Total 0 990 o] 0 990 £0 £0
Total 5,973 90 2,371 0 4,592 £13,150 £24

Note | No variations to terms and conditiens of share options were made during the year

Note 2 The acquisinon of shares under the worldwide save far shares plan s not subject to a performance conditon
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Note 3 Manone Scardine contnbuted US$1,000 per month {the maximum aflowed} to the US employee stock purchase plan
The terms of this plan allow participants to make monthly contributions for six month penods and to acquire shares twice
annually at the end of these periods at a pnce that 1s the lower of the market price at the beginning or the end of each period,
both less |15%

Note 4 The market price on 3| December 2012 was [,188 Op per share and the range during the year was | 11{ Op to 1,294 Op

Note 5 All share apuons that became exercisable during the year are included in the single figure of total remuneravon for that
year The value included in the single figure of total remuneration is the number of options muftiphed by the difference between
the market value on the earliest exercise date {1,230 0p on | August 2012) and the optton pnce

Payments for loss of office
There were no payments for loss of office during 2012

As announced on 3 October 2012, Marjorie Scardino stepped down from the board and left the company on
31 December 2012 She served the company under her service agreement dated 27 February 2004, the details
of which are described 1n the policy table on page 73 There was no payment for loss of office

As anncunced on 27 November 2012, Rona Farrhead 1s stepping down from the board at the annual

general meeting on 26 April 2013 and leaving the company on 30 Aprl 2013 Her service agreement dated

24 January 2003 prowvides for notice periods of six months from the director and 12 months from the company
and compensation on termination of employment by the company without notice or cause of 100% of annual
salary at the date of termination, the annuat cost of pension and all other benefits and 50% of potential

annual incentive

The committee and the board determined that her leaving employment was a consequence of the planned
incorporation of the professional education diviston overseen by Rona into other parts of Pearson's education
business, coupled with the smaller size of the Financial Times Group owing to recent major divestments The
company therefore intends to pay compensatton amounting to approximately £1 146m comprising the elements
described above to Rona in 2013

Interests of directors and value of shareholdings

Tott number of
Ordinary shares ordinary and

st fan 12 (or date of Ordimary thares  Condmionalshares  condimoral shares  Vakie  Guideline  Gundelma

appomwment, o ater) 2t 3 Dec [2 ac 3| Dec 12 ac 3l Dec 12 (xsafary}  (x satary) met
Charrman
Glen Moreno 150,000 150,000 - - - -
Executive directors
Marnorie Scardino 1,346,618 1,550,745 374,690 [,925435 236 200 v
Wil Ethndge 405,295 505,635 128,116 633,751 1z 125 v
Rona Farhead 425023 440,522 101,926 542,448 125 125 v
John Fallon {(appointed 3 218546 218546 116,262 334,808 68 125 v
October 2017)
Robin Freestone 308731 408814 128,213 537,027 131 125 v
John Makmnson 438,667 510213 101,926 612,139 f36 125 v
Non-executive directors : .
David Arculus 14,798 15,560 - - - - -
Patrick Cescau 7017 7.886 - - - - -
Vivienne Cox 0 670 - - — - -
Susan Fuhrman 12,927 14,476 - - - - -
Ken Hydon _ 4028 17,111 - - - - -

Josh Lewrs 3.89| 4,886 - - - - -
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Note I Conditional shares means shares which have vested but remain held subject to ¢conumung employment for a pre-defined
holding penod

Note 2 The current vatue of the executive directors’ holdings of ordinary and conditional shares 15 based on the middle market
value of Pearson shares of 1,216 Op on 22 February 2013 (which s the latest practicable date before the results announcement)
against base salanes in 2012 All executve directors comfortably exceeded the shareholding guidelines The shareholding
guidelines do not apply to the chairman and non-executive directors

MNote 3 Ordinary shares include both ordinary shares isted on the London Stock Exchange and Amencan Deposnary Receipts
{ADRs) bsted on the New York Stack Exchange The figures include bath shares and ADRs acquired by Individuals investing part
of thew own after-tax annual bonus in Pearson shares under the annual bonus share matching plan

Note 4 From 2004, Marjone Scardino is also deemed to be interested in a further number of shares under her unfunded pension
arrangement descnbed i this report, which provides the opportunity ta convert a propertion of her notional cash account into

a notional share aceount reflecting the value of a number of Pearson shares

Note 5 The register of directors” interests (which s open to nspecton during normal office hours) contains full detarlks of
directors’ sharehoidings and options 1o subscnibe for shares The market price on 31 December 2012 was 1,188 Op per share

and the range during the year was |,11) Op to 1,294 0p

Note 6 At 3| December 2012, Patnick Cescau held 168 000 Pearson bonds

Note 7 There were no movements in ordinary shares between | January 2012 and a month prior to the sign-off of this report,

Note 8 Ordinary shares do not include any shares vested but held pending release under a restricted share plan

Graph removed

Diution and use of equity

We can use existing shares bought in the market,
treasury shares or newly-1ssued shares to satisfy
awards under the company’s vanous stock plans

For restricted stock awards under the long-term
incentive plan and matching share awards under the
annual bonus share matching ptan, we would normally
expect to use existing shares

There are hmits on the amount of new-1ssue equity we
canuse Inany rollmg ten-year period, no more than
10% of Pearson equity will be 1ssued, or be capable

of bemng issued, under all Pearson’s share plans, and
no more than 5% of Pearson equity wil be tssued,

or be capable of bemng 1ssued, under executive or
discretionary plans

At 31 December 2012, stock awards to be sausfied
by new-i1ssue equity granted in the last ten years under
all Pearson share plans amounted to | 7% of the
company's 1ssued share capital No stock awards
granted in the [ast ten years under executive or
discretionary share plans will be satisfied

by new-issue equity

In additron, for existing shares no more than 5%

of Pearson equity may be held in trust at any time
Against this limit, shares held in trust at 31 December
2012 amounted to | 2% of the company’s 1ssued
share capital

The headroom avatfable for all Pearson plans,
executive or discretionary plans and shares held
in trust is as follows

Headroom 012 2001 010

Ali Pearson plans 83% 83% 7&%
Executive or discretionary plans  50% 50% 41%
Shares hefd in trust 38% 32% 33%
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Executive directors’ non-executive directorships

The comrmuttee’s policy s that executive directors may,
by agreement with the board, serve as non-executives
of other companies and retain any fees payable for
their services

The following executive directors served as non-
executive directors elsewhere and recewved fees or
other benefits for the period covered by this report
as follows

Company Feeshenefits
Marjarie Nokia Carparaton €150,000
Scardmno

MacArthur Foundation $31,750
Rona Fairhead HSBC Holdings ple £200,000

Other executive directors served as non-executive
directors elsewhere but did not receive fees

Shareholder engagement

The voting results for prior reports on directors’
remuneration over the previous five years are
presented below

Year  Date of AGM Votes for Votes agmnst
2011 27 Apri 2012 8920%  499%
2010 28 Aprit 2011 9407%  340%
2009 30 April 2010 9237%  497%
2008 | May 2009 6632% 2336%
2007 25 Apri 2008 7531% 1042%

This table expresses as a percentage the votes cast,
ignonng any formal mstructtons to withhold

Total shareholder return performance

In comphiance with current regulations, we set out
below Pearson’s totat shareholder return performance
relatve to the FTSE All-Share index on an annual basss
over the five-year period 2007 to 2012

Graph removed

Approved by the board and signed on its behalf by

Signature removed

Dawvid Arculus Cirector

7 March 2013
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Pearson plc

We have audited the consolidated and company
financial statements {together the ‘fimanciatl statements”)
of Pearson plc for the year ended 31 December 2012
The consolidated finan¢ial statements comprise the
consohdated income staterment, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive mcome, the consolidated
balance sheet, the consolidated statement of changes
m equity, the consolidated cash flow statement and the
related notes to the consolidated financial statements
The company financal statements comprise the
company balance sheet, the company statement of
changes in equity, the company cash flow statement
and the related notes to the company financial
statements The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in their preparation i1s applicable law and
Iinternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the
company financial statemenits, as applied in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006

Respective responsibiines of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the statement of directors’
responsibilities set out in the Governance section of
the directors’ report, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financral statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and far view

Our responsibility is to audit and express an apinton
on the financial statements i accordance with
apphcable law and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to
comply with the Audiing Pracuces Board's tthical
Standards for Auditors

This report, ncluding the opintons, has been prepared
for and only for the company's members as a body

in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose

We do not, in giving these opintons, accept or assume
responstbility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report 1s shown or nto whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
OUr prior consent I writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from matertal misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Group’s and the company’s
circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the directors, and the
overall presentation of the financial statements In
addition, we read all the financral and non-financial
information in the annual report and accounts to
idenufy material inconsistenctes with the audited
fimancial statements If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies
we constder the impheauions for our report

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion

> The financial statements give a true and faw view of the
state of the Group's and of the company's affars as at
31 December 2012 and of the Group’s profit and
Group's and company's cash flows for the year then
ended,

» The consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union,

» The company financial statements have been property
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
Eurcpean Union and as apphed n accordance with the
prowvisions of the Companies Act 2006, and

» The financial statements have been prepared n
accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006 and, as regards the consohdated financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation



Opinton on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

In our optnion

> The part of the report on directors’ remuneration to
be audited has been properly prepared n accordance
with the Companies Act 2006, and

» The information given In the directors’ report for the
financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report
by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the
following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required
to report to you if, 1n our opinien

» Adequate accounting records have not been kept by
the company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been receved from branches not visited by us, or

» The company financial statements and the part of the
report on directors' remuneration to be audited are
not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns, or

» Certamn disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made, or

> We have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

Secuon 6 Finanoal statements 95

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review,
» The directors’ statement set out in the Governance
section of the directors’ report in relation to going

concern,

> The parts of the corporate governance statement
relating to the company's compliance with the nine
provistons of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review, and

3 Certam?ents of the report to shareholders by the

board o re&(f&)!emuneranon
(

Ramjan Sriskandan (Sentor Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

7 March 2013

AIIAYZAC

JONVIHYO1Y3d ¥N0O

ALIIDOS NO LDYIHI YNNG

|

IDNYNUIADSD

SANIWILYLIS IVIDNYNIL ’



96  Pearson ple Annual report and accounts 2012

Consolidated income statement
Year ended 31 December 2012

Al figures i £ miliony. Notes 0F2 201

Sales 2 5,059 4.817
Cost of goods sold 4 (2.224)  (2,072)
Gross profit 2,835 2,745

Operating expenses 4 (2.216) (2,072}
Profit on sale of associate 12 - 412
Loss on closure of subsidiary (113) -
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 1 9 33

Operaung profit 2 515 L8
Finance costs } 6 {113) 96
Finance income 6 32 25

Profit before tax 434 1,047
Income tax 7 _{148) {162}
Profit for the year from contnuing operations 286 885

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 3 43 71

Profit for the year 329 956
Attributable to

Equity holders of the company 326 957
Non-controlling interest 3 O]
Earnings per share for profit from conunuing and disconunued operations

attributable to equity holders of the company during the year

(expressed in pence per share) 3

—basic ] 40 5p 119 ép
~ diluted 8 40 5p 119 3p
Earnings per share for profit from contunuing operations attributable

to equity holders of the company during the year

(expressed in pence per share)

— basic B 352 110 7p

~ diluted ] 35 1p 110 5p
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive Income
Year ended 3| December 2012
All Bgures in £ mullions Notes 2012 204
Profit for the year 329 956
Net exchange differences on translation of foreign operations _(238) (44)
Actuanial losses on retirement benefit obligations — Group 25 {119y (56)
Actuarial losses on retirement benefit abligations — associate 12 (3) (8)
Tax on items recognised in other comprehensive iIncome 7 55 3
Other comprehensive expense for the year (305) (105)
Total comprehensive income for the year 24 85)
Attributable to
Equity holders of the company 23 858
Non-controliing interest | ()

MIIAYIAD

JINVHEC4Y3d ¥NO

ALIIDOS NO LOVdWI ¥NC I

IDNYNYIAOD

SLNIWILYLS IVIONYNIA




98  Pearson pic Annual report and accounts 2012

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2012

A fgures m £ millions Nores 012 2004
Assets )
Non-current assets . } _ ) .
Property, plant and equipment . 10 327 383
intangible assets 1 6,218 6,342
Investrnents in joint ventures and associates 12 5 32
Deferred income tax assets 13 229 287
Financral assets — Derivative financral instruments 16 174 177
Retirement benefit assets 25 - 25
Other financial assets 3 15 31 26
Trade and other recewables n 79 154
7073 7,423
Current assets
Intangible assets — Pre-pubiication 20 666 650
Inventones ; 2 261 407
Trade and other receivabies ) ) 22 1,104 1,386
Financial assets — Dervative financtal instruments 16 4 -
Financial assets — Marketable securiies 14 6 9
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafis) 17 1,062 1,369
3,103 3821
Assets classified as held for sale n 1172 -
Total assets 11,348 11,244
Liabilities ) 3 }
Non-current liabtlites
Financial hlabilires — Borrowings 18 (2.010) {1,964)
Financial habdities — Derwvatve financial instruments 16 - 2)
Deferred income tax habilities 13 {e0l) (620}
Retirement benefit obligations 25 (172) (166)
Prowisions for other habilities and charges b1} {10 (115)
Other habilities 24 (282) (325)
(3.175) (3.192)
Current liabilitres
Trade and other habilities ) 24 (1,556) (1.741)
Financial liabilibes ~ Borrowings ) i3 (262) (87)
Financial labihbes — Dervative financial mstruments 16 - ()
Current income tax lrabilities (291) (213)
Prowvisions for other liabiliies and charges 73 (38) (48)
(2.447) {2.090)
Liabtities directly assocrated with assets classified as held for sale n (316} -
Total habilives (5,638) (5.282)
Net assets 5710 5,962
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ARl figures In £ millions Notes 2012 2011
Equity

Share capital 27 204 204
Share premium ) 27 2,555 2,544
Treasury shares . 28 (103} (149)
Translation reserve 128 364
Retaned earnungs 2,902 2,980
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the company 5,686 5,943
Non-controlling interest 24 K
Total equity 5710 5,962

These financial statements have been approved for 1ssue by the board of directors on 7 March 2013 and signed on
its behalf by

Robwn Freestone Chief financial officer

U
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Year ended 31| December 2012

Equity atuributable to equey holders of the company

Share Share  Treasury Transhowon — Remuned :mf.rr:lr:g Toul
Al figures 1n £ milhions apmi premmm shares reserve earmngs Tont interest #quity
At | January 2012 204 2544 (149) 364 2,980 5943 19 5962
Profit for the year - - - - 326 326 3 329
Other comprehensive expense - - - (23¢) (67)  (303) (2) (305
Equity-setted transactions - - - - 32 32 - 32
Tax on equity-settled transactions - - - - (6) (6) - (6)
Issue of ordinary shares under share
option schemes - H - - - 11 - R
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - - -
Release of treasury shares - - 46 ~ (46) - - -
Put options over non-controthing
mterest - ~ - - 39 3% - 39
Changes in non-controlling interest - - - - (10 {10) 6 4
Dividends - - - - (348) (348 (2 (348)
At 3| December 2012 204 2,555 (103) 128 2902 5,686 24 5710

Equity attnbutable to equity holders of the company

Share Share  Treaswy Translavon  Retaned cmw::nn; Towl
Al figures in £ milfions capial premunm es reserve earnings Total wHerest, equity
At | fanuary 201} 203 2,524 (137) 402 2546 5,538 67 5,605
Profit for the year - - - - 957 957 (N 956
Other comprehensive expense - - - (38) 61) (99) %) (105
Equity-settled transactions - - - - 40 40 - 40
Tax on equity-settled transactions - - - - 3 3 - 3
Issue of ordinary shares under share
option schemes ! 20 - - - 21 - 21
Purchase of treasury shares - - (60) ~ - (60) - (60)
Release of treasury shares - - 48 - (48) - - -
Put options over non-controlling
nterest - - - - {63) {63) - CX)
Changes in non-controiling interest - - - - (76) (76) (“0) (lte)
Dwidends — - - - @3 @ (Y amw
At 3] December 201 [ 204 2,544 (149) 364 2980 5943 19 5962

The translation reserve includes exchange differences ansing from the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments
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Consohdated cash flow statement
Year ended 3| December 2012
All figures tn £ nultions Noxes 2012 201t
Cash flows from operating activities
Met cash generated from operations 34 916 1,093
Interest pard (75) (70)
Tax pad (65) {i51)
Net cash generated from operating activities 776 872
Cash flows from invesung activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 10 {716) {779)
Acquisition of joint ventures and associates (39) (%)
Purchase of investments ) (10) (12)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (78) (67)
Purchase of intangible assets (73) {77)
Disposal of subsidraries, net of cash disposed £l (1 (6)
Proceeds from sale of associates 1} - 428
Proceeds from sale of investments - 75
Proceeds frem sale of property, plant & equipment 34 | 9
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 3 3
Proceeds from the sale of liquid resources 23 -
Investment in iquid resources (19) -
Interest received 9 10
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 27 30
Net cash used in Investing activities (883) (395)
Cash flows from financing activittes
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 27 N 2]
Purchase of treasury shares 28 - (60)
Proceeds from borrowings 327 -
Proceeds from the sale of liquid resources ) - 2
Liquid resources acquired . (h -
Repayment of borrowings R - (318)
Finance lease principal payments (8) (8)
Dwidends paid to company’s shareholders 9 (346) (3t8)
Drvidends pad ta non-controlimg interest @) Q!
Transactions with non-controlling interest 3 1 (108)
Net cash used in financing activittes } (23) (790)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (24) (60)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {154) (373)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,291 1,664
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17 1,137 1,291

The consolidated cash flow statement inciudes discontinued operations (see note 3)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

General nformaaon

Pearson plc (the company) and «s subsidianes
(together the Group) are international media
businesses covering educauon, business information
and consumer publishing

The company is a public limited company incorporated
and domiciled in England The address of its registered
office 15 80 Strand, London WC2R ORL

The company has its pnmary hsting on the London
Stock Exchange and 1s also listed on the New York
Stock Exchange

These consoldated financtal statements were
approved for i1ssue by the board of directors
on 7 March 2013

! Accounting pohcres

The principal accounting polictes applied i the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below

a Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financal
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretations
Committee interpretations as adopted by the
European Union {(EUJ) and with those parts of the
Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS In respect of the accounting
standards applicable to the Group there is no difference
between EU-adopted and IASB-adopted {FRS

These conselidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention as
modified by the revaluation of financial assets and
habilittes (including derivauve financial mstruments)
to far value through profit or loss

| Interpretatrons and emendments to published standards
effectve 2012

The following amendments and interpretations were
adopted in 2012 and have not had an impact on the
Group financial statements

» Amendments to IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments
Disclosures’

» Amendments to IFRS | *First-ume Adopuon’

» Amendmenits to IAS 12 ‘lncome Taxes’

¥

~

~

2 Standards, interpretations and emendments

to publshed standards that are not yet effective

The Group has not early adopted the foliowing new
pronouncements that are not yet effective

Amendments to IAS |9 ‘Employee Benefits (2011),
effective for annual reporting periods begmnning on

or after | January 2013 The amendments include the
elmmation of the corndor approach, changes to the
calculation of the net interest and service cost
components and changes to disclosure if the 2012
accounts had been prepared using IAS 19 (201 1) the
service cost would have been £4m higher and the net
nterest income would have been £15m lower

IFRS 2 *Financial Instruments’, effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after | January 2045
The new standard details the requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets

and liabilives

The JASB 1ssued a ‘package of five' new and amended
standards together IFRS |0 ‘Consoldated Financial
Staternents’, IFRS |1 ‘Jont Arrangements’ and IFRS 12
‘Disclosures of Involvement with Other Entites’ have
been issued IAS 27 ‘Separate Financial Statements’
(Revised 201 1) has been amended following the
issuance of IFRS 10 and retains the guidance for
separate financal statements, JAS 28 ‘lavestments in
Associates and Joint Ventures' (Rewvised 2011} has
been amended following the issuance of IFRS 10 and
IFRS 11 Al three new standards and two amended
standards are effective for annual reporting pertods
beginning on or after | january 2013

IFRS 13 *Far Valye Measurement’, effecuve for annual
reporting periads beginning on or after | January 2013
The standard defines far value and prowides guidance
on its determination, and introduces disclosure
requirements on fair value measurements

Amendments to IAS | ‘Presentation of Financial
Statements’ — Presentation of ltems and Other
Comprehensive Income, effecuive for annual
reporting percds beginning on or after | July 2012
The amendments require the grouping of items in
other comprehensive iIncome into those that may

be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods,
and those that wilf not

With the exceputon of IAS 19 'Employee Benefits
(201 1), the changes in new pronouncements
appircable from | January 2013 are not expected to
have a materal impact on the consolidated financial
statements



| Accounting policies conunued

a Basis of preparation continued

3 Crnucal accounting assumptions and judgements

The preparation of financial statements m conformuty
with IFRS requires the use of certain crivcal accounting
assumptions It also requires management to exercise
its judgement tn the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies The areas requiring a higher
degree of jJudgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are discussed

In the relevant accounting policies under the
following headings

Intangible assets Goodwill

intangible assets Pre-publication assets
Royalty advances

Taxation

Employee benefits Pension obhgations
Revenue recognitton

b Consolidation

! Business combinations The acquision method of
accounting 1s used to account for business combmations
of the Group with an acquisition date on or after

| January 2010 The consideration transferred for

the acquisitton of a subsidiary is the fair value of the
assets transferred, the labilities incurred and the
equity nterest 1ssued by the Group The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a conungent consideration
arrangement Acquisition related costs are expensed
as mcurred In the operating expenses fine of the
iIncome statement.

Identrfiable assets and contingent assets acquied and
dentifiable {labilines and contingent habihities assumed
in 2 business combination are measured initizlly at
their fair values at the acquisiton date For material
acquisitions, the fair value of the acquired ntangible
assets is determined by an external, ndependent
valuer The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acqursition date fair value of any
previous equity interest In the acquiree over the fair
value of the tdentifiable net assets acquired 1s recorded
as goodwill

Section 6 Finanoal statements 103

See note le(l) for the accounting policy on goodwill
If this 1s fess than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired, in the case of a bargan
purchase, the difference is recognised directly n

the Income statement

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets

2 Subsidianes Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies, generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group and are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases

3 Transactions with non-controlling interests Transactions
with non-controlling interests are treated as
transactions with shareholders Any surplus or

deficit arising from dispasals to a non-controlling
nterest 15 recorded in equity For purchases from

a non-controlling interest, the difference between
consideration paid and the refevant share acquired

of the carrying value of the subsidiary 15 recorded

In equity

4 jomt ventures and associates Joint ventures are
entities In which the Group hoids an interest on a
forig-term basis and which are jointly controlled, with
one or more other venturers, under a contractual
arrangement Assocrates are entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not the power to
control the financial and operating policies, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the vouing rghts Investments in joint ventures and
assocrates are accounted for by the equity method
and are initially recognised at cost.

|
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Notes to the conscolidated finanoal statements continued

1 Accounung policres conunued

b Consolidaton continued

The Group's share of its joint ventures’ and associates’
post-acquisition profits or losses I1s recogrised n the
Income statement and its share of post-acquisition
movements (n reserves Is recognised In reserves

The Group's share of its joint ventures' and associates’
results is recognised as a component of operating
profit as these operations form part of the core
publishing business of the Group and are an integral
part of existing wholly-owned businesses

The cumiudative post-acquisition movements are
adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment
Vvhen the Group's share of losses in a joint venture or
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the joint
venture ar assocrate the Group does not recognise
further losses unless the Group has incurred
obhgations or made payments on behalf of the joint
venture ¢ assocate

¢ Foreign currency translation

! Functiona! and presentation currency ltems included in
the financial statements of each of the Group's entittes
are measured using the currency of the primary
econoric environment In which the entity operates
(the ‘functional currency’) The consolidated financial
statements are presented in sterling, which 15 the
company’s functional and presentation currency

2 Transactions and balances Foreign currency
transactions are transtated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions Foregn exchange gans and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transacuons and
from the translation at year end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denomunated in foreign
currenctes are recognised in the mcome statement,
except when deferred in equnty as qualfying net
investment hedges

3 Group comparues The results and financial pesition
of all Group compantes that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows

1) assets and habiities are translated at the closing rate
at the date of the balance sheet,

1) ncome and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates,

w) all resulung exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity

On consolidation, exchange differences anising from
the translauon of the net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken

to shareholders’ equity The Group treats specific
inter-company loan balances, which are not intended
to be repaid in the foreseeable future, as part of its net
nvestment WWhen a foreign operauon is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gamn or loss on sale

The principal overseas currency for the Group is the
US dollar The average rate for the year agamst sterling
was 3159 (2011 §1 60} and the year end rate was

$1 63 (2011 3155

d Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation land is not depreciated
Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost less ther
residual values over thewr estimated useful hves

as follows

Buildings (freehold) 20-50 years N
Buildings (leasehold) over the penod of the lease
Plant and equipment 3-10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful hves are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropnate, at each balance
sheet date

The carrymng value of an asset 1s written down to its
recoverable amount if the carrying value of the asset
1s greater than its esymated recoverable amount.

e Intangible assets

! Goodwilf For the acquisition of subsidianes made

on or after | fanuary 2010 goodwill represents the
excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and

the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the farr value of the
identifiable net assets acquired For the acquisition of
substdaries made from the date of transition to IFRS
to 31 December 2009 goodwill represents the excess
of the cost of an acquisition over the farr value of the
Group's share of the net identifiable assets acquired
Goodwill on acquisitons of subsidiaries 1s Included in
intangible assets Goodwill on acquisiion of associates
and joint ventures represents the excess of the cost of
ant acquisiuan over the far value of the Group's share
of the net identifiable assets acquired Goodwill on



| Accounung polictes continued

e Intangible assets continued
acquisiions of associates and joint ventures s included
m Investments 1A associates and joint ventures

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and
carried at cost less accumnulated impairment losses
An imparment loss 15 recognised to the extent

that the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the
recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use
These calculations require the use of estimates and
significant management judgement A description of the
key assumptions and sensitivities is inctuded in note | |
Goodwill 15 alfocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing The allocation 15 made
to those cash-generating units that are expected

to benefit from the business combination in which

the goodwill arose

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include
the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold

IFRS 3 “Business Combinations' has not been apphed
retrospectively to business combmations before the
date of transition to IFRS

2 Acquired software Software separately acquired for
internal use 1s capitalised at cost Software acquired in
material business combinations 1s capitalised at its fam
value as determined by an independent valuer
Acquired software 1s amortised on a straight-line basis
over its estmated usefu! fe of between three and
eght years

3 Internally developed softwore Internal and external
costs incurred dunng the preliminary stage of
developing computer software for internal use are
expensed as incurred Internal and external costs
mncurred to develop computer software for internal
use during the application development stage are
capitahsed if the Group expects economic benefits
from the development Capitabsation in the application
development stage begins once the Group can reliably
measure the expenditure attributable 1o the software
development and has demonstrated its intention to
complete and use the software Internally developed
software 1s amortised on a straight-line basts over its
estimated useful life of between three and eight years
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4 Acquired intangible assets Acquired intangible assets
incfude customer lists and refatienships, trademarks
and brands, publishing rights, content and technology
These assets are capitalised on acquisition at cost and
included in intangible assets Intangible assets acquired
in material business combinations are capitalised at
therr fair value as determined by an independent vatuer
Intangible assets are amortised over ther estmated
useful hves of between two and 20 years, using an
amortisation method that reflects the pattern of
their consumption

5 Pre-publicavon assets Pre-publication assets
represent direct costs incurred in the development

of educational programmes and titles prior to therr
publication These costs are recognised as current
intangible assets where the utle will generate probable
future economic benefits and costs can be measured
reliably Pre-publication assets are amortised upon
publication of the tide over estimated economic lives
of five years ar less, being an estimate of the expected
operating life cycle of the title, with a higher proportion
of the amorusation taken in the earlier years

The investment in pre-publication assets has been
disclosed as part of cash generated from operations
in the cash flow statement {see note 34)

The assessment of the recoverability of pre-publication
assets and the determination of the amortisation
profile involve a significant degree of judgement based
on histoncal trends and management estimation of
future potential sales An incorrect amortisation profile
could result In excess amounts being carried forward as
ntangible assets that would otherwise have been written
off to the iIncome statement n an earlier pernod

Reviews are performed regularly to esumate
recoverabiity of pre-publication assets The carrymg
amount of pre-publication assets 1s set out 0 note 20

f Other financial assets

Other financial assets, designated as available for
sale investments, are non-denvative financial assets
measured at estimated fair value Changes in the
fair value are recorded n equity in the fair value
reserve On the subsequent disposal of the asset,
the net farr value gains or losses are taken to the
Income statement,

AIIAYIAO

JONYHYOIUId HNO

ALHIOS NO LOVdMI ¥NO

IDNYNYIACD

SLINIWILY.LS IVIDONVYNI




[06 Pearson plc Annual report and accounts 2012

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

| Accounting policies continued

g Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value Cost 1s determined using the first in
first out (FIFO) method The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour, other direct costs and refated production
overheads Net realisable value is the estmated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less esumated
costs necessary to make the sale Provisions are made
for slow mowing and obsolete stock

h Royalty advances

Advances of royalties to authors are included within
trade and other receivables when the advance 15 pard
less any proviston required to adjust the advance to
its net realisable value The realisable value of royalty
advances relies on a degree of management judgement
in determining the profitability of individual author
contracts If the estmated realisable value of author
contracts 15 overstated, this will have an adverse effect
on operating profits as these excess amounts will be
written off

The recoverability of royalty advances 1s based upen
an annual detailed management review of the age of
the advance, the future sales projections for new
authors and prior sales history of repeat authors
The royalty advance 1s expensed at the contracted
or effective royalty rate as the related revenues are
earned Royalty advances which will be consumed
within one year are held i current assets Royalty
advances which will be consumed after one year are
held in non-current assets

1 Newspaper development costs

Investment 10 the development of newspaper utles
consists of measuras to ncrease the volume and
geographical spread of circulaton The measures
include additional and enhanced editonal content,
extended distribution and remote printing These costs
are expensed as incurred as they do not meet the
criteria under IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ to be
caprtalised as mtangible assets

 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents m the cash flow statement
include cash in hand, deposits held on call with banks,
other short-term highly hguid investments with
onginal maturiies of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts Bank overdrafts are mcluded in borrowings
in current liabiities m the balance sheet

Short-term deposits and marketable secunties with
matuntes of greater thar three months do not qualfy
as cash and cash equivalents Movements on these
financial instruments are classified as cash flows

from financing activities In the cash flow statement
where these amounts are used to offset the
borrowings of the Group or as cash flows from
mvesting actwities where these amounts are held

to generate an mvestment return

k Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the 1ssue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as
a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds

Vhere any Group company purchases the company's
equity share capital {treasury shares) the consideration
pawd, including any directly attributable incrementat
costs, net of income taxes, I1s deducted from equity
attributable to the company's equity holders untl the
shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of Where
such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any
consideration receved, net of any directly attributable
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,

15 included in equity attributable to the company’s
equity holders

| Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised inimally at fair value, which
1s proceeds received net of transaction costs mcurred
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost
with any difference between the proceads {net of
ransacuion costs) and the redempuion value bemg
recognised in the Income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effecuve mnterest method
Accrued interest 1s included as part of borrowings
‘Where a debt instrument s i a fair value hedging
relationship, an adjustment 1s made to its carrying value
in the ncome statement to reflect the hedged risk
Interest on borrowings 15 expensed in the income
statement as mncurred

m. Derwative financial inscruments

Dervauves are recoghised at far value and re-
measured at each balance sheet date The fair value
of derwvatives 15 determined by using market data and
the use of established estimation techniques such as
discounted cash flow and option valuation models
The Group designates certamn of the derivative
nstruments within its portfolio to be hedges of

the fair value of its bonds (far value hedges) or
hedges of net mvestments m farergn operauons
{net nvestment hedges)




I Accounting policies continued

m Denvative financial instruments continued
Changes in the fair value of dervatives that are
designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded
In the income statement, together with any changes in
the far value of the hedged asset or hiabihity that are
attributable to the hedged nsk

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualfy as net
mvestment hedges are recognised in other
comprehensive income Gains and losses accumulated
i equity are included m the income statement when
the corresponding foreign operation 1s disposed of
Gains or losses relating to the neffective portion are
recognised immediately in finance income or finance
costs In the income statement

Certain derivatives do not quahf)'r ot are not designated
as hedging nstruments Such derivatives are classified
at fair value and any movement in their fair value is
recognised immediately in finance income or finance
costs In the income statement

n Taxation

Current tax 1s recognised on the amounts expected to
be paid or recovered under the tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date

Deferred income tax is provided, using the habiity
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts Deferred income tax 1s determined using tax
rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected 1o
apply when the related deferred tax asset 1s realised
or the deferred mcome tax habiity 15 settled

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that 1t 1s probable that future taxable profit will be
avallable against which the temporary differences
can be utilised

Deferred income tax 1s provided in respect of the
undistributed earnings of subsidianes other than where
it 1s intended that those undistributed earmings will not
be remitted in the foreseeable future

Current and deferred tax are recogmsed n the income
statement, except when the tax relates 1o nems
charged or credited directly to equity or other
comprehenswe income, in which case the tax 1s also
recognised In equity or other comprehenstve income
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The Group Is subject to Income taxes I hUMerous
junsdictions Significant jJudgement 1s required in
determining the estimates in relation to the woridwide
provision for mcome taxes There are many
transacttons and calcufations for which the ultmate tax
determmation is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business The Group recognises labiliues for
anticipated tax audit 1ssues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due Where the {ina!
tax outcome of these matters 1s different from the
amouits that were initially recorded, such differences
will mpact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination 15 made

Deferred tax assets and labilities require management
judgement in deterrmuiming the amounts to be
recogrised In particular, significant judgement is used
when assessing the extent to which deferred tax assets
should be recognised with consideration given to the
ttmung and level of future taxable income together with
any future tax planning strategies

o Employee benefits

| Penswon obligations ¥ he retirement benefit asset and
obligation recogrised in the balance sheet represents
the net of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan assets at the
balance sheet date The defined benefit obligaton s
calculated annually by ndependent actuaries using the
projected urit credit method The present value of the
defined benefit obligation 1s determined by discounting
estimated future cash flows using yields on high quality
corporate bonds which have terms te maturity
approximating the terms of the related hability

The determination of the penston cost and defined
benefit obligatron of the Group's defined benefit
pension schemes depends on the selection of certan
assumptions, which include the discount rate, wflation
rate, salary growth, longevity and expected return on
scheme assets

Actuarial gains and losses arising from differences
between actual and expected returns on plan assets,
experience adyustments on liabilines and changes in
actuarial assumptions are recognised immediately in
other comprehensive income

The service cost, representing benefits accruing over
the year, 5 included in the income statement as an
operating cast. The unwinding of the discount rate on
the scheme habrhues and the expected return on
scheme assets are presented as finance costs or
finance thcome
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

| Accounung policies continued

o Employee benefits conunued

Obiigations for contnbuuons to defined contribution
pension plans are recognised as an operating expense
in the income statement as incurred

2 Other post-retirement obligations The expected costs
of post-retirement healthcare and life assurance
benefits are accrued over the pened of employment,
using a simiar accounting methodology as for defined
benefit pension obligations The habiities and costs
relating to significant other post-retirement obligations
are assessed annually by independent qualfied actuaries

3 Share-based payments The fair value of options or
shares granted under the Group's share and option
plans is recognised as an employee expense after taking
into account the Group's best estimate of the number
of awards expected to vest Fair value 1s measured at
the date of grant and 1s spread over the vesting pertod
of the option or share The fair value of the options
granted 1s rmeasured using an option model that 15 most
appropriate to the award The fair value of shares
awarded 1s measured using the share price at the date
of grant unless another method 15 more approprate
Any proceeds recetved are credited to share capital
and share premium when the options are exercised

p Prowisions

Prowisions are recognised if the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it s more likely than not that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligauon
and the amount can be rehably estimated Prowisions
are discounted to present value where the effect

s materal

The Group recognises a provision for deferred
consideration at fair value

The Group recognises a provision for onerous lease
contracts when the expected benefits to be derved
from a contract are iess than the unavoidable costs
of meeting the obligatrons under the contract

The prowision 1s based on the present value of future
payments for surplus leased properties under non-
cancellable operating leases, net of esumated sub-
leasing income

q Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or recervable for the sale of goods and
services net of sales taxes, rebates and discounts, and
after eliminaung sales within the Group

Revenue from the sale of books 1s recognised when
title passes A provision for anticipated returns s made
based primarily on historical return rates If these
estimates do not reflect actuai returns in future pertods
then revenues could be understated or overstated for
a particular period

Circulation and adverusing revenue s recognised when
the newspaper or other publication 15 published
Subscription revenue is recognised on a straight-ine
basis over the life of the subscription

Where a contractual arrangement consists of two

or more separate elements that can be provided

to customers either on a stand-alone basis or as an
optional extra, such as the provision of supplementary
materials with textbooks, revenue 1s recognised for
each element as if & were an indnadual contractual
arrangement

Revenue from multi-year contractual arrangements,
such as contracts to process qualfying tests for
individual professions and government departments,

1s recognised as performance occurs The assumptions,
risks, and uncertainues mherent in long-term contract
accounting can affect the amounts and timing of
revenue and related expenses reported Certan of
these arrangements, etther as a result of a single service
spanning more than one reporting penod or where the
contract requires the provision of a number of services
that together constitute a single project, are treated as
long-term contracts with revenue recognised on a
percentage of compietion basis Losses on contracts
are recognised in the period in which the loss first
becomes foreseeable Contract losses are determmned
to be the amount by which esumated total costs of the
contract exceed the esumated total revenues that will
be generated by the contract

On certain contracts, where the Group acts as agent,
only commissions and fees recevable for services
rendered are recognised as revenue Any third-party
costs incurred on behalf of the princtpal that are
rechargeable under the contractual arrangement are
not incfuded n revenue



I Accounting policies conunued

q Revenue recognition continued

Income from recharges of freight and other actvities
which are incidental to the normal revenue generating
activities 1s included n other ncome

r Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the
Group has substantially all the risks and rewards

of ownership are classified as finance leases

Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement

of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased
property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments Each lease paymient is allocated between the
hability and finance charges to achieve a constant rate
on the finance balance outstanding The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are icluded
in financial rabthtes — borrowings The interest element
of the finance cost Is charged to the income statement
over the lease pertod to produce a constant perodic
rate of interest on the remaining bafance of the hability
for each period The property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases are deprecsated over the
sharter of the useful life of the asset or the {ease term

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retamed by the lessor are
classified as operating leases by the lessee Payments
made under operating leases {net of any ncentives
recenved from the lessor) are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basts over the perod of
the lease

s Dividends

Dmvidends are recorded in the Group's financial
statements in the penod in which they are approved
by the company's shareholders Intertm dvidends

are recorded in the period in which they are approved
and paid
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t Assets and liabilities held for sale

Assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale and
stated at the lower of carrying amount and far value
less costs to sell if it 1s mtended to recover thew
carrying amount principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use No depreciation
1s charged n respect of non-current assets classified
as held for sale Amounts relating to non-current
assets and habilities held for sale are classified as
discontinued operattons in the Income statement
where appropriate

u Trade recevables

Trade recewvables are stated at fair value after provision
for bad and doubtful debts and anticipated future sales
returns (see also note 1q)

2 Segment information

The Group 1s organised into the following business
segments

Conunumg operations

North Amernican Education Educational pubhshing,
assessment and tesung for the school and higher
education market within the USA and Canada,

Intemational Education Educational publishing,
assessment and testing for the school and higher
education market outside of North Amenca,

Professianal Business and technology publishing,
tramnmng, tesung and certficauon for professional
bodies,

FT Group Publisher of the Financial Times, business
magazines and specialist information,

Discontinued operations

Penguin Consumer pubhsher with brand imprints such
as Penguin, Putnam, Berkley, Viking and Dorling
Kindersley
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2 Segment information continued

In October 2012, Pearson and Bertelsmann announced an agreement to create a new consumer publishing

bustness by combining Penguin and Random House The transaction 1s expected to complete in 2013 and, at that
point, Pearson will no longer control the Penguin group of companies but will equity account for its 47% associate
interest The loss of control results in the Penguin business being classified as held for sale in the Pearson balance
sheet at December 2012 and the results for both 2011 and 2012 have been included n discontinued operations

For more detaill on the services and products included in each business segment refer to the business review

2012
North
American  Intermauonal T Discontinued

All figures in £ mallions Notes Educauon Educauon Professional Group  Corporate  operanons Group
Continuing operations
Sales (external) 2,658 1,568 390 443 - - 5,059
Sales (inter-segment) 5 | 12 - - - 18
Adjusted operaung profit 536 2l6 37 49 - - 838
intangible charges (66) (73) (37) {4 - - (l18Q)
Acquisition costs 7 (8 " (%) - - (20
QOther net gains and losses - - (123} = - - (123
Cperating profic 463 135 (124) 41 - - 515
Finance costs } 6 3 3 (113)
Finance income 3 32
Profit before tax 434
Income tax 7 {148)
Profit for the year from
continuing operations 286
Segment assets 5,449 2,390 63! 445 1,246 1,145 11,306
Jont ventures 12 - 7 - | - - 8
Associates 12 | 4 - 2 - 27 34
Total assets 5,450 2,401 631 448 1,246 1,172 11,348
Other segment items
Share of results of jont venwres
and assocsates 2 - (3) (1) 23 - - 9
Capial expendiure 10,13 66 33 6 26 - it 152
Pre-publication investment 20 250 76 7 - - 31 364
Depreciation 18 41 16 8 8 - 7 80
Amortisation 1120 31t 142 45 1é - 39 553




2 Segment informatron continued
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North
Amencan  International 1 Dhzcontinued

All figures in £ milons Motes Educanon Educaton  Professional Group Corporace  operauons Group
Conunuing operatons
Sales (external) 2,584 1,424 382 427 - - 4817
Sales (inter-segment) 3 - 9 - - - 12
Ad)usted operating profit 493 196 66 76 ~ - 831
Intangible charges (57) (60) (n (8) - - (I36)
Acquisition costs 2) E)] - n - - (12
Cther net gains and losses 29 [ — 412 - — 435
Ovperaung profit 463 121 55 479 - - 1,118
Finance costs 6 (76)
Finance mcome 3 25
Profit before tax 1,047
Income tax 7 {162)
Profit for the year from
continuIng operanons 885
Segment assets 5,198 2,388 626 424 1555 1,021 F1212
Joint ventures ” - 16 - f - ! 18
Associates 1z i 8 — 4 - | 14
Tortal assets 5,199 2,412 626 429 1,555 1.023 11,244
Other segment items
Share of results of joint ventures
and assocrates 2 - (2) i 34 - - 33
Capital expenditure o1 75 33 17 9 - 12 156
Pre-pubtication mnvestment 20 237 60 2 - - 32 13
Depreciation 10 36 14 8 4 - 8 70
Amortisation 120 309 128 16 20 - 45 518

In 2012, sales from the prowision of goods were £2,946m (2011 £3,009m) and szles from the prowsion of

services were £2,113m (2011 £1,808m) Sales from the Group's educational publishing, consumer publishing
and newspaper business are classified as being from the prowvision of goods and sales from its assessment and

testing and other service businesses are classified as being from the provision of services

Included 1n other net gains and losses in 2012 in the Professional segment 1s the loss on closure of Pearson in
Practice {£113m) and an imparment Joss on a jomt venture (£10m) In 2011 other net gans and losses includes

a gain on sale of FTSE International {£412m) in the FT Group, a gain on the sale of investments in the North

American Education business (£29m) and a net loss of £6m on acquisition and disposal transactions in the

International Education business
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Notes to the consohdated financal statements continued

2 Segment mformauon conunued

Corporate costs are allocated to business segments including discontinued operations on an appropriate basis
depending on the nature of the cost and therefore the segment result 1s equal to the Group operating profit Inter-
segment pricing ts determined on an arm’s-fength basis Segment assets consist of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, mventories, recevables, deferred taxation and other financial assets and exclude cash and cash
equivalents and derivative assets Corporate assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and
derwative financial instruments Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and

software (see notes 10and | 1)

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets acquired through business combimauon were £296m
{2011 £404m) (see note 30) Caprtal expenditure, depreciation and amorusation include amounts relating

to discontinued operations

The Group operates n the following man geographic areas

Safes Non current assets
Al figures w £ milions W02 201 w2 201
Contnuing operations
UK 705 713 803 1,237
Other European countries ) 391 394 234 225
USA 2,800 2,707 4,496 4325
Canada 145 150 307 226
Asla Pacific 647 514 524 570
Other countnes 371 33% 275 325
Total conunuing 5,059 4817 6,639 6,908
Discontinued operations
UK 160 152 - -
Other European countries i 78 77 - -
USA 603 606 - -
Canada 56 59 - -
Asia Pacific 139 132 - -
Other countries 17 19 -~ -
Total discontinued 1,053 1,045 - -
Total 6,112 5,862 6,639 6,908

Sales are allocated based on the country n which the customer is located This does not differ matenally from
the location where the order is received The geographical split of non-current assets is based on the subsidiary’s

country of dormucite This 1s not materrally different to the location of the assets Non-current assets comprise
property, plant and egquipment, intangible assets, nvestments In joint ventures and associates and trade and

other recewables



Section 6 Finznaial statements

3 Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations relate to Penguin

An analysis of the results and cash flows of disconunued operations s as follows

HE)

2012 01t
Af figures in € mitiions Pengun Pengun
Sales £,053 1,045
Operating profit 62 o8
Profit before tax 62 108
Attributable tax expense (19 (37)
Profit after tax from discontinued operauons 43 71
Operating cash flows 83 107
Investing cash flows @an {(13)
Financing cash flows 10 7
Total cash flows 12 23

Included in eperating profit in 2012 are costs associated with the formation of Penguin Random House of £32m,

including a provision for the settlement of litigation assocrated with the agency arrangement for eBooks

4 Operaung expenses

All figures n £ miflicns 012 W

By function

Cost of goods sold 2,224 2,072

Operating expenses ) ) . )

Distribution costs ’ 177 190

Administrative and other expenses 2,0l 1,999

Other ncome {72} (117y
Total net operating expenses 2216 2,072

Total 4,440 4,144

Inciuded in other income in 201 | 1s a profit of £29m on the sale of an investment and a gam of £8m on a stepped

acquisition Both these tems are excluded from adjusted earnings
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4 Operating expenses continued

Al figures i £ emlhons Notes 2012 2011
By nature L L ) L ) ) ) i
Utilisation of inventory 2 512 585
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 72 63
Amortisation of mtangible assets ~ Pre-publication 20 283 292
Amorusation of intangible assets — Other " 230 181
Acquisition costs R 8 20 12
Employee benefit expense 5 1.916 1,778
Cperating lease rentals 171 164
Other property costs 33 37
Royalties expensed 245 260
Advertising, promotion and marketing i 247 134
Information technology costs 82 74
Other costs 701 581
Other income {72) (117)
Total 4,440 4,144
During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors

Al igures in £ mllions 012 2011
The audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements 4 4
The audu of the company's subsidiaries 2 2
Total audit fees 6 6
Other assurance services | -
Total assurance services | -
Tax comphance services ) | I
Tax advisory services | i
Total tax services 2 pi
Corporate finance services not covered above - l
Total non-audit services 3 3
Total 9 9
Reconciliation between audit and non-audit service fees 1s shown below

AR figures In £ mullions 2012 0H
Group audit fees mcluding fees for attestation under section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 6 6
Non-audit fees 3 3
Total 9 9

Fees for attestation under section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act are allocated between fees payable for the audits

of consolidated and subsidiary accounts
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5 Employee informatton

s

All figures In £ millions Notes 2002 2011
Employee benefit expense

Wages and salares {including termination benefits and restructuring costs) 1,659 531
Socal security costs 132 126
Share-based payment costs 26 28 36
Retrement benefits — defined comtrbunon plans i 7 62
Retirement benefits — defined benefit plans 25 22 20
Other post-retirement benefits 25 4 3
Tortal 1916 |,778

The details of the emoluments of the directors of Pearson pic are shown in the report on directors’ remuneration

Average number employed 2012

201

Employee numbers

North American Education 8,552 16,133
International Education 16,751 13,646
Professional 3706  456)
FT Group 3,088 2,765
Other 883 859
Continuing operattons 42,980 37,964

The employee benefit expense relating to discontinued operatons was £21 Im (2011 £205m) and the average

number employed was 4,542 (2011 3,557)

MIIAYIAD

IINYWYOIUId HNO

AL3IZOS NO LOVdHWI N0

IONYNYIAOD

SLNIHILYLS I¥IDONYNIA




116 Pearson pic Annual report and accounts 2012
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6 Net finance costs

ARl figores m £ multions Mores 2012 2011

Interest payable ) {75) (65)
Finance cost of put options, deferred cansideration associated with acquisitions

and other imerest charges refated to transactions {n 4
Net foreign exchange losses (8 (22)
Other losses on financtal instruments in a hedging relavonship

~— fair value hedges {n -
Other losses on financral instruments not in a hedging relationship

— derwatives (2 5
Finance costs (113) (96}
interest recervable 10 {0
Net finance income in respect of retirement benefits 25 13 3

Met foreign exchange gans 9 I

Other gains on financial instruments in a hedging relauonship

— fair value hedges - -

Other gans on financial instruments not in a hedging relatonship

—amortisation of transitional adjustment on bonds - !

-~ derrvatives - -

Finance income 32 25

Net finance costs 81) [ta)]
Analysed as

Net interest payable (65) (55)
Net finance income in respect of retirement benefits b13 13 3

Net finance costs reflected in adjusted earnings — continuing operations (>2) (52)
Other net finance costs (29) (%
Total net finance costs 81 {75)

The net loss of £1m on fair value hedges in 2012 (2011 £mi) comprises a gain of £7m (2011 loss of £39m) on the

underlying bonds, offset by a toss of £8m (2011 gain of £39m) on the related derwatwe financal instrurmnents




7 Income tax

Section 6 Finandal statements

Hy

AD figures in £ mulhons Notes 012 2011
Current tax

Charge m respect of current year (154) (187)
Adjustments mn respect of prior years 18 36
Total current tax charge {136) (5n
Deferred tax

In respect of temporary differences ) {48) (15
Other adjustments in respect of prior years 36 4
Total deferred tax charge 13 (12 (1)
Total tax charge (148) {162}

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would anise using the UK tax rate

as follows

Al figares i £ millions 2012 00t

Profit before tax 434 1,047

Tax calculated at UK rate (2012 24 5%, 2011 26 5%) (106) (277}
tffect of overseas tax rates i 53] (27
Joint venture and associate income reported net of tax 2 9

Net (expense)/income not subject to tax {15) 7

{Loss)/gamn on sale of businesses not subject to tax {28) 88

Utihisavon of previously unrecognised tax losses and credits 2 !

Unutilised tax losses (6) (3)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 54 40
Total tax charge (148) (162)
uK {22) (10
Qverseas (126) (i52)
Total tax charge (148) (162)
Tax rate reflected in earmings 34 1% 155%
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7 Income tax continued

The tax rate reflected in adjusted earmings 15 calculated as follows

Al figures in £ mellions 002 201t
Profit before tax 434 1,047
Adjustments )
Other net losses/ (gans) i23 (435)
Acquisition costs A 20 12
Amortisation of acquired mtangibles 180 136
Other net finance costs 29 9
Adjusted profit before @x — continuing operations 786 779
Adjusted profit before tax - discontinued operations 98 1l
Total adjusted profic before tax 884 890
Total tax charge N (148) (162)
Adjustments ) ] ~
Tax charge on other net gains - 19
Tax benefit on acquisition costs (5) 4
Tax benefit on amorusation of acquired intangibles (54) (43)
Tax benefit on other net finance mcome (n (5)
Tax amortisation benefit on goodwill and intangibles 36 34
Adjusted mcome tx charge — continuing operations (172) (lel)
Adjusted income tax charge — discontinued operatuons (32) (38)
Total adjusted incame tax charge 209) (199
Tax rate reflected n adjusted earnings 23 1% 22 4%
The tax benefit/ {charge) recognised in other comprehensive income s as follows
AR figures in £ mulions w012 2010
Penston contributions and actuaral gains and losses . 55 7
Net investment hedges and other foreign exchange gains and losses - (4)
55 3

A tax benefit of £6m (2011 tax benefit £3m) relaung to share-based payments has been recognised direcdy
n equity

’
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8 Earnings per share

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dniding the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, exciuding ordinary shares purchased by
the company and held as treasury shares

Diluted

Diluted earmings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares to take
account of all dilutive potenual ordinary shares and adjusting the profit attributable, if applicable, to account for
any tax conseguences that might arise from conversion of those shares

Al figures in £ millions Notes 2012 2011
Profit for the year from continuing operations 286 885
Non-controlhing interest (3} I
Earmings from continumg operations 283 886
Profit for the year from discontinyed operattons _ 3 43 71
Non-controlling interest - -
Earnings 326 957
Weighted average number of shares {milltons) 8043 8002
Effect of dilutive share options {millions) ) 13 17
Weighted average number of shares {mifions) for diluted earrungs 805 6 BO1 9

Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations

Basic . 40 5p 119 6p
Diluted 40 5p 19 3p
Eamings per share from continuing operations

Basic 352p HO 7p
Diuted 351p 110 5p
Earnings per share from disconunued operations o i ]

Basic 53p 89
Crluted S54p 8 8p
Adjusted

In order to show results from operating actevities on a consistent basis, an adjusted earmings per share is presented
The company's defimtion of adjusted earnings per share may not be comparable to other similarfy titled measures
reported by other companies

Adjusted earnings includes the results from continuing and discontinued operations
‘The following ttems are excluded from adjusted earnings

Other net gains and losses represent profits and losses on the acquisition and dispasal of subsidiaries, jont ventures,
associates and other financial assets that are included within continuing or discontinued operations but which
distort the performance of the Group

Armortisation of acquired intangibles, acquisition costs and mevements i contingent acquisition consideration are also
excluded from adjusted earnings as these items are not considered to be fully reflecuve of the underlying
performance of the Group
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

8 Earnings per share continued

Other net finance mcome/costs Include the finance costs of put options and deferred consideraton that relate to
future earn outs and simdar payments on acquisition, foresgn exchange and other gains and losses that represent
short-term fluctuations it market value and foreign exchange movements on transactions and balances that are
no longer in a hedge relatonship In the case of acquisiion related items these are excluded as they do not reflect
cash expended and foreign exchange and other gams and losses are subject to significant volatiity and may not be
reahsed in due course as it 15 normally the intention to hold these instruments to maturity Other net finance costs
of Group companies are included in finance costs or finance income as appropriate Other net finance costs of
Joint ventures and assocrates are included within the share of results of joint ventures and associates within
operating profit

Following the adoption of IAS 19 revised in 2013 the Group intends to exclude the pension finance income or
expense from adjusted earmings as the calculaton under the new standard will not necessarily reflect the underlying
economics associated with the relevant pension assets and labdities

Tax on the above items is excluded from adjusted earnings Where relevant the Group also excludes the benelfit
from recognising previously unrecognised pre-acquisition and capital losses The Group adds the benefit of tax
amortisation of gooedwill and ntangibles as this benefit more accurately aligns the adjusted tax charge with the
expected rate of cash tax payments

Non-controlfing interest for the above items 15 excluded from adjusted earnings

The following tables reconcile statutory earnings to adjusted earnings

2012
Other nex
Smtutory Orher ney finance Tax Adpsted
neone Drnconunued  gans and Acquisivon Intanpgble meomal  amorosation neome
Al figures In £ milions. statement operatons losses cass charges costs benefit sttement
Operaung profit 515 98 123 20 180 - - 936
Net finance costs @3hH - - - - 29 - (52
Profit before tax 434 98 123 20 180 29 - 884
Income tax (148) (32) - 5) (54) 0] 36 (204)
Profit for the year from
conunuIng operations 286 66 123 {5 26 28 36 680
Profit for the year from
discontinued operations 43 (66) 20 1 2 - - -
Profit for the year 329 - 143 16 128 28 36 680
Non-controlling interest 3) - — - - - - (3}
Earnings 326 - 143 16 128 28 36 677
Weighted average number
of shares (rillions) 8043 804 3

Adjusted earnings per share 40 5p 84 2p




8 Earmings per share continued
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011

Orher net
Staturory Other net finance Tax Adusted
wcome  Disconvnued  gains and Acquisiuon Intangible nceme’  zmortisation inceme
Al figures in £ melions statement operatons losses costs charges costs benefit  smisment
Operating profit 1,118 HE {435) 12 136 - - 942
Net finance costs (71 - - - - 19 - (52)
Profit before tax 1,047 Fi (435) 12 136 19 - 8%0
Income tax (te2y  (38) 19 jG)] {43) (5) 34 (199
Profit for the year from
continuing operations 885 73 (416) 8 93 I4 34 691
Profit for the year from
discontinued operations 71 (73 - — 2 - - -
Profit for the year 956 - (416) 8 95 i 4 34 691
Non-controlling interest | - - - - - - i
Eamings 957 - (416) 8 95 14 34 692
Woeighted average number
of shares (millions) 8002 8002
Adjusted earnings per share ii9 ép 86 5p
9 Dividends
All figures in £ mllions 012 2011
Final pard in respect of pnior year 28 0p (2011 257p) L . 225 _ 206
Interim paid in respect of current year 15 Op (2011 14 0p) 121 12
346 3i8

The directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 3| December 2012 of 30 Op per
share which will absorb an esumated £245m of shareholders’ funds it will be paid on 3 May 2013 to sharehotders

who are on the register of members on 5 April 2013 These financial statements do not reflect this dvidend
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10 Property, plant and equipment

Asses
Land and Ptant and course of

All figures in £ mullions. buildings equipment construcoon Towl
Cost

At | January 201 | 336 669 1 1,0t6
Exchange differences 2 (2) - -
Addrtions 15 51 i3 79
Disposals {13) (31). - (44
Acquisition through business combmnation 11 21 - 3
Disposal through business disposal - (2) - (2)
Reclassifications 12 - (i) -
At 31 December 2011 363 706 12 1,081

Exchange differences (%) (23) - (32)
Additions 12 51 15 78

Disposals (2) (20 - (22)
Acquisition through business combination 4 13 - 17

Disposal through business disposal ON 4 - 6]
Reclassifications 8 - 8 -
Transfer from/(to) software 9 (27) - (18)
Transfer from pre-pubhcation - 3 - 3

Transfer to assets held for sale (32) (102) {1 _(135)
At 3|1 December 2012 352 597 18 967




10 Property, plant and equipment continued
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Assers in

Land and Plant and course of
All figures m £ millions bealdings equipment construction Total
Depreciatton
At | January 201 | (166) {484) - {650)
Exchange differences ) i - -
Charge for the year (16} (54) - (70)
Disposals 2 29 - 3t
Acquisition through business combination (h (10) - {1
Disposal through business disposal ~ 2 - 2
Reclassifications (5) 5 - -
At 31 December 201 | (187) (C10)) - (698)
Exchange differences b 17 - 23
Charge for the year 2N (5%9) - (80)
Disposals 2 9 -~ 21
Acquisition through business combmation } {1 {6) - {7)
Disposal through business disposal - 2 - 2
Reclassificatons (8) 8 - -
Transfer {from)/to software {3) 7 - 4
Transfer to assets held for sale 17 78 - 95
At 31 December 2012 (195) (445) - (640)
Carrying amounts
At} Januvary 201 170 185 I 366
At 31 December 2011 76 195 12 383
At 31 December 2012 157 152 18 327
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10 Property, plant and equipment continued

Deprecration expense of £19m (2011 £15m) has been included in the income statement in cost of goods sold,
£9m (201} £10m) in distribution expenses and £52m (2011 £45m) in administrative and other expenses
In 2012 £7m (2011 £8m) relates to discontinued operations

The Group leases certan equipment under a number of finance lease agreements The ret carrying amount of
leased plant and equipment included within property, plant and equipment was £17m (2011 £18m)

Il Intangible assets

Acquired
customer bsts Acquired Acquired Other
and  wademarks publishing  inangpbles
Al dgures in £ willlons Goadwall Sofoerire  celauonshups  and brands rights acqured
Cost
At | January 201 - 4,568 352 431 186 230 306 6,073
Exchange differences 5 1)) | () {12) {n
Additions — internal development - 49 - - - -
Additions — purchased - 8 - - - -
Disposals i - (9) — - _ _ (9)
Acquisition through business combination 620 9 200 68 - 100
Disposal through business disposal (4 - - - (5} - 9
At 3| December 2011 5,199 428 632 253 213 405 7,130

Exchange differences

. @3 (3 2n (Y ® @ @9

Additions - internal development 38 - -

Additions — purchased - 36 - - - - 3
Disposals - {(n - - - - (n
Acquisition through business combmnation 505 12 128 27 10 110

Disposal through business disposal {50) - (89) 2) - - {141
Transfer from PPE ’ - 18 - - - - 8
Transfer to assets held for sale {364) (42) (14 &) &) (5) (441)

At 31 December 2012 5,077 466 635 258 207 488 7,131
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Acquired
coomer hsts Acquired  Acquired Other
and  vademarks publishing ntzngrbles

Al igures n £ mallions Goodwill  Software relamonshps  and brands nghts  acquired Torl
Amortisauon
At | January 2011 - (250) (103) (41) {in (lol) (608)
Exchange differences - 2 ] - 4 (3 -
Charge for the year - (48) {55) {22) {22y {40) {187)
Disposals - 6 - - - - 6
Acquisition through business combination - 2) - - - - (2}
Disposal through business disposal — - - - ! - |
At 31 December 201 | - (296) (157} (63) (128) (144) {788)
Exchange differences -~ 9 7 3 5 8 32
Charge for the year - (54) (85) (27} (20) (1) (237)
Disposals - 8 - - - - 8
Acguisition through business combinauon ~ 7 - - - - {7)
Disposal through business disposal - - 45 | - - 46
Transfer from PPE - ] - - - - (%)
Transfer to assets held for sale - 32 ! — 4 - 37
At 31 December 2012 - (312 {189) (86) (13%) (187) (913)
Carrying amounts ) )
At ) january 201! 4,568 102 328 145 119 205 5467
At 3} December 201 | 5,199 132 475 190 85 261 6,342
At 31 December 2012 5.077 154 446 172 68 301 6,218

Goodwill

The goodwill carrying value of £5,077m relates to acquisitions completed after | January 1998 Prior to | January
1998 all goodwill was written off to reserves on the date of acqusition For acquisitions completed between

I January 1998 and 31 December 2002 no value was ascribed to intangibles other than goodwill and the goodwill
on each acquisition was amortised over a pertod of up to 20 years On adoption of IFRS on | January 2003, the
Group chose not to restate the goodwill balance and at that date the balance was frozen (1 e amortisation ceased)
If goodwill had been restated then a significant value would have been ascribed to other intangible assets, which
would be subject to amortisation, and the carrying value of goodwill would be significantly fower For acquisitions
completed after | January 2003 vaiue has been ascrbed to other intangible assets which are amortised

Other intangible assets

Other intangibles acquired include content, technology, conwracts and software rights

Intangible assets are valued separately for each acquisivon and the primary method of valuavon used s the
discounted cash flow methed The majonty of acquired intangibles are amortised using the unit of production
method which 1s based on the pattern of benefits embodied in the asset

Amortisation of £10m (2011 £10m} 1s included i the income statement in cost of goods sold and £205m
(2011 £177m) in administrative and other expenses Also included in the amortisation charge for the year

in 2012 1s an mpairment of £2 Ym relating to Pearson in Pracuce which 1s included in the income statement in
administrative and other expenses In 2012 £7m (2011 £6m) of amorusation relates to discontinued operations
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Il Intangible assets continued

The range of useful economic lives for each major class of intangible asset (excluding goodwill and software)

15 shown befow

Class of intangible asset

2012

Useful economuc iife

Acquired customer bsts and relationships 5-20 years
Acquired trademarks and brands 5-20 years
Acquired publishing rghts 5-20 years
Other intangibles acquired 2-20 years
The expected amorusation profile of acquired intangible assets is shown below

2012

One to five Sxipten  Morethan

Al figures in € millions years yaars  tenyears Toul
Class of intangible asset
Acquired customer hsts and relationships 263 132 M 446
Acquired trademarks and brands 89 49 34 172
Acquired publishing rights 59 8 i 68
Other intangibles acquired 231 63 7 30i

Impairment tests for cash-generating umits contaming goodwill

Impairment tests have been carrted out where appropriate as described below The recoverable amount for each

unit tested exceeds Its carrying value

Goodwill in respect of continuing operations is allocated to, and momitored at the level of, 10 aggregated cash-

generating units (CGUs) within the business segments as follows

All figures In £ millions 011 2011
US Education Pubhishing 2,384 2,127
US School Assessment and Information 773 792
Canada } 188 192
International — Emerging Markets 463 508
International — UK 450 460
International — Rest Of World 267 228
Professional Publishing 15 13
Professional Assessment and Training 334 377
Pearson Education total 4,874 4,697
Financial Times 51 49
Mergermarket 52 138
FT Group total 203 187
Continuing operations 5.077 4,884

Goodwill in respect of discontinued operations ts £364m (2011 £315m)
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i1 Intangible assets continued

Impairment tests for cash-generaung units containing goodwill continued

The recoverable amount of each CGU 1s based on value in use calculations Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually Other than goodwill there are no ntangtble assets with indefinite hves The goodwill 1s generally
denominated in the currency of the relevant cash flows and therefore the impairment review 1s not materlly
sensitive to exchange rate fluctuations

In 201 I, following a reorganisation within the International Education business the CGUs were re-analysed mto
Emerging Markets, UK and Rest Of World to align with the management and reporting structure The goodwill was
reallocated accordingly using a relative value approach except where goodwill 1s directly attnbutable to one of the
new CGUs, 1n which case the goodwill was specifically allocated to the relevant CGU

Key assumptions
The value In use calcutations use cash flow projections based on finanaal budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period The key assumpuions used by management in the value in use calculanions were

Discount rate The discount rate 15 based on the nsk-free rate for government bonds, adjusted for a risk premium
to reflect the increased nisk in mvesting In equities The risk prermium adjustment 1s assessed for each specific CGU
The average pre-tax discount rates used are in the range of 9 8% to 12 7% for the Pearson Education businesses
(2011 107%to 13 3%} and |1 5% to 18 4% for the FT Group businesses (2011 11 6% to 17 9%)

Perpetutty growth rates A perpetuity growth rate of 2 0% was used for cash flows subsequent to the approved
budget period for all CGUs in 2012 (2011 2 0%) This perpetuity growth rate 1s a conservative rate and Is
considered to be lower than the long-term historic growth rates of the underlying termitonies in which the CGU
operates and the long-term growth rate prospects of the sectors in which the CGU operates

Cash flow growth rates The cash flow growth rates are derived from management’s latest forecast of sales taking
into consideration experience of operating margins achieved in the CGU Historically, such forecasts have been

reasonably accurate

Sensitivities
The Group's impairment review 15 sensitive to a change in assumptions used, most notably the discount rates, the

perpetuity growth rates and expected future cash flows Based on the Group's sensitivity analysis, a reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions 1s unlikely to cause an impairment i any of the CGUs

12 Investments in joint ventures and associates

Jomnt ventures

All figures wn £ nulions 2012 2011
At beginning of year '8 18
Exchange &ifferences L - (3
Share of loss after tax ) (4 A
Dwvidends ) ) (2)
Additions and further investment 6 7
Goodwill imparment (10) -
At end of year B 18

The goodwill Impairment charge relates to the write down of the Group's investment In a jont venture in india

Investments I joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are intially recognised
at cost The total goodwill recorded on acquisition of joint ventures at 31 December 2012 was £Im (2011 £11m)
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12 Investments in joint ventures and associates continued

The aggregate of the Group's share of its jont ventures’ assets (including goodwall) and labilities, none of which are
indwdually significant, are as follows

All figures in € muftions iz 20114

Assets ) )

Non-current assets 5 15

Current assets 19 b7

Liabilities

Non-current lrabilities 2 )
Current liabilities (14) (13)
Net assets 8 18

Income 24 22

Expenses (28) {24)
Loss after tax ()] (2
Associates

All figures in £ millions 2012 2011

At beginning of year 14 53

Exchange differences (8) (3
Share of profit after tax 23 35

Dividends } (24 (39
Additions ) 32 2

Dusposals - (15)
Actuanal losses on retirernent benefit obligations €)] 8
Transfer to subsidiary - (20)
Transfer to assets held for sale 27 -

At end of year 7 14

In addition to the amounts disclosed above, FTSE Internauonal Ltd paid royalties of £13m to the FT Group during
2011 This royalty payment ceased upon the disposal of FTSE Internzuonal Ltd

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are imitrally recognised at
cost The total goodwill recorded on acquisition of associates at 31 December 2012 was £20m (2011 £nl) This
has been transferred to assets held for sale as it refates to an investment made by Penguin

The Group's interests In its assoclates, all of which are unlisted, are as follows

2012
Country of %
A figures in £ miflions LOrPOrATOn interest held Assars Liabiiies Revenues Prafit
The Economist Newspaper Ltd England 50 140 {140} 174 23
Other continuing operations 14 7) 17 I
Discontinued operations 13 ) 3 (H

Total 183 (149) 200 23
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12 Investments i joint ventures and assotiates continued

200

Country of %
All figures n £ mullions mcorporation wnterest held Assets Liabrfines Revenues Profit
The Econorust Newspaper Ltd England 50 140 (140} |79 27
FTSE International Ltd * England 50 - - 3 7
Other 6 (2) i5 |
Total 156 {142) 225 35

* FTSE Internanonal Ltd included to date of disposal
The interests held in associates are equivalent to voting rights
On |6 December 201 | the Group sold its 50% interest m FTSE intermnational Ltd

Gain on sale of FTSE International Ltd

All figures in £ millions 2041
Proceeds 428
Disposal costs )
Net assets disposed {5
Gain on saje 412

13 Deferred income tax

All figures in £ milllons 2012 2011
Deferred income tax assets i ~ 219 287
Deferred mcome tax liabihues {601) (620)
Net deferred mncome tax (372) (333)

Substanually all of the deferred tax assets are expected to be recovered after more than one year

Deferred ncome tax assets and habilites may be offset when there 1s a legally enforceable right to offset current
mcome tax assets against current ncome tax abihues and when the deferred mcome taxes relate to the same fiseal
authonty The Group has unrecognised deferred income tax assets of £13m at 3| December 2012 2011 £i3m)

in respect of UK losses, and approximately £30m (2011 £15m) in respect of losses tn other ternitories None of
the unrecognised UK losses have expiry dates associated with them

The recognition of the deferred mcome tax assets 15 supported by management’s forecasts of the future
profitability of the relevant business units

The movement on the net deferred income tax account s as follows

Al figures i £ mulhons Notes 2002 2010
At beginming of year {333) {195)
Exchange differences . 14 (3)
Income statement charge } 7 ({7) (37
Acquisition through business combination 30 (67) %¢)
Dusposal through business disposal 31 I |
Tax charge to other comprehensive ncome or equity 38 (h
Transfer to assets held for sale (i8) -
At end of year (372) (333

Included i the Income statement charge above for 2012 15 a £5m charge (2011 £26m charge) relatng to
discontinued operations
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13 Deferred income tax continued

The movement in deferred income tax assets and habilites duning the year is as follows

Reurement

Trading  Goodwall and Returns benefit
AR figures in £ mulliens osses nangibles prowsions  obhgauons Other Tout
Deferred income tax assets
At | January 2011 5 4 96 é 165 276
Exchange differences - - i - 2 3
Acquisitton through business cornbination 8 - - - i 9
tncome statement benefit/ (charge) | (4) (8) 19 {8) 2
Tax (charge)/benefit to other
comprehensive Income or equity - - ~ (6) 3 (3)
At 31 December 2011 14 - 89 19 165 287
Exchange differences - - 3) H {3 (%)
Acquisition through business combination 19 - - - - 19
Income statement charge (13} - (16) &) (33) {67)
Tax benefit/(charge) to other
comprehensive Income or equity - - - 43 (6) 37
Transfer to assets held for sale (2) - (25) 9 (2) (38)
At 31 December 2012 18 - 45 47 119 229
Other deferred income tax assets include temporary differences on share-based payments, inventory and
ather provisions

Goodwil and

AR Sgures i £ mullions. mnznghies Other Tow!
Deferred income tax habilities . _
At | January 2011 (334) (137 _ (471)
Exchange differences ) (6) (2) 9
Acquisiion through busmess combination {102) £)] (10s)
Disposal through business disposal - | ]
Income statement benefit (22) {7 (3%
Tax benefit to other comprehensive Income or equity - 2 2
At 31 December 201 | (464) (156) (620)
Exchange differences 18 S 23
Acquisition through business combination {65) (1) {86)
Disposal through business disposal H - H
income statement charge } ) 15 35 50
Tax benefit to other comprehensive income or equity - I |
Transfer to assets held for sale 10 10 20
At 31 December 2012 (475) (126) (601)

Other deferred mcome tax llabiives include temporary differences in respect of depreciation and royalty advances
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14 Classification of financial instruments

The accounting classification of each class of the Group's financial assets and financia! liabdities, together wath ther
fair vaiues, 15 as foflows

012
Far value Amaorused cost
Derivanves Derpauves Toui Toul
Avalable deemed held in hedging Other  Loans and Other catrying rnarket
All fgures in £ millions Notes for sale  for trading relavonships  hahilies raceivables  Imbilives value valye
Investments in unhsted securiies
~ CONLINUING OPErations 15 3 - - - - - 31 3)
Investments in unlisted securities
classified within assets held
for sale 32 r = - - - - i |
Cash and cash equwalents —
continuing operations 17 - - - - 1,062 - 062 1,062
Cash and cash equivalents
classified within assets heid
for sale 2 - - - - 1S - 1S 115
Marketable securities 6 - - - - - s 6
Derwative financial instruments 16 - | 177 - - - 178 178
Trade racevables — continuing
operations 22 - - - - 883 - 883 883
Trade recewables classified within
assets held for sale - - - - 249 - 249 249
Total financial assets 38 } 177 - 2,309 - 2525 2525
Trade payables — continuing
operations 24 - - - - - {337) (337) (337
Trade payables classified within
habilitres held for sale - - - - - (148) (14B) (148)
Other financial llabilities - put
options over hon-controlhng
nterest p| - - - (68) - . - (68)  (68)
Bank Joans and overdrafts —
continuing operations 18 - - - - - {55) (55)  (55)
Bank loans and overdrafts
classified within liabilittes held
for sale 2 - - - - - . @ 7) {7
Borrowings due withm one year 8 - - - - - {22%) (229) (229
Borrowings due after mare than
one year 18 — — - - - (1,988) {1,388} (2,043)
Total financial habihuies - - - {(68) - {(2764) (2,831 {2,886)
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14 Classification of financial instruments continued

00

Far vaive Amortsed cost

Denvarves  Denvatves Tout Tenl

Avatable deemedheld  in hedgng Other  Loans and Other  camymg  market

All figures m £ rilions Notes for sale for rading retauonships  fiabliues recewvables  habilines value value
Investments in unlisted securities 15 26 - - - ~ - 26 26
Cash and cash equivalents 17 - - - . . — L9 _ - 1369 1369
Marketable securities 9 - - - - - 2 9
Derwative financial instruments 16 - 3 I74 - - - 177 177
Trade recevables 22 - - — - Losl - 1,061 1,061
Tota! financial assets 35 3 174 - 2,430 — 2,642 2642

Derwvative financial instruments 15 - () {2) - - - {3) 3)
Trade payables 24 - - - - -~ (483) (483) (483)
Other financial habilities — put”

options over non-controlling

interest p7] - - - (86) - - (86)  (86)
Bank loans and overdraits ]: - - - - - (78) (78) (78)
Borrowings due within one year 18 - - - - - (%) 9 (%)
Borrowings due after more than

one year 18 - -~ - - ~ (1.964) (1,964) (2,000
Total financial habiities - (N () (86) - {2.534) (2623} (2.65%)

Certain of the Group's derivative financial instruments are classified as held for trading either as they do not meet
the hedge accounting critena specified in IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement’ or the
Group has thosen not to seek hedge accounting for these mstruments None of these derwatives are held for
speculaove trading purposes Transactions In dervative financial instruments are only undertaken to manage rsks
ansing from underlying business activity, in accordance with the Group’s treasury policy as described in note 19

The Group designates certain qualifying derivative financial instruments as hedges of the fair value of its bonds
(fair value hedges) Changes in the farr value of these dervative financial instruments are recorded in the income
statement, together with any change in the far value of the hedged liabilty attributable to the hedged risk

The Group also designates certain of 1ts borrowings and derivative financial instruments as hedges of its
investments tn foreign operanons (net investment hedges) Movements in the far value of these financial
nstruments (to the extent they are effective) are recognised in other comprehensive income

Nane of the Group's financial assets or {iabilities are designated at far value through the income statement upon
mitial recognition

More detall on the Group's accounting for financial instruments 1s included in the Group's accounting policies
The Group’s approach to managing rnisks In refation to financial instruments 1s descnbed in note 19
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IS Qther financial assets

All fgures in £ mulions 2012 201)
At beginning of year o 26 58
Exchange differences (2) -
Acquisition of mvestments 1o 12
Disposal of investments ; {2) (44)
Transfer to assets held for sale O] -
At end of year 31 26

Other financial assets comprise non-current unbsted securities
16 Derwvative financial tnstruments

The Group's approach to the management of financial rsks 15 set out in note Y9 The Group's outstanding
dervative financial instruments are as follows

2012 2041

Gross nononal Gross nouonal
Al figures i £ millions amaunts Assats Ustlites amounts Assets Lizbilities
Interest rate dervatives —
in a fair value hedge refabonship 1,465 143 - 1,208 151 -
Interest rate dervatwes -
not in 2 hedge relationship 6! ! - 65 3 (1)
Cross-currency rate derivatives —
In a net mvestment hedge relationship 220 34 - 220 23 €3]
Total 1,746 178 - 1,493 177 3)
Analysed as expinng’ )
In less than one year ) 215 4 - - - ("
Later than one year and not later
than five years 701 69 - 946 8l @
Later than five years 830 105 — 547 96 -
Total 1,746 178 - 1,493 177 (3)

The carrying value of the above derivative financial instruments equals thew fair value Farr values are determuned
by using market data and the use of established esumation techmques such as discounted cash flow and option

valuation models

At the end of 2012, the currency split of the mark-to-market values of rate dervatives, including the exchange of
principal on cross-currency rate dernatives, was US dollar £(59)m, sterling £257m and South African rand £(20)m
(2011 US doltar £{66)m, sterling £263m and South African rand £(23)m)

The fixed iterest rates on outstanding rate dervative contracts at the end of 2012 range from 3 65% to 9 28%
(2011 3 65% to 9 28%) and the floating rates are based on LIBOR in US dallar and sterling

The Group’s portfolio of rate dervatives 1s diversified by maturity, counterparty and type Natural offsets between
transactions within the portfolio and the designation of certan dervatives as hedges significantly reduce the risk
of income statement volatifity The sensitvity of the portfohio to changes in market rates 1s set out in note 19
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| 6. Derivative financial instruments continued

Counterparty exposure from all derivatives 1s managed, together with that from deposits and bank account
balances, within credit limits that reflect published credit ratings and by reference to other market measures

(e g market pnces for credit default swaps) to ensure that there i1s no significant risk to any one counterparty

No single dervative transaction had a market value (positive or negative) at the balance sheet date that exceeded
3% of the Group's consolidated total equity

In accordance with IAS 39 "Financial instruments Recognition and Measurement’ the Group has reviewed all of its
material contracts for embedded dervatives that are required to be separately accounted for if they do not meet
certam requirements, and has concluded that there are no materi! embedded derwvatives

17 Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafts)

All figures in £ milions 2012 2011
Cash at bank and i hand 372 864
Short-term bank deposits 690 505
Continuing operations 1,062 1,369
Cash at bank and i hand classified within assets held for sale 115 -

1177 1,369

Short-term bank deposits are invested wath banks and earn interest at the prevalling short-term depost rates

At the end of 2012 the currency split of cash and cash equivalents was US dollar 47% (2011 31%), sterhing 25%
(2011 38%), eurc 3% (2011 B¥) and other 25% (2011 23%)

Cash and cash equwalents have fair values that approsxamate to their carrying value due to therr short-term nature

Cash and cash equivalents mclude the following for the purpose of the cash flow statement

AN figures in £ milions 2012 20
Cash and cash equvalents — continuing operations 1,062 I.369
Cash at bank and in hand classified within assets held for sale 15 -
Bank overdrafts — continuing operations (33) (78)
Bank overdrafts classified within liabilities held for sale 7 -

1,137 1,291
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18 Financial habibues — Borrowings
The Group's current and non-current borrowings are as follows
AD fgures in £ mathons 2012 WH
Non-current
5 5% Global Dollar Bonds 2013 (nominal amount $350m) - 233
5 7% US Dellar Bonds 2014 (nommal amount $400m) 264 286
7 0% Sterling Bonds 2014 {nomnal amount £250m) 256 257
6 0% Sterking Bonds 2015 {nommnal amount £300m) 298 298
4 0% US Doltar Notes 2016 (nominal amount $350m) 229 238
6 25% Global Dellar Bonds 2018 (nominal amount $550m) 402 419
4 625% US Dollar Notes 2018 {(nomnal amount $300m) 217 224
3 75% US Dollar Notes 2022 {nomnal amount $500m) 3is -
Bank loans and overdrafts 22 -
Finance lease habilities 7 9
2,010 1,964
Current
Due within one year or on-demand
5 5% Global Dollar Bonds 2013 (nonvnal amount $350m}) 219 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 33 78
Finance lease habiities 10 9
262 87
Total borrowings — continuing operations 2,272 2,051
Bank overdrafts classified within habilities held for sale 7 -
Total borrowings 2,279 2,051

Included 1n the non-current borrowings above ts £11m of accrued interest (2011 £12m) Included in the current

borrowings above 1s £2m of accrued interest (2011 £ nil)

The maturity of the Group's non-current borrowing is as follows

Al figures in £ mellions. 012 200
Between one and two years 524 24}
Between two and five years 552 1,080
Over five years 934 643

2,010 1,964
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18 Financial habiities ~ Borrowings conunued

The carrying amounts and market values of borrowings are as follows

012 2001
Effectrve Interest Carrying Market Markes
All figares n £ mithens rate value value value value
Bark loans and overdrafts _ n/a 35 55 78 78
5 5% Global Dollar Bonds 201 3 576% 219 218 233 237
5 7% US Doflar Bonds 2014 5 88% 184 260 286 280
7 0% Sterling Bonds 2014 7 20% 256 274 i 257 282
6 0% Sterling Bonds 2015 627% 298 337 298 340
4 0% US Dollar Notes 2016 4 26% 229 233 238 237
6 25% Global Dolfar Bonds 2018 646% 402 410 419 409
4 625% US Doftar Notes 2018 4 69% 247 205 224 206
375% US Dollar Notes 2022 394% 315 313 - -
Finance lease habilities n/a 17 17 18 18
Continuing operations 2,272 2,326
Bank overdrafts classified within habiiwes heid
for sale n/a 7 7 - -
2,279 2,333 2,051 2,087

The market values stated above are based on clean market prices at the year end or, where these are not available,
on the quoted market prices of comparable debt 1ssued by other companies The effective interest rates above

refate to the underlying debt instruments

The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are denominated in the following currencies

All figures in £ millons Wiz 2011

US dollar 1,684 1,488

Sterling ) B ~ 573 563

Other 22 -
2,279 2,051

The Group has the following undrawn capacity on its commuitted borrowing facihities as at 31 December

All fpures in £ millions 2012 001

Foating rate - -

— expiring within one year - -

- expiring beyond one year 1,077 1,126
1,077 1,126

In addition to the above facilities, there are a number of short-term facilities that are utiised In the normal course

of business

All of the Group's borrowings are unsecured in respect of finance lease obligations, the rights to the ieased asset

revert to the lessor in the event of default
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18 Financial habilities — Borrowings continued

The maturity of the Group's finance lease obligations s as follows .

All Bgures wn £ mulions 012 2014
Finance lease habilities — muinimum lease payments

Not tater than ane year 10 9
Later than one year and not later than two years 4 8
Later than two years and not later than three years 3 |

Later than three years and not later than four years - -
Later than four years and not fater than five years - -

Later than five years - —
Future finance charges on finance leases - -

Present value of finance lease liabilities 17 18

The present value of finance fease habihities 1s as follows

All figures In £ mullions 2042 W01t
Not later than one year 10 9
Later than one year and not later than five years 7 9

Later than five years - -

The carrying amounts of the Group's lease obligations approcxamate their fair value
19 Financial risk management

The Group's approach to the management of financial risks together with sensitvity analyses of its financial
instruments is set out below

Treasury policy

The Group holds financial instruments for two principal purposes to finance its operations and to manage the
interest rate and currency risks ansing from its operations and is sources of finance The Group finances its
aperations by a muxture of cash flows from operations, short-term borrowings from banks and commercial paper
markets, and lenger term loans from banks and capital markets The Group borrows principally in US dollars and
sterling, at both floating and fixed rates of interest, using dervauve financial instruments (*dertvauves'’), where
appropriate, to generate the desired effective currency profile and interest rate basis The dervatives used for
this purpose are principally rate swaps, rate caps and collars, currency rate swaps and forward foreign exchange
contracts The main rnisks arising from the Group's financral mstruments are interest rate risk, hquidity and
refinancing nisk, counterparty risk and foreign currency nsk These risks are managed by the chief financral officer
under policies approved by the board, which are summarised overieafl All the treasury policies remased
unchanged throughout, except for rewisions to the Group's bank counterparty nsk ltmits and related approval
processes and mmnor amendments to reflect the consolidation of the Group’s treasury operations Into one
location

The audit commuttee receves reports on the Group’s treasury activities, policies and procedures The treasury
department 15 not a profit centre and s activities are subject to regular internal audit
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19 Financizl nsk management continued

Interest rate risk management

The Group's exposure to mterest rate fluctuations on its borrowings 1s managed by borrowing on a fixed rate
basis and by entering into rate swaps, rate caps and forward rate agreements The Group's policy objective has
continued to be to set a target proportion of its forecast borrowings (taken at the year end, wath cash netted
against floaung rate debt and before certan adjustments for 1AS 33 ‘Financial Instruments Recogmbion and
Measurement’} to be hedged (1 e fixed or capped at the year end) over the next four years, subject to a maximum
of 65% and a mimimum that starts at 40% and falls by 10% at each year end At the end of 2012 the fixed to floating
hedging ratio, on the above basis, was approximately 55% A simultaneous 1% change on | January 2013 in the
Group's varizble interest rates in US dollar and sterking, taking into account forecast seasonal debt, would have a
£6m effect on profit before tax

Use of interest rate derivatives

The policy described in the section above creates a group of derwvatives, under which the Group is a payer of fixed
rates and a recewver of floating rates The Group also aims to avold undue exposure 1o a single nterest rate setung
Reflecting this objectrve, the Group has predominantly swapped its fixed rate bond issues to floating rate at therr
launch This creates a second group of derwatives, under which the Group Is a recewver of fixed rates and a payer
of floating rates The Group’s accounting objective in Its use of Interest rate dertvatives 1s to minimise the impact on
the income statement of changes in the mark-to-market value of its dernvative portfolo as a whole It uses duration
calculations to estimate the sensitivity of the dervatives to movements in market rates The Group also identifies
which derivatives are elgible for fair value hedge accounting (which reduces sharply the income statement impact
of changes in the market value of a dervative) The Group then bafances the total portfolio between hedge-
accounted and poocled segments, so that the expected movement on the pooled segment 1s minimal

Liquidity and refinancing risk management

The Group's objective is to secure continuity of funding at a reasonable cost Te do this it seeks to arrange
commutted funding for a vanety of mawnues from a diversity of sources The Group's policy objective has been
that the weighted average matunty of its core gross borrowings (treaung short-term advances as having the final
maturity of the facilives available to refinance them) should be between three and ten years At the end of 2012
the average maturity of gross borrowings was 3 9 years (2011 4 0 years) of which bonds represented 97%
(2011 95%) of these borrowings

The Group believes that ready access to different funding markets also helps to reduce its hquidity nisk, and that
published credit ratings and published financial policies improve such access All of the Group's credit ratings
remained unchanged during the year The long-term ratings are Baal from Moody's and BBB+ from Standard &
Poor's, and the short-term ratings are P2 and A2 respectively The Group's policy Is to strive to maintain a rating
of Baa{/BBB+ over the long term The Group will also continue to use internally a range of ratios to monitor

and manage its finances These mclude mterest cover, net debt to operating profit and cash flow to debt measures
The Group also mantains undrawn committed borrowing facilitres At the end of 2012 the commutted facilhiues
amounted to £1,077m and their weighted average maturity was 2 9 years
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1?9 Financial risk management continued
Analysis of Group debt, including the impact of derivatives
The following tables analyse the Group's sources of funding and the impact of dervatives on the Group's debt
instruments
The Group's net debt position is set out below
Al figures in £ miflons 2012 2011
Cash and cash equivalents t,062 k369
Marketabie securities & 9
Derivative financial instruments 178 74
Bank loans, overdrafts and loan notes (55) (78)
Bonds (2,200 (1.955)
Finance lease habiliues (N (18)
Conunuing operations (1,026} (499)
Cash & cash equivalents classfied within assets held for sale 15 -
Bank loans, overdrafts and loan notes classified within habilties held for sale (7} -
Net debt (?18) {499)
The spit of net debt between fixed and floaung rate, stated after the impact of rate derwatives, 15 as follows
All figeres in £ mallions 2012 2011
Fixed rate 499 510
Floating rate 419 {1n
Total 918 499
Gross borrowings, after the impact of cross-currency rate derivatives, analysed by currency are as follows
All figures In € malions 2012 2011
US dollar 1,905 1,687
Sterhng 353 343
Other 2| 21
Total 2,279 2,051
As at 31 December 2012 the exposure of the borrowings of the Group to interest rate changes when the
borrowings re-price Is as follows

Less than Orne 1o More than

Al figures in £ mullions one yeir {ive years. dive years Toal
Re-pnicing profile of borrowngs 291 1,054 234 2,279
Effect of rate derivatives 1,311 (480)  (831Y -
Total 1,602 574 103 2,279
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19 Financial msk management conunued

The maturity of contracted cash flows assoctated with the Group's financiat kabilitues are as follows

2012
All figares In £ millicns. uso GBP Other Toul
Not later than one year 489 126 142 757
Later than one year and not later than five years 726 357 Zi 1,104
Later than five years B63 - = 863
Toral 2,078 483 P63 2,724
Analysed as
Bonds 1,837 639 - 2,476
Rate dervatives — inflows i {(326) {264) - (590
Rate dervatives — outflows 328 3 22 353
Trade payables 239 {05 141 485
Total 2,078 483 163 2,724

it
AR figures in £ mbions usp GRP Other Toud
Not later than one year 261 124 158 541
Later than one year and not later than five years 984 378 25 [,387
Later than five years 563 - - 563
Toral 1,808 502 18] 2,491
Analysed as . _
Bonds 1,553 675 - 2,228
Rate denvauves — inflows (292) (281) - (573)
Rate derwatives — outflows 321 5 27 353
Trade payables 126 103 | 54 483
Tota! 1,808 502 181 2491

All cash flow projections shown above are on an undiscounted basis Any cash flows based on a floaung rate are
calculated using interest rates as set at the date of the last rate reset. Where this 1s not possible, floating rates are
based on interest rates prevailing at 3|1 December in the relevant year All dervative amounts are shown gross,
although the Group net settles these amounts wherever possible

Any amounts drawn under revolving credit facilities and commercial paper are assumed to mature at the maturity
date of the relevant factity, with interest calculated as payable in each calendar year up to and including the date of
matunty of the facility

Financial counterparty risk management

Counterparty credit imits, which take published credit rating and other factors into account, are set to cover our
total aggregate exposure to a single financial mnstitution The imits apphicable to published credit raungs bands are
approved by the chief financial officer within guidelinas approved by the board Exposures and imits applicable to
each financtal mstitution are reviewed on a regufar basis
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19 Financial risk management continued

Foreign currency risk management

Although the Group 15 based in the UK, it has its most significant investment m overseas operations The most
significant currency for the Group is the US doilar The Group's policy on routine transactional conversions
between currenctes (for example, the collection of receivables, and the settlement of payables or interest) remains
that these should be transacted at the relevant spot exchange rate The majonity of the Group's operattons are
domestic within their country of operation No unremitted profits are hedged with foreign exchange contracts,

as the company judges it inappropriate to hedge non-cash flow translational exposure with cash flow instruments
However, the Group does seek to create a patural hedge of this exposure through its policy of aligning
approximately the currency composition of its core net borrowings (after the impact of cross-currency rate
derwvatives) with its forecast operating profit before depreciation and amortisation This policy aims to soften the
impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on consolidated interest cover and earnings The policy above applies
only to currencies that account for more than [5% of Group operating profit before depreciation and amortisation,
which currently 1s only the US dollar The Group still borrows small amounts in other currencies, typically for
seasonal working capital needs QOur policy does not require existing currency debt to be terminated to match
declines in that currency’s share of Group operating profit before depreciavon and amortisation In addition,
currencies that account for less than 15% of Group operating profit before deprecianon and amortisation can be
included in the above hedging process at the request of the chief financial officer

Included within year end net debt, the net borrowings/(cash) in the hedging currencies above (taking into account
the effect of cross-currency swaps) were US dollar £1,354m, sterling £58m and South African rand £(17)m

Use of currency debt and currency derivatives

The Group uses both currency denerninated debt and dervative instruments to implement the above policy

Its intention 15 that gains/losses on the dervatives and debt offset the losses/gains on the foregn currency assets
and income Each quarter the value of hedgmg instruments 1s monitored against the assets in the relevant currency
and, where practical, a decision 15 made whether to treat the debt or derivative as a net investment hedge
{permitting foreign exchange movements on it to be taken to reserves) for the purposes of IAS 39

Financial instruments — fair value measurement
The following table provides an analysis of those financial Instruments that are measured subsequent to inittal
recognition at farr value, grouped into tevels | to 3, based on the degree to which the fair value 15 observable

Level ! fair vaiue measurements are those derved from unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or labilities,

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs, other than quoted prices included within level |,
that are observable for the asset or hability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derwed from prices), and

tevel 3 far value measurements are those derwed from valuation technigues that include mnputs for the asset or
habiiry that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
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I9 Financial sk management contnued

Financial instruments — fair value measurement coptinued

2002 2001
All figares in £ milions Level | Level2  Level3 Toul level | Levef2  Leveld Tout
Financial assets at faur value
Dernative financial assets - 178 - 178 - 77 - 177
Marketable securities - [ - [3 - 9 - 9
Available for sale financial assets
Investments in unlisted securities —
contmnuing operations - - 30 30 - - 26 26
Investments in unbisted secunties classified
within assets heid for sale - - | | - - - -

Financial iabilinies at fair value i
Derwative financial liabiiities - - - - - 3 - 3
Other financral liabilities — put options over

non-controlling interest - - (68)  (68) - - (86)  (86)
Total - 184 (37) 147 — 183 (60) 123
The following table analyses the movements in levet 3 fair value measurements
2012 20t
investments in Investments in
uniisted Other financial unisted  Other fnanaal
Al Ggures in £ millions seames lablides securies Babdities
At beginning of year 26 (86) 58 (25)
Exchange differences @) 5 - 3
Additions ) 10 = 13 (63)
Fair value movements - (25) - (i)
Transfer 1o assets classified as held for sale {) - - -
Dusposals (2) 38 (45) -
At end of year 31 (68) 26 (86)

The fair value of the mvestments in unlisted securities 1s determined by reference to the financial performance of
the underlying asset and amounts realised on the sale of similar assets The fair value of other financial liabshtes
represents the present value of the estimated future hability
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19 Financial nsk management continued

Financial instruments — sensiuvity analysis
As at 31 December 2012 the sensitivity of the carrymg value of the Group's financial instruments to fluctuations in
interest rates and exchange rates s as follows

Impactof 1% Impactof 1% Impact of 10X Impact of 10%

h f’

increase in detreasen st ing in g in
Al figures in £ milllons Cartying value  interest rates  interest rates sterling szerling
Investments in uniisted secures — continung
operations 31 - - 3) 4
Investments it unlisted securities classified within assets
held for sale | - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents - continuing operations 1,062 - - (75) 92
Cash and cash equivalents classified within assets held
for sale [5 i - - )] 4
Marketable securities 6 - - - -
Derwvative financial instruments 178 (66) 65 7 (9
Bonds (2,200) 64 (63) 149 (183)
Other borrowings — contnumg operatons 72) - - 5 {6)
Other borrowings classified within hiabilities held
for sale 7 - - | ()
Put options over non-controlling interest {68} - - 7 )
Other net financial assets — continuing operations 546 - - 43) 52
Other net financial assets classified within assets and
habihities held for sale 101 - - (10} 2
Total financial nstruments (307) @) 2 34 (42}

The table shows the sensitivittes of the fair values of each class of financial instruments to an 1solated change i
either Interest rates or foreign exchange rates The class 'Other net financial assets” comprises trade assets less
trade fiabiines

The sensttivities of derwative instruments are calculated using established estimation techniques such as discounted
cash flow and option valuation models Where modelhing an interest rate decrease of 1% led to negative interest
rates, these points on the yteld curve were adjusted to 0% A large proportion of the movements shown above
would impact equity rather than the income statement, due to the location and functional currency of the entities
in which they artse and the availlability of net investrment hedge treatment The changes in valuations are estmates
of the impact of changes m market variables and are not a predicuen of future events or anucipated gans or losses
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20 Intangible assets ~ Pre-publrcation

Al figures in £ milhons 2002 201

Cost L

At beginning of year 1,965 1,863

Exchange differences - {74) 6

Additions . 364 331

Disposals (188) (249)
Acquisition through business combiation 14 14

Transfer to property, plant and equipment ~ ) {3 -
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (202) —
At end of year 1.876 1,965

Amortisation )

At beginning of year (1.315) (1.216)
Exchange differences 55 {n
Charge for the year (316) (331
Disposals X i88 249

Acquisition through bustness combination (8) (6)
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale 186 -
At end of year (1.210)  (1.315)
Carrying amounts

At end of year 666 650

Inctuded n the above are pre-publication assets amounting to £431m (2011 £413m) which will be realised in more
than one year

Amorusation is included in the income statement 1n cost of goods sold In 2012 £33m 2011 £39m) relates o
discontinued operations

2] Inventories

A figures in £ millions 2042 2001
Raw matertals 13 24
Work n progress it 20
Friished goods 237 363

261 407

The cost of inventones relating to continuing operations recognised as an expense and included in the income
statement in cost of goods sold amounted to £512m (2011 £585m) In 2012 £71m (20} £63m) of inventory
provisions was charged in the income statement None of the inventory 1 pledged as security
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22 Trade and other recevables

AN figures in £ miflions 2012 201t
Current N
Trade recevables 868 1,048
Royalty advances 16 107
Prepayments and accrued income 81 90
Other recevables 139 141
1,104 1,386
Non-current
Trade recenabies 15 13
Royalty advances A 13 88
Prepayments and accrued income i3 34
Other recevables 18 16
79 151

Trade recewvables are stated at fair value, net of prowvisians for bad and doubtful debts and anticipated future sales
retuns The movements on the provision for bad and doubtful debts are as follows

Ali figures in £ millions 20012 2011
At beginming of year (102) (83)
Exchange differences 4 !
income statement movements 3 (2N (31)
Uuhsed 53 17
Acquisition through business combmation {n (8)
Disposal through busmess disposal - 2
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale 12 -
At end of year (55)  (102)

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade recevables are imited due to the Group's large number of
customers, who are internattonally dispersed

The ageing of the Group's trade recewables 15 as follows

Al figures in £ illions w2 2011
Within due date 774 1,079
Up to three months past due date i 231 289
Three to six months past due date 43 37
Six to nine months past due date 10 4
Nine to 12 months past due date 7 3
More than |2 months past due date 5 ~
Toral trade receivables 1,070 1,412
Less provision for sales returns {187) _ {351)
Net trade receivables 883 LQ&¢

The Group reviews its bad debt proviston at least twice a year following a detatled review of recervable balances
and hustoric payment profiles Management believe all the rematning recevable balances are fully recoverable
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23 Prowvisions for other liabilities and charges

Deferred
Al figures 1n £ mullions consideration Property Legal and other Tou!
At | January 2012 97 17 49 163
Exchange differences {3) - )] 7
Charged to income statement - 12 45 57
Released to income statement - )] (2} (3)
Deferred consideration on acguisition 6 - - 6
Acquisition through business combination (3) - 4 1
Uthsed (31) )] (8) (40
Transfer to liabilhiges held for sale ) () (26) (29
At 31 December 2012 64 26 58 148
Analysis of provistons
2012
Deferred
All figures in £ mithons consideration Property Legal and other Tonl
Current 6 12 20 38
Non-current 58 14 38 110
64 26 58 148
00
Current 32 5 " 48
Non-current 65 12 38 ii5
97 17 49 163
Deferred consideration primarily refates to the formation of a venture i the US Professional business i 2011
Legal and other includes provisions in relation to legat claims, contract disputes and potential contract iosses
24 Trade and other habiliues
Al figures i £ mullions 2012 2001
Trade payables 337 483
Social security and other taxes 30 25
Accruals 440 544
Deferred ncome 714 678
Interest payable - 21 8
Put options over non-controlling interest 68 86
Other habilities 228 32
1.838 2,066
Less" non-current portion
Accruals 18 25
Deferred ncome 147 147
Put options over non-controlling interest 25 62
Interest payable 13 6
Other liabilities 79 85
282 335
1,556 |.74!

Current poruon

The carrying value of the Group's trade and other lrzbiities approxamates its far value
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24 Trade and other lhabilities continued

The deferred income balance comprises principally multi-year obligations to deliver workbooks to adoption
customers in school businesses, advance payments in assessment, testing and teaching businesses, subscription
income in school and newspaper businesses, and obligations to deliver digital content in future periods

The put options over non-controliing interest are the far value of options held by the non-controlling interests
in the Group's Southern African and Indian businesses

25 Reurement benefit and other post-retirement obligations

Backgraund
The Group operates a number of defined benefit and defined contribution retsrernent plans throughout the world

For the defined benefit plans, benefits are based on employees' length of service and final pensionable pay Defined
contribution benefits are based on the amount of contributions pawd n respect of an individual member, the
nvestment returns earned and the amount of pension this money will buy when a member retires

The fargest plan is the Pearson Group Pension Plan (UK Group plan’) with both defined benefit and defined
contribution sections Fram | November 2006, all sections of the UK Group plan were closed to new members
with the exception of a defined contribution section that was opened In 2003 This section 1s available to all new
employees of participating companies

At 31 December 2012 the UK Group plan has approxamately 27,000 members, analysed in the following table

x Activa Deferred  Pensioners Toul
Defined benefit 3 26 32 6l
Defined contribution 18 21 - 39
Total 21 47 32 100

The other major defined benefit plans are based in the US Other defined contribution plans are operated
principally overseas with the largest plan being in the US The specific features of these plans vary m accordance
with the regulations of the country in which employees are located

Pearson also has several post-retrement medical benefit plans (PRMBs), principally in the US PRMBs are unfunded
but are accounted for and valued simifarly to defined benefit pension plans

Assumptions
The principal assumptions used for the UK Group plan and the US PRMB are shown below Weighted average
assumptions have been shown for the other plans, which primanly relate to US pension plans

2012 201
UK Group Orther UK Group Other

% plan phans PRME plan plans PRMB
Inflation 30 25 25 30 25 25
Rate used to discount plan habilities 44 36 36 49 42 42
Expected return on assets 58 55 - 57 64 -
Expected rate of increase m salaries 35 39 - 40 40 -
Expected rate of increase for pensions in 3 24
payment and deferred pengions to5 | - - to43 - -
Initial rate of increase in healthcare rate - - 80 - - 75
Ultimate rate of increase i healthcare rate - - 50 - - 50

The UK discount rate 15 based on the annualised yield on the IBoxx over |5-year AA-rated corporate bond index,
adjusted to reflect the duration of liabilities The US discount rate is set by reference to a US bond portfolio
matching madel
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25 Retwrerment benefit and ather post-returement obligations cantinued

The inflation rate for the UK Group plan of 3 0% reflects the RPl rate In line with changes to legislauon in 2010,
certan benefits have been calculated with reference to CPl as the inflationary measure and i these instances a rate
of 2 5% has been used

The expected rates of return on categories of plan assets are determined by reference to relevant indices
The overall expected rate of return 1s calculated by weighting the individual rates 10 accordance with the
anticipated balance in the plan's investment portfolio, plus a diversification premum

The expected rate of Increase in salaries has been set at 3 5% for 2012 with a short-term assumption of 3 0%
for three years

For the UK pian, the mortality base table assumptions have been derived from the SAPS “all pensioners' tables
for males and the SAPS ‘normal health pensioners’ tables for females, adjusted to reflect the observed experience
of the plan, with medium cohort improvement factors A | 5% improvement floor on the medium cohort 15
apphed for males, and | 25% for females, with tapering

For the US plans, the RP2000 table 1s used, reflecting the mortality assumpuion most prevalent in the US In 2010
a ten-year projection was added

Using the above tables, the remaning average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retring at age 65 on the
balance sheet date for the UK Group plan and US plans 15 as follows

UK us

2012 2011 012 2001
Male 230 226 192 192
Female 2472 235 2110 21}

The remaining average ife expectancy m years of a pensioner retinng at age 65, 20 years after the batance sheet
date, for the UK and UJS Group plans 15 as follows

UK us
2012 200) 2012 201
Male 25 | 252 i92 192
Female 161 256 24 211
Financial statement informaton
The amounts recogrised in the income statement are as follows
w12
Defined
UK Group benefit Defined
Al figuras in £ rwlhons plan other Sub-roml comnbuuon PRMB Toul
Current service cost 13 3 26 78 4 108
Total operating expense 23 3 26 78 4 108
Expected return on plan assets {1 (8) (119) - - (H19)
Interest on plan habdities 96 7 103 - 3 106
Net finance (income)/expense (F5) H (186) - 3 (13)
Net income statement charge 8 2 10 78 7 95

Actual return on plan assets 146 15 16] - — 161
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25 Reurement benefit and other post-retirement obligattons continued
01
Defined
UK Grovp beneft Defined
All figures in £ raltions plan cther Sedy cotal contnbution PAMB Total
Current service cost 21 3 24 69 3 96
Total operating expense 21 3 24 69 3 26
Expected return on plan assets (107) (7) (114 - - (14
Interest on plan habhines 100 8 108 — 3 11
Net finance (iIncome}/expense @) [ {6) — 3 (3)
Net income statement charge 14 4 18 69 6 93
Actual return on plan assets 16} 5 166 — - 166

Included within the 2012 results are discontinued operations consiseng of a £4m charge (20!l £4m charge)
relaning to defined benefit schemes and a £7m charge (2011 £7m charge) relating to defined contribution schemes

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows

2012 w1
Other Other Other Other
UK Group funded  unfunded UK Group funded  unfunded
All figures in £ millions plan plans plans Tosal plan plans plans Towl
Fair value of plan assets 2,162 165 ~ 2,327 2,008 149 - 2,157
Present value of defined benefit
obligation (2.181)  (196) (24) (240N (1983 (173 {24) (2.180)
Net pension asset/(liability) {19) 1) (24) (74) 25 (24) (24) (23)
Other post-retrernent
medical benefit obfigation 8%) (85)
Other pension accruals (3% (33)
Net retirement benefit obligations _(198) (141)
Analysed as )
Retirement benefit assets - 25
Retirement benefit obligations (198) {166)

Included withun the 2012 retirement benefit obligation 1s a ability of £26m which relates to Penguin and is classified

as held for sale

The following losses have been recognised in other comprehensive mcome

Al figures in £ millions 012 2011
Amounts recognised for defined benefit plans {114) 47)
Amounts recognised for post-retirement medrcal benefit plans (5) (9}
Total recognised in year {119y _{56)
Cumulative amounts recognised {351)  (232)
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25 Reurement benefit and other post-retirement obligations continued

The fair value of plan assets comprises the following

2012 2011

Orther Cther

UK Group funded UX Group funded
X phan plans. Total plan plans Toul
Equities 32 2 34 27 3 30
Bonds 38 3 41 48 3 _ 51
Properties 9 i o 3 - 3
Other 14 i 15 15 | 16

The plan assets do not include any of the Group's own financral instruments, or any property occupied by
the Group

The table below further disaggregates the UK Group plan assets into additional categories and those assets which
have a quoted market price in an active market and those that do not

012 2011
Quoted  Noquoted Quated No quoted
x marker price  market price market price market price
UK equitrtes 6 | ! |
Non-UK equities ) 25 3 23 3
Fixed-interest securities ) 21 - 29 -
Index-linked securities 9 - 23 -
Property - 0 - 3
Other | 14 | 16
Total 72 28 77 23
The hiquidity profile of the UK Group plan assets 15 as follows
« 2012 201)
Liquid — call <I month 73 78
Less hquid — cali 1—- 3 months 2 6

lliquid — call > 3 months 25 16
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25 Reurement benefit and other post-retrement obligations conunued

Changes n the values of plan assets and habilities of the retirement benefit plans are as follows

151

012 201!
UK Group Other UK Group Crher

Al figures in £ nulllons plan plng Toral plan plans Tamal
Fair value of plan assets
Opening fair value of plan assets 2,008 149 2,157 1,847 135 1,982
Exchange differences - {5} (5) - 1 |
Expected retum on pian assets FEl 8 9 107 7 14
Actuarial gans/{losses) ELO 7 42 54 ) 52
Contributions by employer 72 2 74 71 18 89
Contributions by employee 2 - 2 3 - 3
Benefits pad (78) (i) (8%) 74) (10) 84
Acquisivon through business combination 12 |5 27 - — -
Closing far value of plan assets 2,162 165 2327 2,008 149 1,157
Present value of defined benefit obhigation
Opening defined benefit obhgation (1.983) (197) (2,180} (1,852) (178) (2,030}
Exchange differences - 7 7 - - —-
Current service cost {(23) 3) (26) 21 (3} (24)
Interest cost ) 96) 7) §103) {100) (8) {108)
Actuanial losses (144} (12) (156) C1)] (18) 99
Contributions by employee ) - 3] 3 - (3
Benefits pad 78 I 89 74 10 84
Acquisition through business combinatcn (n (9 {30) - - -
Closing defined benefit obligation (2,181) 220y 2,401y (1,98 (97 2.180)
Changes n the value of the US PRMB are as follows
All figures in £ miflions 2012 Wi
Openimng defined benefit obligation (85) (72)
Exchange differences 4 )
Current service cost (4 (3)
Interest cost (3) (3)
Actuarial losses (5} %)
Benefits pad 4 4
Closing defined benefit obligation {89 {85}
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25 Reuirement benefic and other post-reurement obhgauons continued

The history of the defined benefit pians 15 as follows

All figures in £ millions 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
fFair value of plan assets 2,327 2,157 1,982 1,727 1,578
Present value of defined benefit obligation (2401)  (2,180) {2.030) (1.967) (1599
Net pension (hability)/asset 74 (23) {48) (240) {16)
Expenence adjustments on plan assets 42 52 90 56 (268)
Experience adjustments on pian habilittes (156) (99) (1% @5h 194
Funding

The UK Group plan is self-administered with the plan’s assets being held independently of the Group The trustees
of the plan are required to act in the best interest of the plan’s beneficiaries The most recent triennial actuartal
valuation for funding purposes was completed as at | January 2012 and this valuation revealed a funding shortfall
The Group has agreed that the funding shortfall wili be eliminated by june 2017 In 2012 the Group contributed
£48m (201 | £48m) towards the funding shortfall Following the completion of the triennial funding valuation the

Group has agreed to contribute £4m per annum unul 2017 in excess of regular contributions In addition,

a mechanism has been agreed for the Group to make supplementary payments up to a maximum of £15m per

annum If such payments are made they are expected to accelerate the end date for extinguishing the deficit

Regular contributions to the plan are esumated to be £23m for 2013

The Group expects to contribute $80m in 2013 and $84m 10 2014 to its US pension plans

Future benefit payments

The following table shows the expected benefit payments from the defined benefit plans over the next ten years
These use actuaral assumptions as at 31 December 2012 These represent payments from the pension funds
to pensicners and others entitled to benefits, and are not an indication of payments from the company

For company funding requirements, refer to the prior section

Defined
UK Group benef
ARl figures in £ mlions plan wther Towt
Expected future benefit payments
2013 77 27 104
2014 80 24 104
2015 85 n 107
2016 87 23 1o
2017 91 18 109
2018 to 2022 combned 503 76 379
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25 Reurement benefit and other post-retirement obligations conunued
Sensitivities

The net retremnent benefit obhgations are caleulated using a number of assumptions, the most significant beng the
discount rate used to calculate the defined benefit obligation The effect of a one percentage point increase and
decrease in the discount rate on the defined benefit obligation and the total pension expense s as follows

1041
All figures in £ millions 1% increass 1% decrease
Effect on
(Dacrease)/increase in defined benefit oblgation — UK Group plan @un 388 |
Decrease of aggregate of service cost and interest cost — UK Group plan ©1n {12)
(Decrease)/increase in defined benefit obligation — US plan {1 &) 139
The effect of members living one year more or one year less on the defined benefit abligation 1s as follows

2012

| year | year

All figures m £ nullioas In¢rease decraase
Effect on
Increase/(decrease) in defined benefit obligation ~ UK Group plan 767 739
Increase/{decrease) in defined benefit obligation — US plan 21 2n

The effect of a one percentage point increase and decrease in the assumed medical cost trend rates 15 as follows

2012
Al figures in £ millions 1Rncresse 1% decrease
Effect on
increase/(decrease) n post-retirement medical benefit obligation 29 (26)
Increase/{decrease) of aggregate of service cost and interest cost 0! ©oH
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26 Share-based payments
The Group recognised the folowing charges in the ncome statement i respect of its equity-settied share-based payment plans

Al figures in £ millions 2012 2011

Pearson plans 28 36

Share-based payment charges included in discontinued operations amounted to £4m (2011 £4m)
The Group operates the following equity-settled employee option and share plans

Worldwide Save for Shares Plan Since 1994, the Group has operated a Save-As-You-Earn plan for UK employees
In 1998, the Group introduced a Worldwide Save for Shares Plan Under these plans, employees can save a
portion of their monthly salary over periods of three, five or seven years At the end of this period, the employee
has the option to purchase ordinary shares with the accumulated funds at a purchase price equal to 80% of

the market price prevabing at the ume of the commencement of the employee's participation in the plan
Options that are not exercised within six months of the end of the savings penod lapse unconditionally

Employee Stock Purchase Plan In 2000, the Group established an Employee Stock Purchase Plan which allows all
employees in the US to save a portion of their monthly salary over six-month periods At the end of the period,
the employee has the option to purchase ADRs with their accumulated funds at a purchase price equal to 85%
of the lower of the market price prevailing at the beginming or end of the period

Long-Term Incentive Plan This plan was first ntroduced i 2001, renewed 1 2006 and again in 2011 The plan
consists of restricted shares

The vesting of restricted shares is normally dependent on continuing service over a three to five-year period, and in
the case of senior management upon the satisfaction of corporate performance targets over a three-year period
These targets may be based on market and/or non-market performance cniteria. Restricted shares awarded

to sentor management i May 2011 and May 2012 vest dependent on relative total shareholder return,

return on invested capital and earrungs per share growth The award was spht equally across all three measures
Other restricted shares awarded in 201t and 2012 vest depending on continuing service over a three-year pertod

Annual Bonus Share Matching Plan This plan permits executive directors and senior executives around the Group 1o
invest up to 50% of any after tax annual bonus in Pearson shares If these shares are held and the Group meets an
earnings per share growth target, the company will match them on a gross basis of up to one matching share for
every nvested share 1e the maximum number of matching shares 1s equal to the number of shares that could
have been acquired with the amount of the pre-tax annual benus taken in invested shares

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options granted under the Group's plans are as follows

012 2011

Weghted Weighted

Number of average Number of average

share options  exeruse price share opyons  exercse price

0005 3 000 «

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,203 715 8,878 1020
Granted during the year _ . ) 321 909 1.157 892
Exercised during the year (840} 559 (2,323) 727
Forfeited during the year (294) 784 (457} 8 54
Expired dunng the year {7} 560 (4.052) 1412
Qutstanding at end of year 3,373 824 3,203 715
Opuons exercisable at end of year 106 558 64 5 54

Options were exercsed regularly throughout the year The weighted average share price during the year was
£1201 (2011 £11 14} Early exercises arising from redundancy, retirement or death are treated as an acceleration
of vesting and the Group therefore recognises i the income statement the amount that otherwise would have
been recognised for services received over the remainder of the original vesting pertod
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26 Share-based payments continued

155

The options outstanding at the end of the year have weghted average remamning contractual lives and exercise

prices as follows

W2 014
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
share contraceual share contractual
Range of exerase prices options hie opuons ife
£ 0003 Years C00s Years
0-5 - - - -
5-10 3373 256 3,203 251
>10 — — — -
3.373 256 3.203 251
In 2012 and 201 | options were granted under the Worldwide Save for Shares Plan The weighted average
estimated fair value for the options granted was calculated ustng a Black-Scholes option pricing model
The weighted average esumated fair vahies and the inputs nto the Black-Scholes model are as follows
2012 201
Weighted Weighted
average average
Fair value £238 £297
Weighted average share price £11 51 £1147
Weighted average exercise price £909 £892
Expected volatlity 2362%  2750%
Expected life ) 3IByears 4 0years
Risk free rate 074% 1 91%
Expected dividend yield 365% 337%
Forfeiture rate 33% 35%

The expected volatility 1s based on the historic volatility of the company’s share price over the previous three to

seven years depending on the vesting term of the options

The following shares were granted under restncted share arrangements

2012 2011

Weghtad Weighted.

Number of averzze Number of average

shares fair value shares faur value

000s [ D0Gs. £

Long-Term Incentive Plan 4,503 H1 56 4,854 10 44
Annual Bonus Share Matching Plan 237 1152 285 1129

The fair value of shares granted under the Long-Term Incentve Plan that vest uncondmionally 1s determined using
the share price at the date of grant The number of shares expected to vest 1s adjusted, based on historical
experience, to account for potential forfeitures Restricted shares granted under the Annual Bonus Share Matching
Plan are valued using the share price at the date of grant Participants under both plans are entitled to dividends

during the vesting period and therefore the share price is not discounted

Restricted shares with a market performance condition were valued by an independent actuary using a Monte
Carlo model Restricted shares with a non-market performance condition were fair valued based on the share
price at the date of grant Non-market performance conditions are taken into consideration by adjusting the
number of shares expected to vest based on the most Iikely outcome of the relevant performance ¢riteria
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27 Share capital and share prermium

Number Crdinay Share

of shares shares premium

000s m £m

At 1 January 2011 ) 812,677 203 2,524
Issue of ordinary shares — share option schemes 2,949 | 20
At 3] December 201 | 815,626 204 2,544
Issue of ordinary shares — share option schemes 1417 — 11
At 3| December 2012 817.043 204 2,555

The ordinary shares have a par vaiue of 25p per share (2011 25p per share) All ssued shares are fully paid
All shares have the same rights

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities i the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (see note 18), cash and cash equivalents (see note |7) and
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings

The Group reviews its capital structure on a regular basis and will balance its overail capital structure through
payments of dividends, new share i1ssues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of exrsting debt
tn line with the financral nisk policies outdined in note 19

28 Treasury shares

Pearson plc
Number
of shares
000s m
At | January 201 | 14,009 137
Purchase of treasury shares 5,387 60
Reiease of treasury shares (4.731) (48)
At 31 December 201 | 4,665 143
Purchase of treasury shares - -~
Release of treasury shares (4.563) (46)
At 31 December 2012 190,102 103

The Group holds Pearson plc shares in trust to satisfy its obligations under its restricted share plans (see note 26)
These shares, representing | 2% (2011 | 8%) of called-up share capital, are treated as treasury shares for
accounting purposes and have a par value of 25p per share

The nomnal value of Pearson plc treasury shares amounts to £2 5m {2011 £3 7m)

At 31 December 2012 the market value of Pearson plc treasury shares was £120 0m (2011 £177 4m)
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29 Other comprehensive income

012
Atnbutable w equity holders of the Company
MNoa
Tramhaton Retuned tonuofing
Al figures in £ millions reserve earnings Toul nterest Tom!
Net exchange differences on translation of foreign operations {236) - (236) 2) 238
Actuaral fosses on retirement benefit obligations - Group - (19 (119) - {19
Actuanal losses on retirement benefit obligations —associate - (3) (3) - (3)
Tax on items recognised in other comprehensive iIncome - 55 55 - 55
Total other comprehensive expense for the year {236) (67) (303) {2) (305)
2011
Arnbutable o eguity holders of the Company
Moo
Translation Retanad centroliing
All figures i £ milhans reserve earmngs Total interest Total
Net exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (38) - (38) () (44)
Actuarial gains on retirement benefit obligations — Group - {56) (56) - (58
Actuarial gains on retirement benefit obbgations — associate - (8) (8 - 8)
Tax on items recognised in other comprehensive income — 3 3 — 3
Total other comprehensive expense for the year (38) (61) 99) (6) _(105)

30 Business combinations

On 16 May 2012 the Professional business acquired Certiport, Inc, Certiport 1s based in the US and 1s a leading
provider of certfication and assessment programmes in [T and digrtal iteracy On 5 July 2012 the International
Education business completed the purchase of GlobalEnglish Corporauon, a leading provider of cloud-based,
on-demand business English learning, assessment and performance support software On 19 July 2012 Penguin
announced the acquisition of Author Solutrons, Inc, the world's leading provider of professional self-publishing
services and on 21 November 2012 the North American Education business acquired EmbanetCampass, a leading
provider of technology enabled online learning solutions The Group acquired a 100% interest in all of the
mvestments noted above
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30 Business combinations contunued

Provisional values for the assets and liabrliies arising from these and other acquisitions completed in the year
together with adjustments to prior year acquisitions are as follows

2012 2011
Authar Global  Eebanct

Ceruport  Solutions Engish  Compass Cher Toul Towt
All figures in £ mulbons Netes  furvalie falr value  farvalue faurvalie  farvalue  fair value far value
Property, plant and equipment 10 - I - 3 6 10 21
Intangible assets " 49 35 36 74 86 280 375
Intangible assets — Pre-publication 0 5 - ] - - 6 8
Inventones - - - - | R 2
Trade and other receivables 5 8 8 13 - 34 58
Cash and cash equivalents {exduding overdrafts) 2 - 8 18 [ 34 151
Financial labihiues — Borrowings i - - ~ - - - €]
MNet deferred income tax habilities 13 (20) (3) (13) @n (10) (67) (96)
Retirement benefit obligations - - - - () @) )]
Prowisions for other liabilites and charges b = - - - (n (1) 78)
Trade and other habilities (n (28) (22) (26) 24 iy (19
Current income tax habilies - - (1) - - H @
Non-controlling interest - - - - - - (H
Net assets acquired at fair value 30 13 7 6l 62 183 310
Goodwill ] 58 56 46 350 (5) 505 620
Fair value of previously held interest arising
on stepped acquisition - - - - - - {15)
Total 88 69 63 411 57 688 915
Sausfied by ; . )
Cash (88) (69) 63) @#11) (G1) (682) (913)
Deferred consideration - - - - {6) (6) -
Net prior year adjustments - - - - - - {2)
Total consideration (88) (69) (63) (411 (57) (688) (915)

The goodwill ansing on these acquisitions results from substantal cost and revenue synergies and from benefits
that cannot be separately recognised, such as the assembled workforce

Intangible assets in other acquisitrons ncludes £69m relaung to prior year acquisitions

The farr value of trade and other recerwables 1s £34m and includes trade recevables with a far value of £26m
The gross contractual amount for trade recewables due 1s £27m of which £1m 1s expected to be uncollectable

A provisional value of £nil of goodwill ansing on 2012 acquisitions s expected to be deductible for tax purposes
(2011 £1m})

Intangible assets acquired 1n 2012 have the following useful economic lives Ceruport customer hsts and
relationships 3-20 years, Author Solutons customer lists and relationships 5 years, trademarks and brands

20 years, other intangibles 7-20 years, Global English other mtangibles [0 years As EmbanetCompass was
acquired in late 2012 the useful economic lives of mtangible assets acquired are provisional and not yet finalised
Intangibie assets acquired with all other acquisitions have useful economic lives of 2-20 years
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30 Business combinations conunued
Al figares n £ millions 2012 2001
Cash flow on acquisitions )
Cash — Current year acguisittons (682) (913)
Deferred payments for prior year acquisiuons and other items 31 (5)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 34 151
Acquisition costs and other acquisition habilities pard (37 (12
Net cash outflow {7186 (779)
Acquisitions in 2012 contributed £45m to sales and £5m to operating profit before acquisition costs and
amortisatton of acquired mntangibles from the date of acquisition to the balance sheet date Of these amounts,
Certiport contributed £20m of sales and a profit of £4m, Global English contributed £14m of sales and £2m
of profit and EmbanetCompass contributed £7m of sales and £1m of profit
if the acquisitions had completed on | January 2012, the Group estimates that sales for the period would have
been £5,168m and profit before tax would have been £444m
31! Disposals ncluding business closures
All figures in £ mullions Notes 2082 20114
Dusposat of subswdiaries
Property, plant and equipment 10 (3) -
intangible assets " {45) (4
inventones - &
Trade and other recevables - (o)
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafts) - Q)]
Net deferred income tax habilities i3 H |
Retirement benefit obligations - |
Trade and ather labilities - 2
Current income tax habshties - }
Non-controlling interest - 7
Autnbutable goodwill 1" {50) &)
Net assets disposed (87) {14)
Costs (26) -
Loss on disposal (113} {14
A figares in £ millions 20012 w01t
Cash flow from disposals
Cash and cash equivalents disposed - (6)
Costs paid (rn ~
Net cash outflow (h (6)

The disposal in 2012 includes the write down of assets resulting from the clasure of Peacson in Practice

The disposal n 201 | relates to Longman Nigeria
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32 Held for sale

Assets classified as held for sale relate to Penguin as a result of the announcement by Pearson and Bertelsmann
to combine Penguin and Random House

All figures i £ millons Notes 2012 w01
Property, plant and equipment 1o 40 -
Intangible assets 1 404 -
Investments m jomnt ventures and associates 3 12 27 -
Deferred income tax assets 13 38 -~
Other financial assets ) i . _ ) 15 | -
Trade and other recewables . _ _ 451 -
Intangible assets — Pre-publication ) 0 16 -
inventories 80 -
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafts) 17 15 —
Assets classified as held for sale 1,172 -
Financial hiabilives — Barrowings 18 @)

Deferred income tax labihties 1 (20 -
Retirement benefit obligations 25 (26) -
Provisions for other llabihties and charges 2 (29) -
Trade and other habdities (234} -
Liabthipes directy associated with assets classified as held for sale (316) -
Nert assets classified as held for sale B56 -

33 Transacuions with non-controlling interest

In 2012 the Group increased its investments in its subsidiaries m China at a cost of £4m In 201 | the remaining
non-controlling interest N Sistema Educacional Brasileiro was acquired for £108m
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34 Cash generated from operations
AN fgures in £ millons Notes 012 201
Profit 329 956
Adjustments for
Income tax te7 |99
Depreciation 10 BO 70
{ntangible charges n 183 139
Amortisatton of other intangible assets It 54 48
Net finance costs 6 8l 71
Share of results of joint ventures and assoclates 12 %) (33)
Loss/(profit) on disposals i3 (435)
Acquisition costs 21 12
Costs on formation of Penguin Random House 32 -
Net fareign exchange adjustment from transactions {21) 24
Share-based payment costs 26 Ky 40
Pre-publication (55) 2
Inventones 49 t5
Trade and other recenables (94) (9}
Trade and other habilities } - 3t
Retirement benefit obligations (41) {65)
Provisions for other llabiiues and charges {3) 28
Net cash gene.rated from operations . 9le 1,093
Dnvidends from jomnt ventures and associates 27 30
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (78) (67)
Purchase of intangible assets {73) (77)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment ) 9
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets ) _ 3 3
Finance lease principal payments (5] 8)
Operating cash flow 788 983
Operating tax pard {65) {i51)
et operating finance costs paid (66) (60)
Free cash flow _ 657 772
Dwidends pard {including to non-controlling interests) (348) (319)
Net movement of funds from operations 309 453
Acquisitions and disposals (net of tax) (780) (420
Purchase of treasury shares - (60)
New equity It 2l
Other movements on financial instruments - @
Net movement of funds (460) (4
Exchange movements on net debt 41 (55)
Total movement in net debt (419) (69)
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34 Cash generated from operations conunued

Net cash generated from operations is translated at an exchange rate approximatng to the rate at the date of
cash flow The difference between this rate and the average rate used to translate profit gives rise to a currency
adjustment in the reconciliation between net profit and net cash generated from operations This adjustment
reflects the tming difference between recogniion of profit and the related cash receipts or payments

Operating cash flow, operating free cash flow and total free cash flow are non-GAAP measures and have been
disclosed as they are part of Pearson's corporate and operating measures

In the cash flow statement, proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment compnse

All figures in £ milllons 2012 20t

Net book amount _ I 9
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment - -

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment | 9

The principal other non-cash transactions are movements in finance lease obligations of £nil (2011 £10m)
35 Conungencies

There are contingent Group labilities that anse in the normal course of business in respect of indemniues,
warranties and guarantees in relation to former subsidiznes and 1n respect of guarantees in relation to subsidiares,
joint ventures and associates |n addition there are contingent habilittes of the Group in respect of legal claims,
contract disputes, royalties, copyright fees, permissions and other rights None of these claims are expected to
result in a material gan or loss to the group

36 Commitments
There were no commitments for capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred

The Group leases various offices and warehouses under non-cancellable operating lease agreements The leases
have varying terms and renewal nghts The Group also leases varous plant and equipment under operating lease
agreements, also with varying terms The lease expenditure charged to the income statement duning the year 15
disclosed in note 4

The future aggregate mimimum lease payments In respect of operating leases are as follows

AR figures in £ milions 012 201
Not later than one year 186 179
Later than one year and not later than two years 174 164
Later than two years and not later than three years 158 149
Later than three years and not later than four years 137 134
Later than four years and not later than five years 124 19
Later than five years 899 980

1,678 1,725
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37 Related party transactions

Jont ventures and associates

Amounts advanced to jont ventures and assocites during the year and at the balance sheet date are set out
i note 12 There are no material amounts falfing due from joint ventures and associates In December 201 |,
the Group disposed of its 50% interest n FTSE Internatonal Ltd and details of this transaction are also shown
In note {2

Key management personnel

Key management personnel are deemed to be the members of the board of directors of Pearson ple tis this
board which has responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group Key management
personnel compensation Is disclosed in the drectors’ remuneration report

There were no other material related party transacuons
No guarantees have been provided to related parties
38 Events after the balance sheet date

In January 2013, the Group completed the purchase of a 5% equity investment in NOOK Meda, LLC for $89 5m
NOOK Media 15 a new company consisting of Barnes & Moble’s digital businesses meluding its NOOK e-reader
and tablets, the NCOK digital bookstore and s 674 college bookstores acrass America

In February 2013 the Group completed the purchase of the remammng minonty interest m Tutorvista, the
Bangalore based tutoring services cormpany, for £17m
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39 Accounts and audit exempuions

Following a change in legislation in 2012 the Pearson ple subsdiary companies listed below are exempt from the
requirements of the Compantes Act 2006 reiating to the audit of ndmduat accounts by virtue of section 479A

Company number Company fumber
Aldwych Finance Ltd 04720439 Pearson Education Ltd 00872828
ASET Lid 04231636 Pearson Educatton Holdings Lid 00210859
ASET Group Ltd 03964551 Pearson Heinemann Ltd 03099304
ASET Management Ltd 03139404 Pearson in Pracuce ATA Ltd 07679091
ASET Solutions Led 03849880 Pearson in Practice Holdings Lid 06337129
Blue Wharf Ltd 04344573 Pearson in Practice Skills Based Learning Ltd 03755464
Burmedia Investments Ltd 03060487 Pearson in Practice Technology Ltd 03786989
Edexcel Ltd 04496750 Pearson International Finance Lid 02496206
Education Development International ple 03914767 Pearson Loan Finance Unitd 05144467
Embankment Finance Ltd 04460625 Pearson Loan Finance No 2 Unltd 05632021
eNVQ Ltd 03985948 Pearson Luxembourg Holdings Ltd ) 05052661
EQL Assessment Ltd 05224778 Pearson Luxembourg Holdings Mo 2Ltd 02635107
Financial Times Group Ltd ) 0087953 ( Pearson Management Services Ltd 00096263
Fronter UK Ltd 05737591 Pearson Overseas Holdings Ltd 00145205
FT Business Information Ltd ) 00758738 Pearson Professional Holdings Ltd 00149375
FT Labs Ltd 04701650 Pearson Services Ltd 01341060
FT Persanal Finance Ltd (3855520 Pearsan Shared Services Ltd 04621186
Goal Ltd _ 03566588 Peter Honey Publicatons Ltd 03754757
Green Wharf Ltd 07009228 Sector Traiming Ltd 05342448
Hoxton Holdmgs Ltd 05052993 St Clements Press (1988) Ltd 02174119
fcodeon Ltd 05068195 Testchange bid 02496240
Inframation Ltd 04581107 The Coaching Space Ltd 05333023
Jont Exarmiming Board Ltd 03278422 The Financial Times (Benelux) Ltd 01613899
Longman Group (Overseas Holdings) Ltd 00690236 The Fnancral Times (France) Ltd 00867316
MergeriD Ltd 07031999 The Financial Times {Japan) Lid 01613900
Midlands Educational Technology Lid 01448842 The Financial Times (M-M UK) Lid 01398449
Pearson Amsterdam Finance Ltd 03041245 The Financral Times (SCP) Ltd 00519261
Pearson Australia Finance Unitd 05578453 The Financia! Times (Span) Ltd 0121441 |
Pearson BOP {nvestments Ltd 08038068 TQ Catalis Ltd 07307943
Pearson Canada Finance {Unitd 05578491 TQ Clapham Lid 07302925

Pearson Coliege Ltd 07967446
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Following a change in iegistation in 2012 the Pearson plc subsidiary companies listed below are exempt from the

requirements of the Companies Act 2006 to prepare mdnidual accounts by virtue of section 394A

Company number Company number
Exec-Appomntments Ltd 04010964 Mandatewire Ltd 03855296
FDI intelhgence Ltd NI040129 The Financial News Ltd 00607228
Financial Times Business Ltd 00202281 The Financial Tmes (Swirzerland) Ltd 01613901
Financial Times Electronic Publishing Led 02749250 The Financial Tmes (Zhongwen) Ltd 01900030
Financral Times Investor Ltd 04005565 Throgrmorton Publications Ltd 00905696
Fundex Ltd 00931507
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Company balance sheet
As at 3| Decemnber 2012

All figures in £ mulions Netes 2002 2001
Assets N L _ o
Non-current assets L )
Investments i subsidiaries 2 9,108 9,056
Amounts due from subsidianes 2,02t 318
Financial assets — Derwvative financral instruments 6 174 177
11,303 9,551
Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 578 2,944
Prepayments 4 4
Financral assets - Dervative financal instruments ¢ 4 -
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafts) 4 643 469
1,229 3,417
Total assets 12,532 12,968
Liabilities
Non-current habilines i
Amounts due to substdiaries (4.227) (1,370}
Financial labities — Borrowings 5 473) (481)
Financial liabihues - Dervauve financial instruments 5 - {2)
(4.700) (1.853)
Current labilives
Amounts due to subsidaries i (1,953) (5.850)
Current income tax lrabilines {13 (19
Financial habiliies — Borrowings 5 (618) (703)
Financial labiliues — Dernative financial instruments 6 — ()]
(2.584) (6.564)
Tozal habiliuies (7.,284) (8417
Net assets 5,248 4,551
Equizy
Share capitai 7 204 204
Share prermium ) . ) 7 2,555 2,544
Treasury shares 8 (27) %4
Special reserve 447 447
Retained earnings 2,069 1,450
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the company 5,248 4,551

These financial statements have been approved for 1ssue by the board of directors on 7 March 2013 and signed

on its behalf by

Robin Freestone Chief financial officer
7 March 2013
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Company statement of changes in equity
Year ended 3| December 2012

Equity attribyrable to equity holders of the company

Share Share Treasury Speceal Retained

Al figures in £ milions capral premum shares reserve earmngs Totat
At | January 2012 204 2,544 (94) 447 1,450 4,551
Profit for the year - - - - Latl L,al
Issue of ordinary shares under
share option schermes* - (N - - - 1
Contnbutions from subsidiares
for treasury shares - - 2i - - 21
Release of treasury shares - - 46 - (46) -
Diwidends - - - - (346) (346)
At 31 December 2012 204 2,555 (27) 447 2,069 5,248

Ecuaty attributable to equaty holders of the company

Share Share Treasury Speciaf Retaned

All figures m £ mullions capital premium shares reserve earmengs Tocal
At | January 2011 203 2,524 (82) 447 727 3819
Profit for the year - - - - 1,089 [,089
lssue of ordinary shares under
share option schemes* | 20 - - - 2l
Purchase of treasury shares - - (60) - - (60)
Release of treasury shares - - 48 - (48) -
Drvidends - - - - (318) (318)
At 31 December 201! 204 2,544 (94) 447 1,450 4,551

The special reserve represents the cumulative effect of cancellation of the company's share premium account

Included within retained earnings 1s an amount of £131m (2011 £131m) relating to profit on intra-group disposals
that 1s not distributable

* Fulf details of the share-based payment plans are disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements
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Company cash flow statement
Year ended 3| December 2012

All fipyres in £ millions Noxes 012 2001

Cash flows from operating activities i ) -

Net profit Lol 1.089
Adjustments for-

Income tax : (39) (39)
Net finance costs 103 85
Amounts due to subsidiartes (427) (917
Net cash generated from operations 648 218

Interest pad {93) {112)
Tax receved 43 57
Net cash generated from operating activities 598 163

Cash flows from investing activities

Acqusition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired - (114)
Interest received | _
Net cash received from /{used in) nvesting activittes ! (114}
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares ? t 21

Net purchase of treasury shares - (60}
Repayment of borrowings (N (307)
Dwidends paid to company’s shareholders (346) (318)
Net cash used in financing activities (338) (664)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 4 29)
Net increasef(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 259 (&44)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (234) 410
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1 25 (234)
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Notes to the company financial statements

| Accountng polictes

The financial statements on pages |66 to 174 compnse the separate financial statements of Pearson plc

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, only the consolidated income statement and statement
of comprehensive Income has been presented

The company has no employees

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these company financial statements are the same as those
set out In note | to the consolidated financial statements with the addition of the following

Investments
Investments in subsidianies are stated at cost less provision for impairment, with the excepuon of certamn hedged

investments that are held in a foreign currency and revalued at each balance sheet date

2 Investments in subsidiaries

Al figares in £ millions 2012 2000
At beginning of year 9,056 9,180
Subscription for share capital in subsidiaries - 1o 279
Disposals/hquidations - (413)
Currency revaluations (58) 10
At end of year 9.108 9.056

3 Financrat nsk management

The company’s financral instruments comprise amounts due to/from subsidiary undertakings, cash and cash
equmvalents, dervative financial instruments and current and non-current borrowings Derwatwve financal
nstruments are held at fair value, with all other financial instruments held at amorused cost The company's
approach to the management of financial nsks 1s consistent wath the Group's treasury policy, as discussed

in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements The company believes the value of 1ts financral assets

to be fully recoverable

The company designates certain of its qualifying dervative financial nstruments as hedges of the fair value of
its bonds (fair value hedges) Changes in the fair value of these dervative financial instruments are recorded
in the income statement, together with any change in the fair value of the hedged liabiiy attributable to the

hedged risk.

The carrying vaiue of the company’s financial nstruments 1s exposed to movements in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates (primarily US dollars) The campany estunates that a [% increase in interest rates would
result m a £55m decrease m the carrying value of its financial mstruments, with a |% decrease in interest rates
resulong in 2 £54m increase in ther carrying value The company also estimates that a [0% strengthening in sterling
would decrease the carrying value of its financial instruments by £126m, while a | 0% decrease in the value of
sterling would increase the carrying value by £154m These increases and decreases in carrying value would be
recorded through the income statement Sensitivities are calculated using estimation techniques such as discounted
cash flow and option valuation models Where modelling an interest rate decrease of 1% led to negative interest
rates, these points on the yield curve were adjusted to 0%
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Notes to the company financial statements continued

3 Financiaf risk management continued

The matunty of contracted cash flows on the company’s borrowings and all of its dervauve financial mstruments

are as follows

012
Alt figures in £ mullions usb GBP Other Toul
Not later than one year 26) . 3 t 22)
Later than ane year and not later than five years 105 21 pa| 147
Later than five years 155 - — 155
Total 234 24 22 280
Analysed as
Bonds 232 285 - 517
Rate derivatives — inflows (326) (264) - (590)
Rate dervauves — outflows 328 3 22 353
Total 234 24 22 280

W17
Al figures m £ mullions usD GBP Other Tow
Not later than one year (24) 3 2 (19
Later than one year and not later than five years 128 24 25 177
Later than five years 176 - - 176
Total 280 27 27 334
Analysed as
Bonds 251 303 - 554
Rate denvatives — nflows (292} (281) - (573)
Rate derivatives — outflows 321 5 27 353
Total 280 27 27 334

All cash flow projections shown above are on an undiscounted basis Any cash flows based on a floaung rate are
calculated using Interest rates as set at the date of the last rate reset. Where this 1s not possible, floating rates are
based on interest rates prevailing at 31 December in the relevant year All denvative amounts are shown gross,

although the company net settles these amounts wherever possible

Any amounts drawn under revolving credit facilittes and commercial paper are assumed to mature at the maturity
date of the relevant facility, with interest calculated as payable in each calendar year up to and including the date

of matunty of the faciliy

|
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4 Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafts)

17

AD figures in £ mullions 2042 2001
Cash atbankand nhand | _
Short-term bank deposits 642 469

643 469

Short-term bank deposits are invested with banks and earn interest at the prevailing short-term deposit rates

At the end of 2012 the currency split of cash and cash equivalents was US dollar 63% (2011 2%) and sterhing 37%

(2011 98%)

Cash and cash equivalents have farr values that approximate to their carrying amounts due to ther
short-term nature

Cash and cash equivalents nclude the following for the purpose of the cash flow statement

All figures in £ mulions 2012 20H

Cash and cash equivalents 643 469

Bank overdrafts (618) (703}

25 (234)

5 Financial liabilittes ~ Borrowings

All figures in £ miflions 1012 2011

Non-current

7 0% Steriing Bonds 2014 (nominal amount £250m}) 256 257

4 625% S Dollar Notes 2018 {nominal amount $300m) 247 224
473 481

Current

Due within one year or on-demand .

Bank loans and overdrafts 618 703
618 703

Total borrowings 1,091 1,184

Included in non-current borrowings above 1s £3m of accrued mterest (2011 £4m) Included in current borrowings

above 1s £nt of accrued interest (2011 £nil)
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Notes to the company financial statements continued

5 Financial liabilities — Borrowings conunued

The matunty of the company’s non-current borrowings 1s as follows

All figures in £ muthans 017 wh
Between one and two years 256 -
Between two and five years - 257
Over five years 217 224

473 481

As at 31 December 2012 the exposure to interest rate changes of the borrowings and amounts due to subsidiaries

when the borrowings re-price 1s as follows

Less than One 1o More chan
All fgures in £ milhions one year five years five years Toal
Re-pricing profile of borrowings 618 256 217 1,091
Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,953 3,286 941 6,180
Effect of rate dervatives L3n (480) 831) -
3,882 3,062 327 7271

The carrying amounts and market values of borrowings are as follows

2012 2011
Effective Carrying Market Carrping Market
Al figures in £ millions Interest rate amount value amount value
Bank loans and overdraits n/a 618 618 703 703
7 0% Steding Bonds 2014 7 20% 256 274 257 282
4 625% US Dollar notes 2018 4 69% 217 209 224 206
1,091 1,101 1,184 1,191

The market values are based on clean market prices at the year end or, where these are not available, on the

quoted market prices of comparable debt issued by other companies The effective interest rates above relate

to the underlying debt instruments

The carrying amounts of the company's borrowings are denominated in the following currencies

All fgures in £ mullions 2012 201
US dollar 255 373
Sterling 826 802
Euro 10 9

1,091 | 184




Section 6 Financial statements i73

& Denrivative financial instruments

The company's outstanding derwvatve financial instruments are as follows

2012 2011
Gross notonal Gross notional

All figures in £ rullrons amounts Assets Liabilities amounts Assets Labiliges
Interest rate dervatives —
n a far value hedge relationship 234 35 - 243 35 -
Interest rate dervatives —
not in a hedge relationship 1,292 109 - 1,030 19 -
Cross-currency dervatives 220 34 - 220 23 (3)
Total 1,746 178 - £.493 i77 (3)
Analysed as expiring
In less than one year 215 4 - - - (n
Later than one year and not later
than five years 70f 63 - 946 8l 2
Later than five years 830 HQS — 547 96 -
Total b, 746 178 - 1,493 177 (3)

The carrying value of the above derivative financial instruments equals therr farr value Fair values are determied
by usig market data and the use of established estimation techmgues such as discounted cash flow and option
valuation models

7 Share capital and share premium

nomber of Ordinary Share

shares shares premium

000s m m

At | January 201 | 812,677 203 2,524
issue of ordinary shares - share optian schemes 2,949 | 20
At 31 December 2011 815,626 204 2544
Issue of ordinary shares — share option schemes i417 - I
At 3| December 2012 817,043 204 2,555

The ordinary shares have a par value of 25p per share (2011 25p per share) All 1ssued shares are fully paid
All shares have the same rights
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Notes to the company financial statements continued

8 Treasury shares

Nussber of
shares

0005 m

At | January 2011 14,009 82
Purchase of treasury shares 5.387 60
Contribution from subsidiaries ) } . - -
Release of treasury shares (4730 (48)
At 31 December 2011 14,665 94
Purchase of treasury shares . - -
Contributton from subsidiaries - 2hH
Release of treasury shares (4.563) (45)
At 3| December 2012 10,102 27

The company holds its own shares in trust to satisfy tts obligations under s restricted share plans These shares
are treated as treasury shares for accounting purposes and have a par value of 25p per share The nommnal value
of the company's treasury shares amounts to £2 5m (2011 £3 7m} At 31 December 2012 the market value of
the company's treasury shares was £120 0m (2011 £177 4m)

9 Conungencies

There are contingent lrabilittes that arise in the normaf course of business in respect of iIndemnities, warranties

and guarantees in relatton to former subsidianes and in respect of guarantees in relation to subsidiaries In addition
there are contingent liabilities i respect of legal claims None of these claims are expected to resuit in a material
gamn or loss to the company

10 Audst fees
Statutory audit fees refating to the company were £35.0600 (2011 £35,000)

{1 Related party transactions

Subsidiaries
The company transacts and has outstanding balances wath its subsidiaries Amaounts due fram subsidiares
and amounts due to subsidianes are disclosed on the face of the company balance sheet

These loans are generally unsecured and interest is calcutated based on market rates The company has interest
payable to subsidiaries for the year of £17Im (2011 £176m) and interest recervable from subsidiartes for the
year of £64m (2011 £54m) Maragement fees payable 1o subsidiaries in respect of centrally provided services
amounted to £47m (2011 £17m) Dvidends recewved from subsidiaries were £1,124m (2011 £1,47 Im)

Key management personnel

Key management personnel are deemed to be the members of the board of directors of the company

It 1s this board which has responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company
Key management personnel compensation 1s disclosed in the report on directars' remuneration in the
consolidated financial statements

There were no other material related party transactions
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Principal subsidiaries

The princ:pal operating subsidianies at 31 December 2012 are hsted below They operate manly in the countries
of ncorporation or registration  The investments are 1n equity share capital and they are ail 100% owned

Country of incorporabion of registration

Pearson Educauon

Pearson Education Inc us
Pearson Education Ltd England
NCS Pearson Inc Us
FT Group

The Financial Times Ltd England
Mergermarket Ltd England
The Penguin Group*

Penguin Group (USA) inc us
The Penguin Publishing Company Ltd England
Derling Kindersley Holdings Ltd** England

* The Penguin Group companes have been included in discontinued operations

** Direct investment of Pearson plc

The company has taken advantage of the exemputon under Secuon 410(2) of the Companies Act 2006 by
providing information only in relation to subsidiary undertakings whose resufts or financial positron, in the opinion

of the directors, pnnaipally affected the financial statements A complete list of subsidiary and associated
undertakings will be included in the next Pearson pic annual retum filed with the Registrar of Companies
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Five year summary

AR figures In £ millions 2008 2009 210 011 2012
Sales e e e e e . .. -

North American Education B _ooxo02 2,470 2640 2,584 2658
Intermational Education i 866 1,035 1,234 1,424 1,568
Professional 244 275 333 382 390
Education 3,112 3,780 4,207 4,390 4616
FT Group 390 358 403 427 443
Continuing 3,502 4,138 4610 4,817 5,059
Discontinued 1,317 1,486 1,349 1,045 1,053
Total sales 4,819 5,624 5.959 5.862 6,112

Ad]us"ted operating profit

North Amencan Education 303 403 469 493 536
International Education 135 141 171 196 216
Professional 36 43 51 66 37
Education 474 587 691 755 789
FT Group 74 39 60 76 49
Conunuing o 548 626 75l 811 838
Discontinued 214 232 187 1 98
Total adjusted operating profit 762 858 238 942 936
Operating margin — contnuing 15 6% 15 1% 16 3% 173% 16 6%

Adjusted earnungs )
Total adjusted operating profit 762 858 938 942 936
e @) On._ @) . 6 B2

Net finance costs

Incometax ) (78 (194 Q@I5)  (199)  (204)
Non-controliing interest (36) {44 {17 ] (3}
Adjusted earmings ) i . 460 523 621 692 677
Woeighted average number of shares (mihons) . 7970 7993 8012 8002 8043

Adjusted earnings per share 577p 65 4p 77 5p 86 5p B4 2p
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AD fgures in £ milions 2008 2009 2010 1) 2002
Cash flow

Operating cash flow 796 213 1,057 983 788
Operating cash conversion 104% 106% 113% 104% 84%
Operating free cash flow 631 723 904 772 657
Operating free cash flow per share 79 2p 90 5p t128p 96 5p 8i7p
Total free cash flow 631 723 904 772 657
Total free cash flow per share 79 2p 90 Sp 112 8p 96 5p 81 7p

Net assets 5,024 4,636 5,605 5,962 5,710
Net debt 1460 1092 430 499 918

Return on invested capital {gross bass)

Total adjusted operating profit 762 858 938 942 936
Cash tax pad (8%) (103) (85) (151) _(85)
Return 673 755 853 791 871

Average invested capital 7,337 8,504 8315 8,731 9,578

Return on invested capital

Dmidend per share

921% 89% 10 3% 91% 91%

338p 355p 387p 42 Op 45 0p
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Corporate and operating measures

Pearson’s corporate and operating measures include the results of Penguin throughout 2012 as the business was
wholly owned dunng that period

Sales — underlying and constant exchange rate movement

Sales movement for continuing operations excluding the impact of acquisitions and disposals and movements
in exchange rates

A figures in £ mifhiony 002
Underlying decrease 3 “4n
Portfolio changes 318
Exchange differences (27)
Total sales increase 250
Underlying decrease (1)%
Constant exchange rate increase 5%

Adjusted income statement

Reconciltation of the consolidated income statement to the adjusted numbers presented as non-GAAP measures
In the financial statements

2012
Other net

Satutory Crher ner finance Tax Adjusted

income Discontnued  gans and Acquisiuon Intanpble incomeS amorosation MCOMmE

All figures in £ millions statement operauons losses cOfs charges costs benefit  smrement

Operating profit 515 98 123 20 180 ~ - 936

Net finance costs (81) - — - - 29 - (>2)

Profit before tax 434 98 123 20 180 29 - 884

Income tax {148) (32) - (5} {54) (1) 36 (204)
Profit for the year from

continuing operations 286 66 123 15 126 28 36 680

Profit for the year from

discontinued operations 43 (65) 20 I 2 - - -

Profit for the year 329 - 143 16 128 28 36 680

Non-controliing interest 3 ~ - - - - - &)

Earnings 326 - 143 6 128 28 36 677




Adjusted income statement continued

Section 6 Finanaal statements

179

W0t

Qther net
Statuiory Other net fmance Tan Adpisied
Income Drscondnued  gans and Acquisiuon Intangible ncome,/ amorbsauon income

All figures mn £ rrullions starement operzuons losses costs charges costs benefit satement
Operatng profit 1118 (435 12 136 -~ - 942
Net finance costs (71) - - - — 19 - (52)
Profit before tax 1,047 [TE {435) 12 136 19 - 890
Income tax (162) (39) 19 4) (433 (5) 34 (199)
Profit for the year from
continuing operattons 885 73 {418) 8 93 14 34 691
Profit for the year from
discontinued operations 71 (73) - — 2 - - —
Profit for the year 956 - (416) 8 95 14 34 69t
Non-controlling interest ! - - - - - - I
Earnings 957 - (4l 8 95 14 34 692

Adjusted operating prafit — underlying and constant exchange rate movement

Qperating profit movement excluding the impact of acquisitions, disposals and movements in exchange rates

ANl figures in £ enillions 2012
Underlying decrease {149
Portfoho changes 19
Exchange differences (n
Total adjusted operating profit increase (6)
Undertying decrease (2)%

1%

Constant exchange rate increase
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Corporate and operating measures contnued

Free cash flow per share

Operating cash flow for continuing and discontinued operations before tax and finance charges, divided by the

weighted average number of shares n issue.

All figares in £ millions 2012 20t
Adjusted operating profit 936 942
Cash conversion 84% {04%
Operating cash flow . 788 983
Operating tax pad {65} {15
Net operating finance costs pad (66) {60)
Total operating free cash flow 657 772
Non operating tax pald - -
Total free cash flow 657 172
Wetghted average number of shares in issue {milhons) 8043 8002
Cperaung free cash flow per share Bl7p  %65p
Total free cash flow per share 817p 96 5p
Return on invested capital

Net invesced capiral Gross invested capital
All figeres in £ midlions 2012 0t 012 0h
Total adjusted operating profit 936 942 936 942
Intangible charges (183) (139} - -
Operating tax paid (65) (i51) (65) (151
Return 688 652 87!} 791
Awverage goodwill and other intangibles 6,371 5,680 8,550 7,684
Average net operating assets 1,028 1.047 1,028 i.047
Average nvested capital 7,399 6,727 9.578 8,731
Return on invested capital 9 3% 9 7% 9 1% 9%

Return on invested capital 1s calculated using two methods

Gross basts — total adjusted operating profit less operating cash tax paid expressed as a percentage of average
gross invested capital Gross invested capital ncludes the original unamortised goodwill and intangibles

Net basis — total adjusted operaung profit less intangible armorusation and operating cash tax paid expressed as
a percentage of average net invested capital Net invested capital includes the carrying value (after amorusaton)

of goodwill and tnangibles




Shareholder information

Pearson ordnary shares are listed on the London
Stock Exchange and on the New York Stock Exchange
tn the form of American Depositary Receipts

Corporate website

The investors' section of our corporate website
www pearson com/investors provides a wealth of
information for shareholders It 1s also possible to
s1gn up to receive emall alerts for reports and press
releases relating to Pearson at

Www pearson com/nvestors/announcements/
email-alerts

Shareholder information onine

Shareholder information can be found on our website
www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
informaton

Our registrar, Equiniti also provides a range of
shareholder information online You can check your
holding and find practical help on transferring shares or
updating your details at www shareview co uk For
more information, please contact our registrar,
Equinit, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West
Sussex BN99 6DA Telephone 0871 384 2233* or, for
those shareholders with heanng difficulties, textphone
number 0871 384 2255*

Information about the Pearson share price

The company’s share price can be found on our
website at www pearson com It alsc appears in the
financral columns of the nationai press

2012 Dmwidends

Payment date Amount per share
Interim _ 14 September 2012 !5 pence
Final 3 May 2013 30 pence

Payment of dividends to mandated accounts

Shouid you elect to have your dividends paid through
BACS, this can be done directly into a bank or building
soclety account, with the tax voucher sent to the
shareholder’s registered address Equimiti can be
contacted for irformation on 087 | 384 2043*

Dividend reinvestment plan (DRIF)

The DRIP gves shareholders the right to buy the
company's shares on the London stock market
with therr cash dividend For further information,
please contact Equiniti on 0871 384 2268*
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individua! Savings Accounts (ISAs)

Equiniti offers ISAs in Pearson shares For more
informaton, please go to www shareview co uk/dealing
or call customer services on 0845 300 0430*

Share dealing faciities

Equiniti offers telephone and internet services

for dealing in Pearson shares For further

information, please contact therr telephone dealing
helpline on 08456 037 037 (weekdays only) or, for
online dealing, log on to www shareview co uk/dealing
You will need your shareholder reference number

as shown on your share certificate

A weekly postal dealing service is also available
through Equinitt Please telephone 0871 384 2248* for
details or log on to www shareview co uk to download
aform

ShareGift

Shareholders with small holdings of shares, whose
value makes them uneconomic to sell, may wish to
donate them to ShareGift, the share donation chanty
(registered charity number 1052686) Further
informatron about ShareGift and the charities it has
supported may be obtained from their website,
www ShareGift org or by contacting thern at

17 Carlton House Terrace, London SWIY 5AH

American Depositary Recerpts {ADRs)

Pearson's ADRs are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange and traded under the symbol PSO Each ADR
represents one ordinary share For enquines regarding
registered ADR holder accounts and dwidends,

please contact The Bank of New York Mellon,

PO Box 43006, Providence, RI 02940-3006,
telephone | (866) 259 2289 (toil free within the US)
or 001 201 680 6825 (cutside the US) Alternatvely,
you may e-mail shrrelanons@bnymellon com, or log
on to www bnymellon com/shareowner Voting nghts
for registerad ADR holders can be exercised through
The Bank of New York Mellon, and for beneficial
ADR holders {and/or nominee accounts) through
your US brokerage instiution Pearson will file with
the Securities and Exchange Commussion a Form 20-F
*Calls to these numbers are charged at 8p per minute plus

network extras Lines open 8 30am to 5 30pm Monday
to Fnday
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Shareholder information continued

Share register fraud protecting your investment

Pearson does not contact its shareholders directy to
provide recommendation advice and neither does it
appoint third parties to do 5o As required by law, our
shareholder register is available for public mspection
but we cannot control the use of information obtaned
by persons inspecting the register Please treat any
approaches purporting to onginate from Pearson

with cauton

For more information, please log on to our webstite at
www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
information/managing-your-shares and

www pearson com/shareholderfags

Tps on protecting your shares

Keep any documentation that contamns your
shareholder reference number in a safe place and
shred any unwanted documentation

Inform our registrar, Equinit promptly when you
change address

Be aware of dividend payment dates and contact the
registrar if you do not receve your dividend cheque
ot better still, make arrangements to have the dwidend
paid directly into your bank account

Consider holding your shares electronrcally in a CREST
account via a nominee

2013 Financial calendar

Ex-dwidend date 3 April
Record date 5 April
Last date for dwvidend reinvestment

election 12 April
Annual General Meeting 26 April
Payment date for dmdend and share

purchase date for dividend reinvestment 3 May
Interim results 26 July

Payment date for interim dividend 13 September
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Notes

Reliance on this document

Our Business Review on pages 02 to 43 has been
prepared In accordance with the Directors” Report
Business Review Requirements of section 417 of the
Companies Act 2006 It also incorporates much of
the guidance set out i the Accounting Standards
Board's Reporting Statement on the Operating and
Financial Review

The intention of this document s to provide
information to shareholders and s not designed to be
relied upon by any other party or for any other

purpose
Forward-looking statements

This docurnent contains forward-looking statements
which are made by the directors in good faith based
on information available to them at the ume of
approval of this report In particular, all statements that
express forecasts, expectations and projections with
respect to future matters, including trends n resules of
operations, margins, growth rates, overall market
trends, the impact of interest or exchange rates, the
avallability of financing, anticipated costs savings and
synergies and the execution of Pearson'’s strategy, are
forward-looking statements

By their nature, forward-fooking statements mvolve
risks and uncertainties because they relate to events
and depend on circumstances that will occur n the
future There are a number of factors which could
cause actual results and devefopments to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements, including a number of
factors outside Pearson’s control Any forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date they are made,
and Pearson gives no undertaking to update forward-
looking statements to reflect any changes in its
expectations with regard thereto or any changes to
events, conditions or circumstarnces on which any such
staternent 15 based -
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